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BASE PROSPECTUS

UniCredit

UNICREDIT S.p.A.

(incorporated with limited liability as a Societa per Azioni in the Republic of Italy under registered number 00348170101)

€60,000,000,000 EURO MEDIUM TERM NOTE PROGRAMME

Under the €60,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the Programme) described in this document
(the Base Prospectus), UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit or the Issuer) may from time to time issue notes governed
by Italian law (the Notes). The Notes may be denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer (as defined below).

Notes will be issued in bearer form (Bearer Notes). The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from
time to time outstanding under the Programme will not exceed €60,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other
currencies calculated as described herein), subject to increase as described herein.

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to UniCredit Bank AG and any additional dealer appointed under
the Programme from time to time by the Issuer (each a Dealer and together the Dealers), which appointment may
be for a specific issue or on an on-going basis. References in this Base Prospectus to the relevant Dealer shall, in
the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers
agreeing to subscribe for such Notes.

The terms and conditions of the Notes are set out herein in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of these risks,
see “Risk Factors”.

This Base Prospectus has been approved as a base prospectus by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur
Financier (the CSSF), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus
Regulation). The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval by the CSSF should not
be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or of the quality of the Notes. Investors should make their own
assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

By approving this Base Prospectus, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, the CSSF does not engage in
respect of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and solvency of the Issuer.
Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be
admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market (as contemplated by Directive
2014/65/EU) and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Application may also be
made for notification to be given to competent authorities in other Member States of the EEA in order to permit
Notes issued under the Programme to be offered to the public and admitted to trading on regulated markets in
such other Member States in accordance with the procedures under Article 25 of the Prospectus Regulation.

References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes
have been admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and have been admitted to
the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market is a
regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU), as
amended.

This Base Prospectus (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable) is valid for 12 months from
the date of its approval) in relation to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in
the European Economic Area (the EEA) and/or offered to the public in the EEA other than in
circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 1(4) and/or 3(2) of the Prospectus Regulation.
The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake
or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid. The validity of this
Base Prospectus ends upon expiration on 7 June 2023.


http://www.oblible.com

http://www.oblible.com

References in this Base Prospectus to Exempt Notes are to Notes for which no prospectus is required to be
published under the Prospectus Regulation and the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. The CSSF has
neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt Notes.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of
Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under “Terms and Conditions
of the Notes™) of Notes will (other than in the case of Exempt Notes, as defined above) be set out in a final terms
document (the Final Terms) which will be filed with the CSSF.

Copies of the Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will also be
published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). In the case of Exempt Notes,
notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of
Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche will be set out in a pricing supplement
document (the Pricing Supplement).

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or
further stock exchange(s) or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s). The Issuer
may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market. The CSSF has neither approved
nor reviewed information contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt Notes.

As more fully set out in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Taxation”, in the case of payments by the Issuer,
additional amounts will not be payable to holders of the Notes or of the interest coupons appertaining to the Notes
(the Coupons) with respect to any withholding or deduction pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1
April 1996 (as amended or supplemented) and related regulations of implementation which have been or may
subsequently be enacted (Decree 239). In addition, certain other (more customary) exceptions to the obligation of
the Issuer to pay additional amounts to holders of the Notes with respect to the imposition of withholding or
deduction from payments relating to the Notes also apply, also as more fully set out in “Terms and Conditions
of the Notes — Taxation”.

UniCredit, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that this Base Prospectus contains or incorporates all
information which is material in the context of the issuance and offering of Notes, that the information contained
or incorporated in this Base Prospectus is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the
opinions and intentions expressed in this Base Prospectus are honestly held and that there are no other facts the
omission of which would make this Base Prospectus or any of such information or the expression of any such
opinions or intentions misleading. UniCredit accepts responsibility accordingly.

Certain information under the heading “Book Entry Clearance Systems” has been extracted from information
provided by the clearing systems referred to therein. UniCredit confirms that such information has been accurately
reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by the relevant
clearing systems, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or
misleading.

The information relating to each of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(Clearstream, Luxembourg) has been accurately reproduced from information published by each of Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg respectively. So far as UniCredit is aware and is able to ascertain from information
published by the Clearing Systems, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information
misleading.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
Securities Act) or any securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered
or sold in the United States or to, or for the account or the benefit of, U.S. persons as defined in Regulation S
under the Securities Act except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the Securities Act and the applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United
States.

The rating of certain Series of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a relevant Series of Notes will be (i) issued or
endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation) or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the CRA
Regulation, and/or (ii) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the United Kingdom and
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registered under the CRA Regulation, as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the UK CRA Regulation) or by a credit rating agency which is certified
under the UK CRA Regulation, and whether such credit rating agency is included in the list of credit rating
agencies published by the FEuropean Securities and Markets Authority on its website (at
http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs) in accordance with the CRA Regulation,
will be disclosed in the Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes). In general, European
regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit
rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the CRA Regulation or (i) the rating is provided by a
credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA
and registered under the CRA Regulation or (ii) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in
the EEA which is certified under the CRA Regulation. In general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using
a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and
registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (i) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in
the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA
Regulation or (ii) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK which is certified under
the UK CRA Regulation. The European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) is obliged to maintain on its
website, https://www.esma.europa.eu/page/Listregistered-and-certified-CRAs, a list of credit rating agencies
registered and certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Please also refer to “Credit ratings assigned to
the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in those Notes” in the “Risk
Factors” section of this Base Prospectus.

Amounts payable under the Floating Rate Notes and/or the Reset Notes may be calculated by reference to certain
reference rates such as EURIBOR, CAD-BA-CDOR, CMS or SOFR, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. As
at the date of this Base Prospectus, Thomson Reuters Benchmark Services Limited (as administrator of CAD-BA-
CDOR) and the European Money Markets Institute (as administrator of EURIBOR) are included in the register
of administrators maintained by the ESMA under Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the EU
Benchmarks Regulation). As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the ICE Benchmark Administration (as
administrator of CMS) and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (as administrator of SOFR) are not included
in the register of administrators maintained by ESMA under Article 36 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation. As far
the Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that
ICE Benchmark Administration (as administrator of CMS) is not currently required to obtain
authorization/registration (or, if located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or equivalence).
As far as the Issuer is aware, SOFR does not fall within the scope of the EU Benchmarks Regulation by virtue of
Article 2 of that Regulation.

Amounts payable on Inflation Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to CPI or HICP (each as defined
below). As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the administrators of CPI and HICP are not included in ESMA’s
register of administrators under Article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation.

As far as the Issuer is aware, CPI and HICP do not fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation by virtue
of Article 2 of that Regulation.

The Additional Tier 1 Notes are not intended to be sold and should not be sold to “retail clients” (as defined in
Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II)) in the European Economic Area (EEA). In addition to the above,
pursuant to the United Kingdom (UK) Financial Conduct Authority Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS),
the Additional Tier 1 Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available and should not be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to retail clients (as defined in COBS 3.4) in the UK. Potential investors
should read the whole of this document, in particular the “Risks relating to Additional Tier 1 Notes” set out on
pages 50 to 62 and "Restrictions on marketing, sales and resales of Additional Tier 1 Notes to Retail Investors"
set out on page 75.

Arranger and Dealer

UNICREDIT BANK AG

The date of this Base Prospectus is 7 June 2022.
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General Description of the Programme

General Description of the Programme

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the
remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes,
the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement). The Issuer and
any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and
Conditions, in which event, in the case of Notes other than Exempt Notes, and if appropriate, a new Base
Prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus, will be published.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 2019/980 (the Delegated Regulation).

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed “Form of the Notes” or “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes” shall have the same meanings in this Overview.

Issuer:

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier
(LEI):

Description:
Arranger:

Dealers:

Certain Restrictions:

Programme Size:

Principal Paying Agent:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit)

549300TRUWO2CD2G5692

Euro Medium Term Note Programme
UniCredit Bank AG
UniCredit Bank AG

and any other Dealers appointed from time to time in accordance with the
Nineteenth Amended and Restated Programme Agreement.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with
such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements
from time to time (see “Subscription and Sale and Selling Restrictions™)
including the following restrictions applicable at the date of this Base
Prospectus.

Up to €60,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as
described in the Programme Agreement) outstanding at any time. The
Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme in accordance with the
terms of the Programme Agreement.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch or such other agent(s) specified in the
applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each
case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, Notes may be
denominated in euro, Sterling, U.S. dollars, yen, Renmimbi (CNY) and any
other currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).

The Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes will
have such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s), subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be
allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
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Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Reset Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

equivalent body) or by any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or
the relevant Specified Currency.

The Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes
may however be issued with an Initial Maturity Date which may be
extended from time to time up to a Final Maturity Date at the option of the
holders. Please see Condition 10.8 (Extendible Notes) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.

Subject as set out herein, the Additional Tier 1 Notes will mature on the
date on which voluntary or involuntary winding up, dissolution, liquidation
or bankruptcy (including, inter alia, Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa)
proceedings are instituted in respect of the Issuer, in accordance with: (a) a
resolution of the shareholders' meeting of the Issuer; (b) any provision of
the by-laws of the Issuer (currently, the maturity of the Issuer is set at 31
December 2100); or (c) any applicable legal provision or any decision of
any judicial or administrative authority. Upon maturity, the Notes will
become due and payable at an amount equal to their Prevailing Principal
Amount, together with any accrued interest and any additional amounts due
pursuant to Condition 11 (Taxation) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

Unless otherwise permitted by current laws, regulations, directives and/or
the Competent Authority’s requirements applicable to the issue of
Subordinated Notes and Additional Tier 1 Notes, the Subordinated Notes
and Additional Tier 1 Notes must have a minimum maturity of five years.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or in the case of Exempt Notes, a
partly-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to, or
premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer form as described in “Form of the
Notes”. Notes may not be issued or sold in the United States in bearer form,
except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations.

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and on redemption and will
be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).

Reset Notes will, in respect of an initial period, bear interest at the initial
fixed rate of interest specified in the relevant Final Terms. Thereafter, the
fixed rate of interest will be reset on one or more date(s) specified in the
relevant Final Terms by reference to a mid-market swap rate, as adjusted
for any applicable margin, in each case, as may be specified in the relevant
Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

(a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate
swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as
amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the
Notes of the relevant Series); or

(b) onthe basis of the reference rate set out in the applicable Final Terms
(or, in the case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement).
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Reference Rate Replacement

Inflation Linked Interest
Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Extendible Notes:

Other provisions in relation to

Floating Rate Notes and Index
Linked Interest Notes:

Other provisions in relation to
Additional Tier 1 Notes:

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as agreed
prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), will be payable on
such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such
Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s).

According to Condition 6.4 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, if
the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to
an Original Reference Rate, the Issuer shall determine a Successor
Reference Rate and an Adjustment Spread (if any). If the Issuer cannot
determine a Successor Reference Rate and an Adjustment Reference Rate
(if any), an Independent Adviser will be appointed to determine an
Alternative Reference Rate and an Adjustment Spread (if any).

Such Successor Reference Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Reference
Rate (as applicable), shall replace the Original Reference Rate for all future
Interest Periods or Reset Periods.

For further information, please see Condition 6.4 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.

Payments of interest in respect of Inflation Linked Interest Notes will be
calculated by reference to one or more inflation Indices as set out in
Condition 6 (Interest) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal
amount and will not bear interest.

Notes may be issued with an Initial Maturity Date which may be extended
from time to time upon the election of the holders on specified Election
Date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt
Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes may also have a
maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both. Interest on Floating
Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Interest
Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s), will
be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the
basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and
the relevant Dealer(s) (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

The Notes may bear interest on a different interest basis in respect of
different interest periods. The Issuer has the option of changing the interest
basis between fixed rate and floating rate and vice versa in respect of
different periods, upon prior notification of such change in interest basis to
noteholders.

Cancellation of Interest Amounts

The Issuer may at any time elect at its full discretion to cancel (in whole or
in part) for an unlimited period and on a non-cumulative basis the Interest
Amounts otherwise scheduled to be paid on an Interest Payment Date.
Without prejudice to (i) such full discretion of the Issuer to cancel the
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Interest Amounts and (ii) the prohibition to make payments on the
Additional Tier 1 Notes pursuant to any provisions of Italian law
implementing Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive and, if relevant, in
any other similar payment restriction provision(s) under the Relevant
Regulations, before the Maximum Distributable Amount is calculated,
payment of Interest Amounts on any Interest Payment Date must be
cancelled (in whole or, as the case may be, in part) if and to the extent that
such Interest Amounts:

(a)  when aggregated together with distributions on all other Own Funds
instruments of the Issuer (excluding Tier 2 Capital instruments) paid
or scheduled for payment in the then current financial year and any
potential write-ups exceed the amount of Distributable Items,
excluding any payments already accounted for in determining the
Distributable Items; and/or

(b)  when aggregated together with other distributions of the Issuer or the
UniCredit Group, as applicable, of the kind referred to in Article
141(2) of the CRD IV Directive and, if relevant, in any other similar
payment restriction provision(s) under the Relevant Regulations (or,
if different, any provisions of Italian law implementing Article
141(2) of the CRD IV Directive or, if relevant, such other
provision(s)) and the amount of any write-up (if applicable), would,
if paid, cause the Maximum Distributable Amount (if any) then
applicable to the Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group to be exceeded;
and/or

(c) are required to be cancelled (in whole or in part) by an order to the
Issuer from the Competent Authority.

Interest shall also be cancelled if a Contingency Event occurs, as set out in
Condition 8.1 (Loss Absorption) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

See Condition 7.1 (Cancellation of Interest Amounts) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.

Distributable Items means, subject as otherwise defined in the Relevant
Regulations from time to time:

(a) anamount equal to the Issuer’s profits at the end of the financial year
immediately preceding the financial year in which the relevant
Interest Payment Date falls plus any profits brought forward and
reserves available for that purpose before distributions to holders of
Own Funds instruments (which, for the avoidance of doubt, excludes
any such distributions paid or made on Tier 2 instruments or any such
distributions which have already been provided for, by way of
deduction, in calculating the amount of Distributable Items); less

(b) an amount equal to any losses brought forward, profits which are
non-distributable pursuant to applicable Italian law or the by-laws of
the Issuer from time to time and sums placed to non-distributable
reserves in accordance with applicable Italian law or the by-laws of
the Issuer from time to time,

those profits, losses and reserves being determined on the basis of the
Issuer’s non-consolidated accounts.

Maximum Distributable Amount means any applicable maximum
distributable amount relating to the Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group, as
the case may be, required to be calculated in accordance with the CRD IV
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Directive and/or any other Relevant Regulation(s) (or any provision of
Italian law transposing or implementing the CRD IV Directive and/or, if
relevant, any other Relevant Regulation(s)).

Calculation of Interest Amount in case of Write-Down

Subject to Condition 7.1 (Cancellation of Interest Amounts) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes, in the event that a Write-Down occurs during
an Interest Period, any accrued and unpaid interest shall be cancelled
pursuant to Condition 8.1 (Loss Absorption) of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes and the Interest Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date
immediately following such Interest Period shall be calculated in
accordance with Condition 6.3(f) (Determination of Rate of Interest and
calculation of Interest Amounts) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes,
provided that the Day Count Fraction shall be determined as if the Interest
Period started on, and included, the Write-Down Effective Date.

Calculation of Interest Amount in case of Write-Up

Subject to Condition 7.1 (Cancellation of Interest Amounts) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes, in the event that a Write-Up occurs during an
Interest Period, the Interest Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date
immediately following such Interest Period shall be calculated as the sum
(rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent, with half a cent being
rounded upwards) of the following:

(a) the product of the applicable Rate of Interest, the Prevailing Principal
Amount before such Write-Up, and the Day Count Fraction
(determined as if the Interest Period ended on, but excluded, the date
of such Write-Up); and

(b)  the product of the applicable Rate of Interest, the Prevailing Principal
Amount after such Write-Up, and the Day Count Fraction
(determined as if the Interest Period started on, and included, the date
of such Write-Up).

Non-cumulative interest

Interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes is not cumulative. Interest that the
Issuer elects not to pay or is prohibited from paying will not accumulate or
compound and all rights and claims in respect of such amounts shall be
fully and irrevocably cancelled and forfeited, and no payments shall be
made nor shall any Noteholders be entitled to any payment or indemnity in
respect thereof.

No restriction following cancellation of Interest Amounts

In the event that the Issuer exercises its discretion not to pay interest or is
prohibited from paying interest on any Interest Payment Date, it will not
give rise to any contractual restriction on the Issuer making distributions or
any other payments to the holders of any securities ranking pari passu with,
or junior to, the Additional Tier 1 Notes (or, for the avoidance of doubt,
Tier 2 instruments).

Loss Absorption and Reinstatement of Principal Amount

If, at any time, the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the Issuer falls
below 5.125 per cent. (an Issuer Contingency Event) or the Common
Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the UniCredit Group falls below 5.125 per
cent. (a Group Contingency Event) or, in each case, the then minimum
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trigger event ratio for loss absorption applicable to Additional Tier 1
Capital instruments specified in the Relevant Regulations (excluding any
guidelines or policies of non-mandatory application) applicable to the
Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group (each, a Contingency Event), the Issuer
shall:

(a) immediately notify the Competent Authority of the occurrence of the
relevant Contingency Event;

(b) as soon as reasonably practicable deliver a Loss Absorption Event
Notice to Noteholders (in accordance with Condition 17 (Notices) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), the Principal Paying Agent
and the Paying Agents (provided that failure or delay in delivering a
Loss Absorption Event Notice shall not constitute a default for any
purpose or in any way impact on the effectiveness of, or otherwise
invalidate, any Write-Down);

(c) cancel any accrued and unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the
Write-Down Effective Date; and

(d) without delay, and in any event within one month (or such shorter
period as the Competent Authority may require) from the
determination that the relevant Contingency Event has occurred,
reduce the then Prevailing Principal Amount of each Note by the
Write-Down Amount (such reduction being referred to as a Write-
Down and Written Down being construed accordingly).

Whether a Contingency Event has occurred at any time shall be determined
by the Issuer and the Competent Authority.

For the avoidance of doubt, even if the cancellation of interest pursuant to
Condition 8.1(c) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes would cure the
relevant Contingency Event, the relevant Write-Down shall occur in any
event and any increase in the CET1 Ratio as a result of such cancellation
shall be disregarded for the purpose of calculating the relevant Write-Down
Amount in respect of such Contingency Event.

Any Write-Down of an Additional Tier 1 Note will be effected, save as may
otherwise be required by the Competent Authority and subject as otherwise
provided in these Conditions, pro rata with the Write-Down of the other
Additional Tier 1 Notes and with the concurrent (or substantially
concurrent) write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary Shares,
as the case may be, of any Equal Loss Absorbing Instruments (based on the
prevailing amount of the relevant Equal Loss Absorbing Instrument). To
the extent possible, the write-down (or write-off) or conversion into
Ordinary Shares of any Prior Loss Absorbing Instruments will be taken into
account in the calculation of the Write Down Amount, and of the amount
of write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary Shares of any
Equal Loss Absorbing Instruments, required to cure the relevant
Contingency Event.

A Write-Down may occur on more than one occasion and the Additional
Tier 1 Notes may be Written Down on more than one occasion.

Following the giving of a Loss Absorption Event Notice which specifies a
Write-Down of the Additional Tier 1 Notes, the Issuer shall procure that:

(a) a similar notice is, or has been, given in respect of each Loss
Absorbing Instrument (in accordance with, and to the extent required
by, its terms); and
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(b)

the prevailing principal amount of each Loss Absorbing Instrument
outstanding (other than the Additional Tier 1 Notes) (if any) is
written down (or written-off) or converted, as appropriate, in
accordance with its terms prior to or, as appropriate, as soon as
reasonably practicable following the giving of such Loss Absorption
Event Notice.

Equal Loss Absorbing Instrument means:

(a)

(b)

in respect of an Issuer Contingency Event, at any time, any
instrument (irrespective of whether such instrument is included in the
Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group
and irrespective of whether such instrument ranks or is expressed to
rank senior to, pari passu with, or junior to the Additional Tier 1
Notes) issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer (other than the
Additional Tier 1 Notes) which contains provisions relating to a
write-down (or write-off) (whether on a permanent or temporary
basis) or conversion into Ordinary Shares of the principal amount of
such instrument (in each case in accordance with its conditions or
otherwise) on the occurrence, or as a result, of the Common Equity
Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the Issuer falling below a level that is equal
to 5.125 per cent. or the then minimum trigger event ratio for loss
absorption applicable to Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments
specified in the Relevant Regulations applicable to the Issuer; and

in respect of a Group Contingency Event, at any time, any instrument
(irrespective of whether such instrument is included in the Tier 1
Capital or Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group and
irrespective of whether such instrument ranks or is expressed to rank
senior to, pari passu with, or junior to the Notes) issued directly or
indirectly by the Issuer or any member of the UniCredit Group (a
Group Entity) which contains provisions relating to a write-down
(or write-off) (whether on a permanent or temporary basis) or
conversion of the principal amount of such instrument (in each case
in accordance with its conditions or otherwise) on the occurrence, or
as a result, of the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the
UniCredit Group falling below a level that is equal to 5.125 per cent.
or the then minimum trigger event ratio for loss absorption applicable
to Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments specified in the Relevant
Regulations applicable to the UniCredit Group,

and, in each case, in respect of which the conditions (if any) to the operation
of such provisions are (or with the giving of any certificate or notice which
is capable of being given by the Issuer, would be) satisfied;

Loss Absorbing Instrument means an Equal Loss Absorbing Instrument
and/or a Prior Loss Absorbing Instrument, as applicable;

Prior

(a)

Loss Absorbing Instrument means;

in respect of an Issuer Contingency Event, at any time, any
instrument (irrespective of whether such instrument is included in the
Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group
and irrespective of whether such instrument ranks or is expressed to
rank senior to, pari passu with, or junior to the Additional Tier 1
Notes) issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer which contains
provisions relating to a write-down (or write-off) (whether on a
permanent or temporary basis) or conversion into Ordinary Shares of
the principal amount of such instrument (in each case in accordance
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with its conditions or otherwise) on the occurrence, or as a result, of
the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the Issuer falling below
a level that is higher than 5.125 per cent. or the then minimum trigger
event ratio for loss absorption applicable to Additional Tier 1 Capital
instruments specified in the Relevant Regulations applicable to the
Issuer; and

(b) in respect of a Group Contingency Event, at any time: (i) any
instrument (irrespective of whether such instrument is included in the
Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group
and irrespective of whether such instrument ranks or is expressed to
rank senior to, pari passu with, or junior to the Additional Tier 1
Notes) issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer or any Group Entity
which contains provisions relating to a write-down (or write-off)
(whether on a permanent or temporary basis) or conversion of the
principal amount of such instrument (in each case in accordance with
its conditions or otherwise) on the occurrence, or as a result, of the
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of the UniCredit Group falling
below a level that is higher than 5.125 per cent. or the then minimum
trigger event ratio for loss absorption applicable to Additional Tier 1
Capital instruments specified in the Relevant Regulations applicable
to the UniCredit Group; and (ii) any instrument (irrespective of
whether such instrument is included in the Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2
Capital of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group and irrespective of
whether such instrument ranks or is expressed to rank senior to, pari
passu with, or junior to the Additional Tier 1 Notes) issued directly
or indirectly by any Group Entity which contains provisions relating
to a write-down (or write-off) or conversion of the principal amount
of such instrument on the occurrence, or as a result, of the Common
Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio of that Group Entity, or of a group within
the prudential consolidation of such Group Entity pursuant to
Chapter 2 of Title II of Part One of the CRD IV Regulation other than
the UniCredit Group, falling below the level specified in such
instrument at the date on which the relevant Group Contingency
Event first occurred,

and, in each case, in respect of which the conditions (if any) to the operation
of such provisions are (or with the giving of any certificate or notice which
is capable of being given by the Issuer, would be) satisfied.

Risk Weighted Assets means, at any time, the aggregate amount of the risk
weighted assets of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group, as the case may be,
at such time calculated by the Issuer in accordance with the Relevant
Regulations, taking into account any applicable transitional provisions
under the Relevant Regulations.

Write-Down Amount means the amount by which the then Prevailing
Principal Amount of each outstanding Note is to be Written Down with
effect as of the Write-Down Effective Date on a pro rata basis pursuant to
a Write-Down, being:

(a) the amount that (together with (a) the concurrent Write-Down on a
pro rata basis of the other Additional Tier 1 Notes and (b) the
concurrent or substantially concurrent write-down (or write-off) or
conversion on a pro rata basis to the extent possible of any Loss
Absorbing Instruments) would be sufficient to cure the Contingency
Event; or

(b) ifthat Write-Down (together with (a) the concurrent Write-Down on
a pro rata basis of the other Additional Tier 1 Notes and (b) the
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concurrent or substantially concurrent write-down (or write-off) or
conversion on a pro rata basis to the extent possible of any Loss
Absorbing Instruments) would be insufficient to cure the
Contingency Event, or the Contingency Event is not capable of being
cured, the amount necessary to reduce the Prevailing Principal
Amount to one cent.

In respect of any Write-Down, to the extent the write-down (or write-off)
or conversion into Ordinary Shares of any Loss Absorbing Instrument is
not, or within one month (or such shorter period as the Competent Authority
may require) from the determination that the relevant Contingency Event
has occurred will not be, effective for any reason (i) the ineffectiveness of
any such write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary Shares shall
not prejudice the requirement to effect the Write-Down of the Additional
Tier 1 Notes pursuant to Condition 8.1 (Loss Absorption) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes; and (ii) such write-down (or write-off) or
conversion into Ordinary Shares shall not be taken into account in
calculating the Write Down Amount in respect of such Write-Down. For
the avoidance of doubt, the write-down (or write-off) or conversion into
Ordinary Shares of any Loss Absorbing Instrument will only be taken into
account in the calculation of the Write-Down Amount to the extent (and in
the amount, if any) that such Loss Absorbing Instrument can actually be
written-down (or written-off) or converted into Ordinary Shares in the
relevant circumstances within one month (or such shorter period as the
Competent Authority may require) from the determination that the relevant
Contingency Event has occurred.

If, in connection with a Write-Down or the calculation of a Write-Down
Amount, there are outstanding any Loss Absorbing Instruments the terms
of which provide that they shall be written-down (or written-off) or
converted into Ordinary Shares in full and not in part only (Full Loss
Absorbing Instruments) then:

(A) the requirement that a Write-Down of the Additional Tier 1 Notes
shall be effected pro rata with the write-down (or write-off) or
conversion into Ordinary Shares, as the case may be, of any such
Loss Absorbing Instruments shall not be construed as requiring the
Additional Tier 1 Notes to be Written-Down in full (or in full save
for the one cent floor) simply by virtue of the fact that such Full
Loss Absorbing Instruments will be written-down (or written-off)
or converted in full; and

(B) for the purposes of calculating the Write-Down Amount, the Full
Loss Absorbing Instruments will be treated (for the purposes only
of determining the write-down (or write-off) of principal or
conversion into Ordinary Shares, as the case may be, among the
Additional Tier 1 Notes and such other Loss Absorbing
Instruments on a pro rata basis) as if their terms permitted partial
write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary Shares, such
that the write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary
Shares of such Full Loss Absorbing Instruments shall be deemed
to occur in two concurrent stages: (a) first, the principal amount of
such Full Loss Absorbing Instruments shall be written-down (or
written-off) or converted into Ordinary Shares pro rata with the
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Additional Tier 1 Notes and all other Loss Absorbing Instruments
(in each case subject to and as provided in the preceding paragraph)
to the extent necessary to cure the relevant Contingency Event; and
(b) secondly, the balance (if any) of the principal amount of such
Full Loss Absorbing Instruments remaining following (a) shall be
written-down (or written-off) or converted into Ordinary Shares, as
the case may be, with the effect of increasing the Issuer’s and/or
the UniCredit Group’s, as the case may be, CET1 Ratio above the
minimum required level under (a) above.

See Condition 8.1 (Loss Absorption) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

Reinstatement of principal amount

If both a positive Net Income and a positive Consolidated Net Income are
recorded at any time while the Prevailing Principal Amount of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes is less than their Initial Principal Amount, the
Issuer mayi, at its full discretion and subject to the Maximum Distributable
Amount (if any) (when the amount of the Write-Up is aggregated together
with other distributions of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group, as applicable,
of the kind referred to in Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive and, if
relevant, in any other similar payment restriction provision(s) under the
Relevant Regulations (or, if different, any provision of Italian law
implementing Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive or, if relevant, such
other provision(s))) not being exceeded thereby, increase the Prevailing
Principal Amount of each Note (a Write-Up) up to a maximum of the
Initial Principal Amount, on a pro rata basis with the other Additional Tier
1 Notes and with any Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instruments that
have terms permitting a principal write-up to occur on a basis similar to that
set out in Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes in the circumstances existing on the date of the
relevant Write-Up (based on their Initial Principal Amounts), provided that
the sum of:

(a) the aggregate amount of the relevant Write-Up on all the Additional
Tier 1 Notes (aggregated with the aggregate amounts of any other
Write-Ups out of the same Relevant Net Income);

(b) the aggregate amount of any interest payments on the Additional
Tier 1 Notes that were paid on the basis of a Prevailing Principal
Amount lower than the Initial Principal Amount at any time after
the end of the previous financial year,

(©) the aggregate amount of the increase in principal amount of each
such Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instrument at the time of the
relevant Write-Up; and

(d) the aggregate amount of any interest payments on each such
Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instrument that were calculated
or paid on the basis of a prevailing principal amount that is lower
than the principal amount it was issued with at any time after the
end of the previous financial year,

does not exceed the Maximum Write-Up Amount.
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The Maximum Write-Up Amount means:

(a)  if the Relevant Net Income for the relevant Write-Up is equal to the
Consolidated Net Income, the Consolidated Net Income multiplied
by the sum of the aggregate Initial Principal Amount of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes and the aggregate initial principal amount of
all Written-Down Additional Tier | Instruments of the UniCredit
Group, and divided by the total Tier 1 Capital of the UniCredit Group
as at the date of the relevant Write-Up; or

(b) if the Relevant Net Income for the relevant Write-Up is equal to the
Net Income, the Net Income multiplied by the sum of the aggregate
Initial Principal Amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes and the
aggregate initial principal amount of all Written-Down Additional
Tier 1 Instruments of the Issuer, and divided by the total Tier 1
Capital of the Issuer as at the date of the relevant Write-Up.

Relevant Net Income means the lowest of the Net Income and the
Consolidated Net Income.

Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instrument means an instrument (other
than the Notes) issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer or, as applicable,
any member of the UniCredit Group, and qualifying as Additional Tier 1
Capital of the Issuer or, as applicable, the UniCredit Group that, as at the
time immediately prior to the relevant Write-Up, has a prevailing principal
amount lower than the principal amount that it was issued with due to a
write-down.

The Issuer will not reinstate the principal amount of any Written-Down
Additional Tier 1 Instruments of the Issuer that have terms permitting a
principal write-up to occur on a similar basis to that set out in Condition
8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes unless it does so on a pro rata basis with a Write-Up on the
Additional Tier 1 Notes.

A Write-Up may be made on one or more occasions in accordance with
Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes until the Prevailing Principal Amount of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes has been reinstated to the Initial Principal Amount.
No Write-Up shall be operated (i) whilst a Contingency Event has occurred
and is continuing, or (ii) where any such Write-Up (together with the write-
up of all other Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instruments) would cause
a Contingency Event to occur.

Any decision by the Issuer to effect or not to effect any Write-Up pursuant
to Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes on any occasion shall not preclude it from effecting
or not effecting any Write-Up on any other occasion pursuant to Condition
8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

If the Issuer decides to Write-Up the Additional Tier 1 Notes pursuant to
Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, it shall deliver a notice (a Write-Up Notice)

15



General Description of the Programme

Exempt Notes:

Redemption:

specifying the amount of any Write-Up (as a percentage of the Initial
Principal Amount of a Note resulting in a pro rata increase in the Prevailing
Principal Amount of each Note) and the date on which such Write-Up shall
take effect shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17
(Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and to the Principal
Paying Agent. Such Write-Up Notice shall be given at least ten Business
Days prior to the date on which the relevant Write-Up becomes effective.

See Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.

The Issuer may issue Exempt Notes which are Index Linked Notes, Dual
Currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes and Notes redeemable in one or more
instalments. References in this Base Prospectus to Exempt Notes are to
Notes for which no prospectus is required to be published under the
Prospectus Regulation. The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed
information contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt
Notes.

Index Linked Notes: payments of principal in respect of Index Linked
Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes
will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or to changes
in the prices of securities or commodities or to such other factors as the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

Dual Currency Notes: payments (whether in respect of principal or interest
and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes
will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

Partly Paid Notes: the Issuer may issue Notes in respect of which the issue
price is paid in separate instalments in such amounts and on such dates as
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

Notes redeemable in instalments: the Issuer may issue Notes which may
be redeemed in separate instalments in such amounts and on such dates as
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Exempt Notes may be issued in
a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions, in which event the
relevant provisions will be included in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The applicable Final Terms of the Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior
Notes and Subordinated Notes (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the
applicable Pricing Supplement) will indicate either that the relevant Notes
cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in the case of
Exempt Notes in specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons
or, in the case of Subordinated Notes, for regulatory reasons subject to, inter
alia, the prior approval of the relevant Competent Authority, as applicable
or following an Event of Default or, in the case of Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes, at the option of the Issuer (and subject to
compliance with any conditions to such redemption prescribed by the
Relevant Regulations at the relevant time) if the Issuer determines that a
MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing) or
that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer. The terms of
any such redemption, including notice periods, any relevant conditions to
be satisfied and the relevant redemption dates and prices will, as
appropriate, be indicated in the applicable Final Terms.
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In the case of Subordinated Notes, early redemption may occur only at the
option of UniCredit and with the prior approval of the relevant Competent
Authority and otherwise in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles 77 and 78 of the CRD IV Regulation or, if
different, the then applicable Relevant Regulations, and is subject to the
provisions of Condition 10.15 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes, may
provide that Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of such
amounts and on such dates as are indicated in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

If the applicable Final Terms specify that the Issuer Call due to MREL or
TLAC Disqualification Event applies, then any Series of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes may on or after the date specified in a notice
published on the Issuer’s website be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in
whole, but not in part, at any time (if the Note is a Floating Rate Note, an
Index Linked Interest Note or a Dual Currency Interest Note), on giving not
less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice
specified in the Applicable Final Terms to the Principal Paying Agent and,
in accordance with Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if the Issuer
determines that a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event has occurred and
is continuing.

Early redemption of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes is subject
to the provisions of Condition 10.16 of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

Under the Prospectus Regulation, prospectuses for the admission to trading
of money market instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12
months and complying also with the definition of securities are not subject
to the approval provisions stated therein.

The applicable Final Terms of the Additional Tier 1 Notes (or, in the case
of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) will indicate if such
Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and if the applicable
Final Terms specify that the Issuer Call applies, the Issuer may, at its sole
discretion (but subject to the provisions of Condition 10.15 (Conditions to
Early Redemption and Purchase of Subordinated Notes and Additional Tier
1 Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), redeem the Notes in
whole or in part, on any Optional Redemption Date (Call) at their Prevailing
Principal Amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest (to the extent not
cancelled in accordance with Condition 7.1 (Cancellation of Interest
Amounts) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) up to, but excluding
the date fixed for redemption, and any additional amounts due pursuant to
Condition 11 (7axation) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. In
addition, the Issuer may, at its sole discretion (but subject to the provisions
of Condition 10.15 (Conditions to Early Redemption and Purchase of
Subordinated Notes and Additional Tier 1 Notes) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes), redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part,
following the occurrence of a Capital Event (if the applicable Final Terms
specify that the Regulatory Call applies) or in whole or in part (to the extent
permitted by the Relevant Regulations) following the occurrence of a Tax
Event (each as defined herein), in each case, at their Prevailing Principal
Amount, plus, in each case, any accrued but unpaid interest (to the extent
not cancelled in accordance with Condition 7.1 (Cancellation of Interest
Amounts) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) up to, but excluding
the date fixed for redemption, and any additional amounts due pursuant to
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Redemption for Indexation
Reasons:

Denomination of Notes:

Governing Law:

Variation:

Condition 11 (Z7axation) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, as
described in Condition 10.3 (Redemption for tax reasons) or Condition 10.4
(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call))) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.

Inflation Linked Interest Notes may be redeemed before their stated
maturity at the option of the Issuer, if the Index ceases to be published or
any changes are made to it which, in the opinion of an Expert, constitute a
fundamental change in the rules governing the Index and the change would,
in the opinion of the Expert, be detrimental to the interests of the
Noteholders.

The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) save that (i) the minimum
denomination of each Note will be such amount as may be allowed or
required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body)
or by any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency,
(i1) the minimum denomination of each Note which is not a Non-Preferred
Senior Note or a Subordinated Note or an Additional Tier 1 Note may be
€1,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the
equivalent amount in such currency), (iii) where it is a Note to be admitted
to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a regulated
market, to which only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus
Regulation) have access, the minum denominational may be €1,000 (or, if
the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent
amount in such currency), (iv) the minimum denomination of each Non-
Preferred Senior Note will be Euro 150,000 (or, if the Senior Non-Preferred
Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount
in such currency) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or
required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body)
and (v) the minimum denomination of each Subordinated Note or
Additional Tier 1 Note will be Euro 200,000 (or, if the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such
currency) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from
time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body).

The Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with them shall be governed by,
and construed in accordance with, Italian law.

In relation to Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes

If (i) at any time a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event occurs and is
continuing in relation to any Series of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred
Senior Notes, or (ii) in order to ensure the effectiveness and enforceability
of Condition 21 Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to
giving any notice required to be given to, and receiving any consent
required from, the Competent Authority and/or as appropriate the Relevant
Resolution Authority (without any requirement for the consent or approval
of the holders of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes of that
Series), at any time vary the terms of such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred
Senior Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying
Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable,
provided that such variation does not itself give rise to any right of the
Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as
applicable, are securities issued by the Issuer that, other than in respect of
the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 Contractual
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Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, have terms not materially less favourable to the Noteholders (as
reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the relevant Senior
Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable.

In relation to Subordinated Notes

If (i) at any time a Regulatory Event occurs or (ii) in order to ensure the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 Contractual Recognition
of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, then
the Issuer may, subject to giving any notice required to be given to, and
receiving any consent required from, the Competent Authority and/or as
appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement
for the consent or approval of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of that
Series), at any time vary the terms of such Subordinated Notes so that they
remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying Subordinated Notes, as
applicable, provided that such variation does not itself give rise to any right
of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Subordinated Notes are securities issued by the Issuer that, other
than in respect of the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21
Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes have terms not materially less favourable to the
Noteholders (as reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the
relevant Subordinated Notes.

In relation to Additional Tier 1 Notes

If (i) at any time a Capital Event occurs or (ii) in order to ensure the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 Contractual Recognition
of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, then
the Issuer may, subject to giving any notice required to be given to, and
receiving any consent required from, the Competent Authority and/or as
appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement
for the consent or approval of the holders of the Additional Tier 1 Notes of
that Series), at any time vary the terms of such Additional Tier 1 Notes so
that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying Additional Tier 1
Notes, as applicable, provided that such variation does not itself give rise
to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Additional Tier 1 Notes are securities issued by the Issuer that,
other than in respect of the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21
Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes have terms not materially less favourable to the
Noteholders (as reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the
relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes.
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Risk Factors

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under
the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a
position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued
under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the material risks inherent in investing in Notes
issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in
connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons. The Issuer has identified in this “Risk Factors” section
a number of factors which could materially adversely affect its businesses and ability to make payments due under
the Notes. Prospective investors should read these risk factors together with the other detailed information set out
elsewhere in this Base Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

The risk factors relating to the Group are deemed to cover the Issuer.
Any reference in the Risk Factors to “applicable Final Terms” or “Final Terms” shall be deemed to include a
reference to “applicable Pricing Supplement” or “Pricing Supplement” where relevant in the case of Exempt

Notes.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS
UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

11 Risks related to the financial situation of the Issuer and of the Group

1.1.1  Risks associated with the impact of current macroeconomic uncertainties and the effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic outbreak and recent geopolitical tensions with Russia

The financial markets and the macroeconomic and political environment of the countries in which UniCredit
operates were impacted by the viral pneumonia known as "Coronavirus" (COVID-19) outbreak and this has had
and could continue to have a negative impact on the performance of the Group. Moreover, the valuation of certain
assets has become complex and uncertain as a result of the lockdown measures and other restrictive measures
put in place by governments for the containment of the COVID-19 pandemic, even though progressively lifted, as
well as recent geopolitical tensions with Russia. Expectations regarding the performance of the global economy
remain therefore still uncertain in both the short and medium term. The macroeconomic context in which the
Group functioned in 2021 was characterized by encouraging signs of recovery compared with the prior year,
supported by the governmental measures sustaining the economy, by vaccination campaigns and by the
progressive slowing-down of the lockdown measures. The current environment continues to be characterized by
highly uncertain elements, such as geopolitical tensions with Russia, with the possibility that the slowdown of the
economy could generate a worsening of the loan portfolio quality, followed by an increase of the non-performing
loans and the necessity to increase the provisions to be charged to the income statement. On 9 December 2021,
UniCredit presented to the financial community its new Strategic Plan, which included a set of strategic and
financial objectives that considered the underlying scenario and resulted from the assessment performed in the
previous months.

The macro assumptions underlying the Strategic Plan exclude' unexpected materially adverse developments such
as the worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic, a situation that UniCredit is monitoring closely.

The evaluations processes, such as Deferred Tax Assets, whose recoverable amount depends on cash flows
projections, might be subject to a change not foreseeable at the moment and from which could derive possible
negative effects, including significant ones, on the bank's financial and economic situation.

The financial markets and the macroeconomic and political environment of the countries in which UniCredit
operates were impacted by the viral pneumonia known as "Coronavirus" (COVID-19) outbreak and this has had

! Macro assumptions consider the recent and still existing impacts of COVID with a gradual normalisation over the upcoming years. The
scenario does not assume that the current COVID situation will develop in a particularly negative way in the upcoming years.
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and could continue to have a negative impact on the performance of the Group. Moreover, the valuation of certain
assets has become complex and uncertain as a result of the lockdown measures and other restrictive measures put
in place by governments for the containment of the COVID-19 pandemic, even though progressively lifted.
Expectations regarding the performance of the global economy remain still uncertain in both the short and medium
term, also considering the recent geopolitical tensions with Russia.

The macroeconomic context in which the Group functioned in 2021 was characterized by encouraging signs of
recovery compared with the prior year, supported by the governmental measures sustaining the economy, by
vaccination campaigns and by the progressive slowing-down of the lockdown measures.

The current environment continues to be characterized by highly uncertain elements, such as geopolitical tensions
with Russia, with the possibility that the slowdown of the economy could generate a worsening of the loan
portfolio quality, followed by an increase of the non-performing loans and the necessity to increase the provisions
to be charged to the income statement. The adequate operative answer and the prudential management ensured by
the Group during 2020 to face the crisis emerging from the COVID-19 pandemic, allowed in 2021 to reach a
performance improvement. In fact the Group recorded a Euro 822 million increase in revenues to Euro 17,954
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from Euro 17,132 million for the corresponding period of 2020,
sustained mainly by higher commissions and trading profit.

UniCredit’s Loan Loss Provisions (LLPs) decreased by Euro 3,362 million to Euro 1,634 million as at 31
December 2021 from Euro 4,996 million as at 31 December 2020. Therefore, the cost of risk (CoR) in the 2021
was 37 bps, decreased compared to the past year (105 bps).

UniCredit’s LLPs, excluding Russia, decreased by 93.2 per cent. Q/Q and 64.6 per cent. Y/Y to Euro 52 million
in 1Q22. Therefore, the cost of risk, excluding Russia, decreased by 67 bps Q/Q and 9 bps Y/Y to 5 bps in 1Q22.

UniCredit’s LLPs in 1Q22 amounted to Euro 1.3 billion almost entirely against Russia. Therefore, the CoR in
1Q22 was equal to 116 bps.

Revenues were up 4.8 per cent. Y/Y to Euro 18.0 billion in FY21 with fees (+12.1 per cent. Y/Y), trading income
up +16 per cent. Y/Y and Dividends and other income from equity investments + 25.2 per cent., more than
offsetting lower NII (i.e. net interest income) (-4 per cent. Y/Y). Total revenues up 12.0 per cent. Q/Q and up 5.5
per cent. Y/Y to Euro 4.8 billion in 1Q22, with continued fees (+9.0 per cent. Q/Q, +7.9 per cent. Y/Y) offset by
weaker quarterly trends in NII (-4.2 per cent. Q/Q, +5.5 per cent. Y/Y)?.

In details: FY21 NII was down 4 per cent. Y/Y to Euro 9.1 billion, as a result of lower loans volumes and customer
rates; fees were at Euro 6.7 billion, up 12.1 per cent. FY/FY, mainly due to investment fees. FY21 trading income
was up 16.0 per cent. FY/FY at Euro 1.6 billion, of which Euro 1.3 billion is customer driven, increasing thanks
to Valuation adjustments (XVA?) and Fair Value (FV) valuation. Also dividends were up, +25.2 per cent. FY/FY
to Euro 520 million, with a higher contribution from Yapi Kredi (+Euro 18 million FY/FY). In 1Q222, NII stood
at Euro 2.2 billion, down 4.2 per cent. Q/Q. Adjusted for a positive non-recurring item in Germany in 4Q21 and
days effect, NII was up 2 per cent. Q/Q, also supported by recovering demand for credit. Average client loan
volumes are up Euro 8 billion Q/Q driven by Austria, Germany and Italy; fees at Euro 1.8 billion in 1Q22, up 9.0
per cent. Q/Q and 7.9 per cent. Y/Y. UniCredit fees are well diversified, and all categories contributed positively,
led by transactional and financing fees; trading income was strong at Euro 701 million in 1Q22, of which Euro
388 million client driven, thanks to good results in Fixed Income, Currencies & Commodities in both in Italy and
Germany, with positive XVA3 and good Treasury results contributing to a Q/Q increase.

For further information in relation to the net write-downs on loans, please see the consolidated financial statements
of UniCredit as at 31 December 2021 and the consolidated interim report as at 31 March 2022 — Press Release.

Furthermore, the evaluation processes, such as Deferred Tax Assets, whose recoverable amount depends on
expected cash flows projections, might be subject to a change not foreseeable as of the date of this Base Prospectus
and which may have negative effects, including significant ones, on the bank’s financial and economic situation.

In addition, as a result of the current elements of high uncertainty, ESMA requires particular attention in
performing assets evaluation. In particular, ESMA believes in the context of COVID-19 pandemic impairment

% Data excluding Russia.
3 Valuation adjustments (XVA) include: Debt/Credit Value Adjustment (DVA/CVA), Funding Valuation Adjustments (FuVA) and Hedging
desk.
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tests have to assess (i) with particular attention the evaluation of cash flows used and (ii) the possible use of
alternative scenarios. Coherently with such recommendations and with UniCredit’s macro assumptions in the
2022-2024 Strategic Plan called “UniCredit Unlocked” (the Strategic Plan or Plan), that assumes the recent and
still existing impacts of COVID-19 will gradually normalize without developing in a particularly negative way in
the upcoming years, UniCredit Group has defined different macro-economic scenarios, to be used for the purposes
of the evaluation processes of 2021 Consolidated reports

In particular, in addition to the "Baseline" scenario, which reflects the expectations considered most likely
concerning macro-economic trends, alternative scenarios have been outlined assuming different trends in the main
macro-economic parameters (e.g. gross domestic product, interest rates); in this respect:

»  with reference to the sustainability test of deferred tax assets, a worst-case scenario ("Downturn") was
considered, reflecting a downward forecast of the expected profitability of the business; and

»  with reference to the valuation of credit exposures (IFRS9), two alternative scenarios ("Positive" and
"Negative" vis-a-vis the “Baseline” scenario) were defined; such alternative scenarios provide for
different assessments regarding the expected trend of the parameters that can influence the assessment
of the prospective credit risk.

The above outlined lower predictivity has heightened in the first quarter 2022 due to the outbreak of geopolitical
tensions between the Russian Federation and Ukraine.

Indeed, ECB Macro-economic Projections published in March 2022* report that the outlook regarding the trend
in economic activities and inflation in the euro area has become very uncertain and depends crucially on how the
war in Ukraine unfolds, on the impact of current sanctions and on possible further measures.

In light of the above-mentioned heightened uncertainties, specific analyses were performed in the first quarter of
2022:

o with reference to the Italian tax perimeter (which accounts for the significant majority of the DTAs):
Baseline/Downturn scenarios, foreseen by the new strategic plan and used in the evaluation process as
at 31 Dec 2021 were confirmed on the basis that the comparison with the updated macro-economic
scenario highlighted that: (i) Italian GDP is substantially aligned with the Downturn in 2022 and with
Baseline in 2023/2024; (ii) higher interest rates are foreseen, thus representing a positive driver
considering the positive correlation existing between net interest income and interest rates trend;

o with reference to the credit exposures a specific analysis was put in place by comparing the scenarios
used in the evaluation process of credit exposures as at 31 December 2021 and the updated macro-
economic scenario developed in March 2022 by UniCredit Research:

o withreference to the geographies different from Russia, the macroeconomic scenario developed
in March 2022 reports a limited decrease in term of GDP for the periods 2022 — 2024 compared
with 31 December 2021, not triggering an extraordinary update as of 1Q2022;

o  with reference to Russian consolidated subsidiaries, the macroeconomic scenario developed in
March 2022 reports worsening GDP projections for the periods 2022 - 2024 compared with the
negative scenario considered in December 2021 both on a year to year and on a cumulated basis.
Consequently, as of 1Q22: (i) the Baseline scenario was updated in coherence with March 2022
evidence; (ii) the negative scenario has been updated by keeping constant the multi-scenario
overlay used as at 31 December 2021, thus implying a downward GDP correction with the same
magnitude of the correction to the Baseline. Furthermore, the weight of negative scenario was
increased from 40 per cent. to 50 per cent. and the baseline reduced from 55 per cent. to 50 per
cent. (with positive scenario also reduced from 5 per cent. to 0 per cent.).

With specific reference to goodwill, as at 31 December 2021 no goodwill is present on the balance sheet therefore
there is no risk of impairment.

While evaluations have been made on the basis of assumptions deemed to be reasonable as at 31 December 2021
and as at 31 March 2022, existing uncertainties related to evolution of the (i) pandemic, when lockdown measures

4 ECB staff macroeconomic projections for the euro area, March 2022 (europa.eu).
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and other restrictive measures will be completely lifted and the extent and speed of the economic recovery, and
(i1) geopolitical tensions between Russia and Ukraine could further affect the valuation processes.

Therefore, the information and parameters used for the update of the DTA sustainability test and the evaluation
of the loan portfolio in term of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) could develop in different ways to those envisaged,
with possible further negative effects on UniCredit’s assets and operations, balance sheet and/or income statement.

On 9 December 2021 UniCredit presented to the financial community its new Strategic Plan, which included a set
of strategic and financial objectives that considered the underlying scenario and resulted from the assessment
performed in the previous months.

The macro assumptions underlying the Strategic Plan exclude’ unexpected materially adverse developments such
as the worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic, a situation that UniCredit is monitoring closely.

For further information on the risks associated with the Strategic Plan, see Risk 1.1.2 “Risks connected with the
Strategic Plan 2022 — 2024”.

Material adverse effects on the business and profitability of the Group may also result from further developments
of the monetary policies and additional events occurring on an extraordinary basis (such as political instability,
terrorism and any other similar event occurring in the countries where the Group operates and, as recently
experienced, a pandemic emergency). Furthermore, the economic and geopolitical uncertainty has also introduced
a considerable volatility and uncertainty in the financial markets, potentially impacting on credit spreads/cost of
funding and therefore on the values the Group can realize from sales of financial assets.

The outlook of the pandemic normalization path in terms of its timeline and further evolution remains uncertain,
as well as the magnitude of the economic impact. The global economic developments can be further impacted by
the potential new rounds of restrictions/financial sanctions that might be introduced by some countries across the
world, with the risk of further slowing down of the economy.

In particular, besides the impact on global growth and individual countries due to COVID-19, the current
macroeconomic situation is characterized by high levels of uncertainty,first of all due to the evolution of the
conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the related potential implications/spill-over macroeconomic effects;
moreover due to: (i) the risk of further increasing inflation; (ii) future developments in the European Central Bank
(the ECB) and Federal Reserve (FED) monetary policies; (iii) the sustainability of the sovereign debt of certain
countries and the related, repeated shocks to the financial markets.

1.1.2  Risks connected with the Strategic Plan 2022 — 2024

On 9 December 2021, UniCredit presented to the financial community in Milan the 2022-2024 Strategic Plan
called “UniCredit Unlocked” (the Strategic Plan or Plan) which contains a number of strategic, capital and
financial objectives (the Strategic Objectives). “UniCredit Unlocked” delivers strategic imperatives and financial
ambitions based on six pillars. Such strategic imperatives and financial ambitions regard: (i) the growth in its
regions and the development of its client franchise, changing its business model and how its people operate; (ii)
the delivery of economies of scale from its footprint of banks, transforming the technology leveraging Digital &
Data and embedding sustainability in all that UniCredit does; (iii) driving financial performance via three
interconnecting levers. UniCredit’s ability to meet the strategic objectives and all forward-looking statements
relies on a number of assumptions, expectations, projections and provisional data concerning future events and
is subject to a number of uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside the control of UniCredit.
Macro assumptions exclude® unexpected materially adverse developments such as the worsening of the COVID-
19 pandemic, a situation that UniCredit is monitoring closely. The six pillars are: (i) optimise, through the
improvement of operational and capital efficiency, (ii) invest, with targeted growth initiatives, including ESG,
(iii) grow net revenues; (iv) return, (v) strengthen thanks to revised CETI ratio target and decrease of Gross NPE
ratio; and (vi) distribute consistently with organic capital generation. For all these reasons, investors are
cautioned against making their investment decisions based exclusively on the forecast data included in the
strategic objectives. Any failure to implement the strategic objective or meet the strategic objectives may have a
material adverse effect on UniCredit's business, financial condition or results of operations.

> Macro assumptions consider the recent and still existing impacts of COVID with a gradual normalisation over the upcoming years. The
scenario does not assume that the current COVID situation will develop in a particularly negative way in the upcoming years.
¢ Macro assumptions consider the recent and still existing impacts of COVID with a gradual normalisation over the upcoming years. The
scenario does not assume that the current COVID situation will develop in a particularly negative way in the upcoming years.
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The Issuer evaluates that the materiality of such risk shall be high.

On 9 December 2021, UniCredit presented to the financial community in Milan the 2022-2024 Strategic Plan
called “UniCredit Unlocked” (the Strategic Plan or Plan) which contains a number of strategic, capital and
financial objectives (the Strategic Objectives). The Strategic Plan focuses on UniCredit’s geographic areas in
which the Bank currently operates; with financial performance driven by three interconnecting levers: cost
efficiency, optimal capital allocation and net revenue growth.

“UniCredit Unlocked” delivers strategic imperatives and financial ambitions based on six pillars. Such strategic
imperatives and financial ambitions regard: (i) the growth in its regions and the development of its client franchise,
changing its business model and how people operate; (ii) the delivery of economies of scale from its footprint of
banks, transforming the technology leveraging Digital & Data and embedding sustainability in all that UniCredit
does; (iii) driving financial performance via three interconnecting levers.

Sustainability is embedded in the Plan and UniCredit commits to deliver on ESG global policies. Specifically
UniCredit: has established an ESG advisory model for Corporates and Individuals; is financing innovation for
environmental transition; and is partnering with key players to enrich and improve ESG offerings across-sectors.

New business model allows for strong organic capital generation’ with materially increased and growing
shareholder distributions®, consisting in cash dividends and share buybacks, while maintaining a robust CET1
ratio.

Although the Plan is based primarily through management actions, thanks to its geographical positioning
UniCredit: (i) over the three years, assumes a conservative interest rate scenario based on a broadly stable Euribor
3 month rate; (ii) the combination of its countries is expected to deliver GDP growth® above the eurozone average
over the course of the Plan, helped by its Central and Eastern European positioning.

Macro assumptions exclude '° unexpected materially adverse developments such as the worsening of the COVID-
19 pandemic, a situation that UniCredit is monitoring closely.

The Plan is based on six pillars:

e Optimise: improving operational and capital efficiency, with gross cost savings, considering also Digital
& Data, and a contribution to CET1 ratio from active portfolio management; expect RWA to decrease
over the course of the Plan as active portfolio management more than offsets impact of organic growth
and expected regulatory headwinds;

e Invest: cash investments in Digital & Data, new hires in Business and Digital & Data, targeted growth
initiatives including ESG; gross integration costs impact from: Team23 acceleration, technology benefit
and simplification & streamlining;

e Grow: increasing net revenues in the period 2021-2024, net of all the optimisation UniCredit is
undertaking, with underlying growth substantially higher;

e Return: increasing in 2024;

e  Strengthen: thanks to revised CET1 ratio target, decrease in gross NPE ratio and stable net NPE ratio in
2024;

e Distribute: consistently with organic capital generation® from net profit and RWA evolution.

UniCredit’s ability to meet the Strategic Objectives and all forward-looking statements relies on a number of
assumptions, expectations, projections and provisional data concerning future events and is subject to a number
of uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside the control of UniCredit. There are a variety of
factors that may cause actual results and performance to be materially different from the explicit or implicit
contents of any forward-looking statements and thus, such forward-looking statements are not a reliable indicator
of future performances.

7 Organic capital generation means CET1 evolution deriving from (i) stated net profit excluding DTA from tax loss carry forward contribution
and (ii)) RWA dynamic net of regulatory headwind.

8 Sharcholder distribution subject to supervisory & shareholder approvals and inorganic options.

° Average of yearly changes.

10 Macro assumptions consider the recent and still existing impacts of COVID with a gradual normalisation over the upcoming years. The

scenario does not assume that the current COVID situation will develop in a particularly negative way in the upcoming years.
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Moreover, the future financial results could be influenced by the dynamics of the COVID-19 as well as the
evolution of the geopolitical tension with Russia, which were not foreseeable at the date of the Strategic Plan
presentation, and which are still uncertain.

In particular, Eurozone’s GDP expanded by 5.3 per cent. in 2021 Y/Y, with a rebound vs. 2020 significantly
impacted by COVID-19 related containment measures. Among the largest eurozone economies, France and Italy
experienced greatest growth, respectively +7.0 per cent. and +6.6 per cent. (Germany +2.9 per cent., Austria +4.5
per cent.).

For this reason, UniCredit after having updated the macroeconomic assumptions connected with the determination
of LLPs in December 2021 has further updated the macroeconomic assumptions with reference to Russia in light
of a drop in GDP higher than those expected under the negative scenario considered in December 2021 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 9 (IFRS9).

For the 1Q22, reflecting UniCredit’s historically prudent approach on classification and provisioning, the cost of
risk excluding Russia is 5 basis points. Cost of risk, excluding Russia, is expected in the 30 to 35 basis points
range over the plan period.

Any failure by the Group to implement the revised 2022-2024 Strategic Plan or meet the Strategic Objectives may
have a material adverse effect on UniCredit’s business, financial condition or results of operations. Assumptions
by their nature are inherently subjective and the assumptions underlying the Strategic Objectives could turn out
to be inaccurate, in whole or in part, which may mean that UniCredit is not able to fulfil the Strategic Plan. If this
were to occur, the actual results may differ significantly from those set forth in the Strategic Objectives, which
could have a material adverse effect on UniCredit's business, results of operations, financial condition or capital
position.

The Strategic Objectives are also based on certain assumptions which include actions that management should
undertake over the course of the new Strategic Plan, including:

. over the three years, UniCredit assumes a conservative interest rate scenario based on a broadly stable
Euribor three-month rate;

. the combination of the countries is expected to deliver GDP growth that is above the eurozone average over
the course of the Plan. This is helped by UniCredit's Central and Eastern European positioning;

. Central and Eastern Europe loan growth is expected at a multiple of GDP due to the relatively low maturity
of the market;

. Recovery and Resilience Fund allocation: the countries have access to approximately 50 per cent. of the
overall fund disbursement.

Given that the realization of these initiatives is, as of the date hereof, uncertain, should UniCredit fail to generate
the expected benefits of actions taken to support future income, UniCredit may not reach its Strategic Objectives
and its results may differ significantly from those set out in the new Strategic Plan which, in turn, could have a
material adverse effect on UniCredit’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, should any of the assumptions turn out to be inaccurate and/or the circumstances envisaged not be
fulfilled, or fulfilled only in part or in a different way to that assumed, the ability to meet the Strategic Objectives
may be negatively impacted. For example, the focus set out in the new Strategic Plan on delivering enhanced
capital returns for shareholders through, among other things, share buy-backs and cash dividends, could be
reasonably influenced by the dynamics of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak as well as the evolution of the
geopolitical tension with Russia.

Given the inherent uncertainty surrounding any future event, both in terms of the event’s occurrence as well as
eventual timing, the differences between the actual values and the Strategic Objectives could be significant.

For all these reasons, investors are cautioned against making their investment decisions based exclusively on the
forecast data included in the strategic objective. Any failure to implement the strategic objective or meet the
strategic objective may have a material adverse effect on UniCredit's business, financial condition or results of
operations.
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1.1.3 Credit risk and risk of credit quality deterioration

The activity, financial and capital strength and profitability of the UniCredit Group depend, among other things,
on the creditworthiness of its customers. In carrying out its credit activities, the Group is exposed to the risk that
an unexpected change in the creditworthiness of a counterparty may generate a corresponding change in the
value of the associated credit exposure and give rise to the partial or total write-down thereof. The current
environment continues to be characterised by highly uncertain elements, with the possibility that the slowdown of
the economy, jointly with the termination of the safeguard measures, such as the customer loans moratorium,
generates a worsening of the loan portfolio quality, followed by an increase of the non-performing loans and the
necessity to increase the provisions to be charged in the income statement.

UniCredit’s Loan Loss Provisions (LLPs), excluding Russia, decreased by 93.2 per cent. Q/Q and 64.6 per cent.
Y/Y to Euro 52 million in 1Q22. Therefore, the cost of risk, excluding Russia, decreased by 67 bps Q/Q and 9 bps
Y/Yto 5 bps in 1022. As at 31 March 2022, Group gross NPE ratio, excluding Russia, was equal to 3.5 per cent.,
decreasing compared to 31 December 2021 in which the gross NPE ratio was equal to 3.6 per cent.. As at 31
March 2022 Group Net NPE ratio, excluding Russia, substantially stable compared to 31 December 2021 and is
equal to 1.6 per cent.

In the context of credit activities, this risk involves, among other things, the possibility that the Group's contractual
counterparties may not fulfil their payment obligations, as well as the possibility that Group companies may,
based on incomplete, untrue or incorrect information, grant credit that otherwise would not have been granted
or that would have been granted under different conditions.

Other banking activities, besides the traditional lending and deposit activities, can also expose the Group to credit
risks. "Non-traditional” credit risk can, for example, arise from: (i) entering derivative contracts; (ii) buying and
selling securities currencies or goods; and (iii) holding third-party securities. The counterparties of said
transactions or the issuers of securities held by Group entities could fail to comply due to insolvency, political or
economic events, a lack of liquidity, operating deficiencies, or other reasons.

The Group has adopted procedures, rules and principles aimed at monitoring and managing credit risk at both
individual counterparty and portfolio level. However, there is the risk that, despite these credit risk monitoring
and management activities, the Group's credit exposure may exceed predetermined risk’s levels pursuant to the
procedures, rules and principles it has adopted.

The Issuer evaluates that the materiality of both the credit risk and the risk of credit quality deterioration shall be
medium-high.

The credit risk inherent in the traditional activity of providing credit is material, regardless of the form it takes
(cash loan or endorsement loan, secured or unsecured, etc.).

With regard to "non-traditional" credit risk, the UniCredit Group negotiates derivative contracts and repos on a
wide range of products, such as interest rates, exchange rates, share prices/indices, commodities (precious metals,
base metals, oil and energy materials), both with institutional counterparties, including brokers and dealers, central
counterparties, central governments and banks, commercial banks, investment banks, funds and other institutional
customers, and with non-institutional Group customers. These operations expose the UniCredit Group to the risk
of counterparty, which is the risk that the counterparty may become insolvent before the contract matures, not
being able to fulfil its obligations towards to the Issuer or one of the other Group companies.

As at 31 March 2022, Group gross NPEs, excluding Russia, were down by 29.0 per cent. Y/Y and 2.2 per cent.
Q/Q to Euro 15.5 billion in 1Q22 (while as at 31 December 2021 they were equal to Euro 15.9 billion) with an
improved gross NPE ratio of 3.5 per cent. (-1.4 p.p. Y/Y, -0.1 p.p. Q/Q), while as at 31 December 2021 the gross
NPE ratio was equal to 3.6 per cent.

As at 31 March 2022, Group Net NPEs, excluding Russia, stood at Euro 7.1 billion decreased compared to 31
December 2021 which attested at Euro 7.4 billion (Group Net NPE ratio, excluding Russia, substantially stable
compared to 31 December 2021 and is equal to 1.6 per cent.).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group gross NPEs increased to Euro 16.8 billion (+3.2 p.p. Q/Q, -25.1 p.p. Y/Y) while
as at 31 December 2021 they were equal to Euro 16.3 billion, while Group Net NPEs were increased to Euro 7.9
billion.
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For more information on European legislative initiatives on Non-Performing Loans, please see section headed
“Information about the Issuer”, paragraph 1.1.4 (The domicile and legal form of the Issuer, the legislation under
which the Issuer operates, its country of incorporation, the address, telephone number of its registered office (or
principal place of business if different from its registered office) and website of the Issuer) of this Base Prospectus.

Furthermore, since 2014 the Italian market has seen an increase in the number of disposals of non-performing
loans, characterised by sale prices that are lower than the relative book values, with discounts greater than those
applied in other European Union countries. In this context, the UniCredit Group has launched a structured activity
to reduce the amount of non-performing loans on its books, while simultaneously seeking to maximise its
profitability and strengthen its capital structure.

In the last years, also in accordance with the EBA Guidelines of 31 October 2018 on management of non-
performing and forborne exposures for credit institutions with a gross NPL ratio greater than 5 per cent., the Group
has adopted a strategic plan to reduce Non-Performing Exposures (NPE) and operational and governance systems
to support it.

Starting from the year 2015 the overall reduction of the Group NPE amounted to about Euro 61 billion, moving
from Euro 77.8 billion of 2015 to Euro 16.8 billion of 1Q22 (Euro 16.3 billion of 2021). This amount includes the
loans disposed of through Project Fino in July 2017 and IFRS 5 positions if any.

According to the new Strategic Plan 2022-2024, the Group will continue to manage NPEs proactively to optimise
value and capital.

The current environment continues to be characterised by highly uncertain elements, with the possibility that the
slowdown of the economy, jointly with the termination of the safeguard measures, such as the customer loans
moratorium, generates a worsening of the loan portfolio quality, followed by an increase of the non-performing
loans and the necessity to increase the provisions to be charged to the income statement.

In order to mitigate the negative consequences caused by the restrictive measures adopted to contain the COVID-
19 outbreak, several countries in which the Group operates have enacted national provisions to postpone the
payment of the instalments upon request of customers or automatically (the so-called "moratoria").

In accordance with ESMA statements of 25 March 2020, which clarified that it is unlikely that the contractual
changes resulting from these moratoria can be considered as substantial, the Group has not derecognised credit
exposures that were subject to such moratoria.

UniCredit’s Loan Loss Provisions (LLPs), excluding Russia, decreased by 93.2 per cent. Q/Q and 64.6 per cent.
Y/Y to Euro 52 million in 1Q22. Therefore, the cost of risk, excluding Russia, decreased by 67 bps Q/Q and 9 bps
Y/Y to 5 bps in 1Q22.

UniCredit’s LLPs in 1Q22 amounted to Euro 1.3 billion almost entirely against Russia. Therefore, the CoR in
1Q22 was equal to 116 bps. With specific reference to Russian credit exposures (i.e. both cross - border and
originated by Russian consolidated subsidiaries), in addition to the already mentioned update of the IFRS-9 macro-
economic scenario the adverse change in the economic environment, as above outlined, has been deemed evidence
of a significant increase in credit risk triggering: (i) their classification in Stage 2; (ii) an update of the Russian
sovereign rating so to embed - in the measurement process - the worsening of Russia credit worthiness, triggered
by the severity of Western countries’ sanctions, Russian authorities’ responses and the economic effects of the
war itself. Such approach led to a consequent increase in LLP.

Furthermore, an overlay (basically tiering the effect resulting from an UTP classification) has been recognized on
cross-border loans exposures toward Russian counterparties in order to reflect the differentiation in asset valuation
between on-shore and off-shore investors, in light of sanctions imposed to Russia, with off-shore investors being
penalized vs on-shore ones in their ability to recover their claims against investments in Russia. Indeed, such
circumstance stemmed from several occurrences, e.g., among them: (i) certain Russian counterparties entered in
technical default as a result of sanctions imposed against Russia (which impeded them to repay their debt toward
foreign counterparty in accordance with the original terms of the contract subscribed); (ii) several multinational
corporations decided to exit from the Russian market and, among them, certain financial group disposed their
activities in Russia or announced their intention to do so with a zeroed investment value recovered.
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While these events materialized also after 31 March 2022, they stemmed from events (the Russia — Ukraine
conflict and sanctions) which started before 31 March 2022.

As a result, such events were deemed to be “adjusting events” for the purposes of preparation of the Consolidated
Results of UniCredit Group as at 31 March 2022.

It is finally worth mentioning that the overall impact of the actions presented here above led to a coverage ratio
so to better reflect the different risk profile of domestic and cross border exposures, where only the latter are
directly impacted by the sanctions, impairing the willingness and technical abilities of Russian counterparties to
honor the terms and conditions of their obligations to foreign debt holders.

Moreover, in order to cope with the extraordinary contingency of COVID-19 and the peculiar dynamic of default
risk observed in the course of 2021 as a consequence of supporting measures and the potential emerging of a cliff-
effect in 2022 when the measures will expire, an upward corrective factor has been applied on both the 2021
default rate and the 2022 forecast underlying the updated calibration of IFRS models for the 31 December 2021
figures and likely postponement of part of default risk in 2022.

It is worth pointing out that the measurement is affected by the already mentioned degree of uncertainty on the
evolution of the pandemic, the effect of the relief measures and, ultimately, the existence and degree of economic
recovery. The evolution of these factors may, indeed, require in future financial years the classification of
additional credit exposures as non-performing thus determining the recognition of additional loan loss provisions
related to both these exposures as well as performing exposures following the update in credit parameters. In this
context it will be relevant, among other factors, the ability of the customers to service their debt once moratoria
measures adopted by the Governments of the countries where the Group operates or voluntarily adopted by the
Group’s banks themselves, will expire. The Group delivered underlying net profit of Euro 3,900 million for FY21,
increased compared to the underlying net profit of Euro 1,264 million delivered for FY20.

For further information in relation to the net write-downs on loans, please see the consolidated financial statements
of UniCredit as at 31 December 2021 and the consolidated interim report as at 31 March 2022 — Press Release.

1.1.4  Risks associated with the Group's exposure to sovereign debt

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's sovereign exposures in debt amounts to Euro 109,575 million (as at 31
December 2021 it amounted to Euro 114,690 million), of which over 82 per cent. concentrated in eight countries.
In particular, the Group's exposure to Italian sovereign debt in debt securities amounts to Euro 39,516 million
(at 31 December 2021 it amounted to Euro 43,121 million) and represents, respectively, over 36 per cent. of the
Group's total sovereign exposure represented by debt securities (about 38 per cent. at 31 December 2021) and
over 4 per cent. of the Group total assets (about 5 per cent. at 31 December 2021). Increased financial instability
and the volatility of the market, with particular reference to the increase of credit spread, or the rating downgrade
of sovereign debt, as well as the rating downgrade of Italian sovereign debt, or forecasts that such downgrades
may occur, could negatively impact the financial position of UniCredit and/or the Group considering their
exposure to sovereign debt.

Sovereign exposures are bonds issued by and loans given to central and local governments and governmental
bodies. For the purposes of the current risk exposure, positions held through Asset Backed Securities (ABS) are
not included.

With reference to the Group's sovereign exposures in debt, the book value of sovereign debts securities as at 31
March 2022 amounted to Euro 109,575 million (as at 31 December 2021 it amounted to Euro 114,690 million),
of which over the 82 per cent was concentrated in eight countries, including: Italy with Euro 39,516 million (at
31 December 2021 it amounted to Euro 43,121 million), representing over 36 per cent of the total (about 38 per
cent at 31 December 2021) and over 4 per cent of the Group total assets (about 5 per cent at 31 December 2021);
Spain with Euro 16,764 million; Japan with Euro 10,745 million; Germany with Euro 9,016 million; Austria with
Euro 4,284 million; United States of America with Euro 4,274 million; France with Euro 3,102 million and
Romania with Euro 2,606 million.

As at 31 March 2022, the remaining 18 per cent of the total sovereign exposures in debt securities, equal to Euro
19,268 million as recorded at the book value, was divided between 37 countries, including: Bulgaria (Euro 2,044
million), Czech Republic (Euro 2,030 million), Croatia (Euro 1,844 million), Hungary (Euro 1,626 million),
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Portugal (Euro 1,601 million), Israel (Euro 1,186 million), Ireland (Euro 1,029 million), Serbia (Euro 944 million),
Poland (Euro 935 million), Russia (Euro 794 million) and China (Euro 789 million).

With respect to these exposures, as at 31 March 2022, there were no indications that defaults have occurred and
the Group is closely monitoring the evolution of the situation.

With particular reference to the book value of the sovereign debt securities exposure to Russia it should be noted
that Euro 793 million are held by the Russian controlled bank and classified in the banking book.

Note that the aforementioned remainder of the sovereign exposures held as at 31 March 2022 also included debt
securities relating to supranational organisations, such as the European Union, the European Financial Stability
Facility and the European Stability Mechanism, worth Euro 2,596 million (as at 31 December 2021 it amounted
to Euro 2,680 million).

In addition to the Group's sovereign exposure in debt securities, there were also loans issued to central and local
governments and government bodies, amounting to Euro 25,383 million as at 31 March 2022 (as at 31 December

2021 it amounted to Euro 31,068 million).

1.1.5  Risks relating to deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2021, Deferred Tax Assets (DTAs) amounted in aggregate to Euro 11,598 million, of which
Euro 6,239 million may be converted into tax credits pursuant to Law No. 214 of 22 December 2011 (Law
214/2011). As of 31 December 2020, DTAs totally amounted to Euro 11,361 million, of which Euro 7,491 million
was available for conversion to tax credits pursuant to Law 214/2011..

The above mentioned amounts are the ones resulting from the sustainability test provided for IAS12, that takes
into account the economic projections foreseeable for future years and the peculiarities of the fiscal legislations
of each country, in order to check whether there are future taxable incomes against which tax loss carry forward
(TLCF) can be offset.

1If, for whatever reason, significant changes in the current tax legislation may occur, not foreseeable at present,
such as the rate change, or the updating of the income statement estimates with the latest available official
projections should lead to lower taxable future income than those estimated in the sustainability test, and therefore
not sufficient to guarantee the reabsorption of the DTAs in question, negative and even significant effects on the
activities and on the economic, equity and / or financial situation of the Issuer and / or the Group could occur.

The Law Decree No.73 of 25 May 2021 (LD 73/2021) extended to 2021 the incentives, introduced in 2020, for
Non-Performing Exposures (NPE) disposals provided by Art.44-bis Law Decree No.34/2019. Therefore, also for
2021 the NPE disposals to companies not belonging to UniCredit Group completed by 31 December 2021 allowed
the transformation in Tax Credits (TC) of Deferred Tax Assets (DTAs) deriving from (i) tax losses and (ii) ACE
(so-called Aiuto alla Crescita Economica) surpluses, under the same conditions applied to the benefit in 2020. As
of 31 December 2021, Euro 110 million of DTAs were recognised into tax credits, with a correspondent positive
impact on the income statement.

DTA’s and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements according to accounting principle
IAS 12. As of 31 December 2021, DTAs amounted in aggregate to Euro 11,598 million, of which Euro 6,239
million may be converted into tax credits pursuant to Law No. 214 of 22 December 2011 (Law 214/2011). As of
31 December 2020, DTAs totally amounted to Euro 11,361 million, of which Euro 7,491 million available for
conversion to tax credits pursuant to Law 214/2011. Under Law 214/2011, DT As related to loan impairments and
loan losses, or to goodwill and certain other intangible assets, may be converted into tax credits if the company
has a full-year loss in its non-consolidated accounts relating to convertible DT As (to which such convertible DTAs
relate) (Convertible DT As). Under the conversion into tax credits, Convertible DTAs recognized in the accounts
of the company with the non-consolidated full-year loss, and a proportion of the deferred tax credits are converted
in accordance with a ratio between the amount of the full-year loss and the company’s sharecholders’ equity.

Law 214/2011 also provides for the conversion of Convertible DTAs if there is a tax loss on a non-consolidated
basis. In such circumstances, the conversion of the Convertible DTAs is recognized in the financial statements
against the tax loss, limited to the loss generated from the deduction of the same categories of negative income
components (loan impairments and loan losses, or related to goodwill and other intangible assets)..
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As at 31 December 2021, the remaining Deferred Tax Assets (i.e., DTAs non-convertible into tax credits) are
related to costs and write-offs deductible in future years, for Euro 3,097 million (net of related deferred tax
liabilities), and to tax losses carried forward (TLCF) for Euro 2,262 million (of which Euro 2,067 million DTAs
on TLCF and Euro 195 million tax credit IRAP deriving from the conversion of the ACE benefit). DTAs on TLCF
are mainly related to UniCredit S.p.A., also as Italian Tax Group Parent Company, for Euro 2,002 million, to
UniCredit Bank Austria AG for Euro 185 million, and to UniCredit Bank AG for Euro 17 million.

The above mentioned amounts are the ones resulting from the sustainability test provided for IAS12 that takes
into account the economic projections foreseeable for future years and the peculiarities of the fiscal legislations
of each country, in order to check whether there are future taxable incomes against which TLCF can be offset.

At Group level total not recognized DTAs TLCF are equal to Euro 2,702 million mainly referred to UniCredit
S.p.A. for Euro 2,072 million, to Sub-groups UniCredit Bank AG for Euro 331 million and UniCredit Bank
Austria AG for Euro 270 million.

If, for whatever reason, significant changes in the current tax legislation may occur, not foreseeable at present,
such as the rate change, or the updating of the income statement estimates with the latest available official
projections should lead to lower taxable future income than those estimated in the sustainability test, and therefore
not sufficient to guarantee the reabsorption of the DTAs in question, negative and even significant effects on the
activities and on the economic, equity and/or financial situation of the Issuer and/or the Group could occur.

1.2 Risks related to the business activities and industry of the Issuer and of the Group

1.2.1 Liquidity Risk

The main indicators used by the UniCredit Group to assess its liquidity profile are (i) the Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR), which represents an indicator of short-term liquidity subject to a minimum regulatory requirement
of 100 per cent. from 2018 and which was equal to 177 per cent. in March 2022, whereas at 31 December 2021
was equal to 182 per cent. (calculated as the average of the 12 latest end of month ratios), and (ii) the Net Stable
Funding Ratio (NSFR), which represents the indicator of structural liquidity and which in March 2022 was above
the internal limit set at 102 per cent. as at 31 December 2021, within the risk appetite framework. Liquidity risk
refers to the possibility that the UniCredit Group may find itself unable to meet its current and future, anticipated
and unforeseen cash payment and delivery obligations without impairing its day-to-day operations or financial
position. The activity of the UniCredit Group is subject in particular to funding liquidity risk, market liquidity
risk, mismatch risk and contingency risk. The most relevant risks that the Group may face are: i) an exceptionally
high usage of the committed and uncommitted lines granted to corporate customers, ii) an unusual withdrawal of
sight deposits by UniCredit’s retail and corporate customers, iii) the decline in the market value of the securities
in which UniCredit invests its liquidity buffer,; and iv) the capacity to roll over the expiring wholesale funding and
the potential cash or collateral outflows the Group may suffer in case of rating downgrades of both the banks or
the sovereign debt in the geographies in which it operates. In addition to this, some risks may arise from the
limitations applied to the cross-border lending among banks. Due to the financial market crisis, followed also by
the reduced liquidity available to operators in the sector, the ECB has implemented important interventions in
monetary policy, such as the "Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operation” (TLTRO) introduced in 2014 and
the TLTRO II introduced in 2016.

It is not possible to predict the duration and the amounts with which these liquidity support operations can be
repeated in the future, with the result that it is not possible to exclude a reduction or even the cancellation of this
support. This would result in the need for banks to seek alternative sources of borrowing, without ruling out the
difficulties of obtaining such alternative funding as well as the risk that the related costs could be higher. Such a
situation could therefore adversely affect UniCredit's business, operating results and the economic and financial
position of UniCredit and/or the Group.

Funding liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Issuer may not be able to meet its payment obligations, including
financing commitments, when these become due. In light of this, the availability of the liquidity needed to carry
out the Group’s various activities and the ability to fund long-term loans are essential for the Group to be able to

30



Risk Factors

meet its anticipated and unforeseen cash payment and delivery obligations, so as not to impair its day-to-day
operations or financial position.

In order to assess the liquidity profile of the UniCredit Group, the following principal indicators are also used:

. the short-term indicator Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), which expresses the ratio between the amount
of available assets readily monetizable (cash and the readily liquidable securities held by UniCredit) and
the net cash imbalance accumulated over a 30-day stress period; the indicator is subject to a minimum
regulatory requirement of 100 per cent.; and

. the 12-month structural liquidity indicator Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), which corresponds to the
ratio between the available amount of stable funding and the required amount of stable funding.

As of March 2022, the LCR of the Group was equal to 177 per cent., whereas at 31 December 2021 was equal to
182 per cent. (calculated as the average of the 12 latest end of month ratios). As of March 2022, the NSFR was
above the internal limit of 102 per cent., as at 31 December 2021, set in the risk appetite framework.

The Group's access to liquidity could be damaged by the inability of the Issuer and/or the Group companies to
access the debt market, including also the forms of borrowing from retail customers, thus compromising the
compliance with prospective regulatory requirements, with consequent negative effects on the operating results
and capital and/or financial position of the Issuer and/or of the Group.

As regards market liquidity, the effects of the highly liquid nature of the assets held are considered as a cash
reserve. Sudden changes in market conditions (interest rates and creditworthiness in particular) can have
significant effects on the time to sell, including for high-quality assets, typically represented by government
securities. The "dimensional scale" factor plays an important role for the Group, insofar as it is plausible that
significant liquidity deficits, and the consequent need to liquidate high-quality assets in large volumes, may change
market conditions. In addition to this, the consequences of a possible decline of the price of the securities held
and of a change in the criteria applied by the counterparties in repos operations could make it difficult to ensure
that the securities can be easily liquidated under favorable economic terms.

In addition to risks closely connected to funding risk and market liquidity risk, a risk that could impact the day-
to-day liquidity management is the differences in the amounts or maturities of incoming and outgoing cash flows
(mismatch risk) and the risk that (potentially unexpected) future requirements (i.e. use of credit lines, withdrawal
of deposits, increase in guarantees offered as collateral) may use a greater amount of liquidity than that considered
necessary for day-to-day activities (contingency risk).

The slowdown in economic activity caused by lockdowns across Europe and the measures the Governments have
taken to face the effects of the current health and economic emergency impacted the Group operations in the
different countries of its perimeter. The business continuity management plans were activated in order to ensure
the regular execution of Treasury activities and the proper information flows to the senior management and the
Supervisors. Despite the overall liquidity situation of the Group is safe and under constant control, some risks
may materialize in the coming months, depending on the possibility that new lockdown measures might be taken
and expected economic recovery.

An important mitigating factor to these risks are the contingency management policies in place in the Group
system of rules and the measures announced by the ECB, which have granted a higher flexibility in the
management of the current liquidity situation by leveraging on the available liquidity buffers.

As of 31 March 2022, the total debt of the UniCredit Group with the ECB through TLTRO III was Euro 106.8
billion, with a timetable of maturities scheduled for June 2023 and March 2024. In relation to the second one, in
March 2022, the Bank decided to set the repayment date to the original maturity of March 2024. As of 31 March
2022, UniCredit Group had other minor refinancing operation in place other than TLTRO III in the subsidiaries
in Eastern Europe.

Please find below the details of the TLTRO III participations of the Group with ECB:
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TLTRO II1
Effect from Maturity Amounts (Euro -billion)
24 June 2020 28 June 2023 94.2
24 March 2021 27 March 2024 12.6
Total 106.8

1.2.2  Risk related to the property market trends

The UniCredit Group is exposed to risks relating to the property market as a result of its significant property
portfolio (both in Italy and abroad), as well as due to loans granted to companies operating in the commercial
real estate market, whose cash flow is generated mainly by the rental or sale of commercial properties, and loans
to individuals secured by real property. A downturn in property prices, also in light of the COVID-19 pandemic,
may cause the UniCredit Group to have to recognize reduction in the value of the property owned where book
value is higher than market value, with possible material adverse effects on UniCredit’s business, capital and
results of operations.

Furthermore, the UniCredit Group has outstanding a significant amount of loans to individuals secured by
residential property. Should property prices, which represents most of the collateral securing UniCredit’s loans,
fall, the value of the collateral securing such loans would decline.

In this regard, starting from 31 December 2019 financial statements, the Group has decided to change the
evaluation criterion of the Group’s real estate portfolio, in particular for the properties used in business (ruled by
IAS16 "Property, plant and equipment") providing for the transition from the cost model to the revaluation model
for the measurement subsequent to initial recognition while for the properties held for investment (ruled by IAS40
"Investment property") providing for the transition from the cost model to the fair value model.

The Group has considered that the possibility of measuring real estate assets at current values (and no longer at
cost) allows, in line with the provisions of IAS8 concerning changes in accounting principles, to provide reliable
and more relevant information on the effects of business management as well as the Group's financial position
and economic result.

As at 31 December 2021 fair value of both properties held for investment and properties used in business was re-
determined through external appraisals.

The update of appraisals has led to an overall positive balance sheet effect of Euro 138 million gross of tax: (i)
for real estate assets used in business, the recognition of an increase in the specific valuation reserve for an amount
of Euro 157 million gross of tax effect. In addition to this increase, net losses for Euro 35 million were recognized
in the income statement gross of the tax effect; and (ii) for real estate assets held for investment, the recognition
of an income statement result equal to Euro 16 million gross of the tax effect.

The valuation of properties at current values implies a possible risk of volatility as well as an increase of the
so-called real estate risk. By reference to the real estate units held as at 31 December 2021 and their corresponding
market value overall equal to Euro 5,955 million, it has been estimated a sensitivity to the increase/decrease in
real estate values of +/-1 per cent. equal to approximately Euro 60 million corresponding to approximately +/-2
basis point of CET1 ratio.

The measurement of inventories of property, plant and equipment, to the lower between cost and net realizable
value, has determined the recognition of a net write-down for Euro 16 million.

For further information, please see the consolidated financial statements of UniCredit as at 31 December 2021,
Part B — Consolidated balance sheet — Assets — Section 9 — Property, plant and equipment — Item 90.

32



Risk Factors

Furthermore, the UniCredit Group has outstanding a significant amount of loans to individuals secured by
residential property. Should property prices, which represents most of the collateral securing UniCredit’s loans,
fall, the value of the collateral securing such loans would decline.

1.2.3  Risks connected with the UniCredit Group's activities in different geographical areas

The UniCredit Group operates in different countries and, therefore, the UniCredit Group's activities are affected
by the macroeconomic context of the markets in which it operates. Italy accounted for 46 per cent. of the UniCredit
Group's total revenue during 2021 and is the Group's primary market. The UniCredit Group operates and has a
significant presence also in in Germany (Which accounted for 25 per cent. of UniCredit’s total revenues in 2021),
as well as in Central Europe (17 per cent. including Austria, Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovenia) and in
Eastern Europe countries (Russia, Croatia, Bulgaria, Romania, Bosnia and Serbia representing 13 per cent. of
UniCredit’s total revenues in 2021). A deterioration in the macroeconomic conditions in Western Europe, also
considering the potential impact of the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, an increase in the volatility
of their capital markets, a significant increase in the cost of funding, the end of the current period of ready
availability of liquidity in the respective markets or an increase in political instability could create a difficult
operating environment and have a negative impact on UniCredit’s profitability, as well as UniCredit’s assets and
operations, balance sheet and/or income statement.

The Group's business is closely connected to the Italian economy and could, therefore, be negatively impacted by
any changes in the macroeconomic environment considering the recent geopolitical developments, energy crisis,
and inflation increase.

The UniCredit Group operates and has a significant presence also in in Germany (which accounted for 25 per
cent. of UniCredit’s total revenues in 2021), as well as in Central Europe (17 per cent. including Austria, Czech
Republic, Hungary and Slovenia) and in Eastern Europe countries (Russia, Croatia, Bulgaria, Romania, Bosnia
and Serbia, representing 13 per cent. of UniCredit’s total revenues in 2021). The risks and uncertainties to which
UniCredit is exposed are of a different nature and magnitude depending on the country, and whether or not the
country belongs to the European Union, which is one of the main factors taken into consideration when evaluating
these risks and uncertainties.

A deterioration in the macroeconomic conditions in Western Europe, an increase in the volatility of their capital
markets, a significant increase in the cost of funding, the end of the current period of ready availability of liquidity
in the respective markets or an increase in political instability could create a difficult operating environment and
have a negative impact on UniCredit’s profitability, as well as UniCredit’s assets and operations, balance sheet
and/or income statement.

CE & EE countries have also historically featured volatile capital and foreign exchange markets, as well as a
certain degree of political, economic and financial instability (which for certain countries might increase due to
spillover effects of the Russia-Ukraine conflict). In some cases, CE & EE countries have a less developed political,
financial and legal system, when compared to Western European countries. In countries where there is greater
political instability, there is the risk of political or economic events affecting the transferability and/or limiting the
operations of one or more of the UniCredit Group companies, as well as the risk that local governments could
implement nationalization policies or introduce similar restrictions or other measures, which could directly affect
Group companies and/or which could have negative consequences on UniCredit’s assets and operations, balance
sheet and/or income statement.

In addition, UniCredit’s geographic presence implies risks related to negative effects of Russia-Ukraine conflict.
In the extreme scenario, where the entirety of UniCredit’s maximum exposure is non-recoverable and zeroed,
UniCredit’s capital position would allow it to absorb such an impact while still having a solid capital position.
Whilst UniCredit does not consider this extreme scenario as base case, it is closely monitoring the developments
in the country, in full cooperation with regulators, and with dedicated cross expert teams which defined robust
and tested contingency plans, and it is taking a prudent and sustainable approach to distributions. UniCredit
continues to dynamically manage its risk exposure, whilst constantly assessing the potential impact of the conflict
on global GDP and public policies.

1.2.4  Market risks

The UniCredit Group is exposed to Market Risk. Market risk derives from the effect that changes in market
variables (interest rates, securities prices, exchange rates, etc.) can cause to the economic value of the Group's
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portfolio, including the assets held both in the Trading Book, as well as those posted in the Banking Book, both
on the operations characteristically involved in commercial banking and in the choice of strategic investments.
As at 31 December 2021 RWA (Risk-Weighted Assets) for Market Risk (excluding credit valuation adjustments -
CVA Risk) amounted to Euro 6.58 billion out of a total of Euro 322 billion of Total Group RWA. Total Market
Risk RWA (excluding CVA Risk) are split between the part calculated under the internal model (Euro 5.68 billion)
and the standardised approach (Euro 0.84 billion) and settlement risk (Euro 0.06 billion). In addition, starting
from December 2019 an additional capital requirement has been added, amounting to 336.74 million as of 31
December 2021.

Therefore it is not possible to exclude, considering the trend of the market variables, possible negative effects on
the activities and the economic, capital and/or financial situation of the Issuer and/or the Group.

Specifically, the Trading book is defined as all positions in financial instruments and commodities held either
with trading intent, or in order to hedge positions held with trading intent. Books held with trading intent are
composed of:

e positions arising from client servicing and market making;
e positions intended to be resold in the short term;

e positions intended to benefit from actual or expected short-term price differences between buying and
selling prices or from other price or interest rate variations.

In addition, Trading book may include internal or intra-group hedging derivatives transferring risk from Banking
book into Trading book, entitled to manage the relevant risk and having access to the derivatives market.

The essential requirement for the Regulatory Trading book assignment is a clear "trading intent" which the trader
has to commit to and has to confirm on an ongoing basis. Additionally, the so called "tradability", "marketability"
and "hedge-ability" requirements have to be assessed in order to evaluate the appropriateness for the Trading book
assignment. The financial instruments (an asset or a liability, cash or derivative) held by the Group are exposed
to changes over time driven by moves of market risk factors. The market risk factors are classified in the following

five standard market risk asset classes:

e  Credit risk: the risk that the value of the instrument decreases due to credit spreads changes, issuer
correlation and recovery rates;

e  Equity risk: the risk that the value of the instrument decreases due to increase/decrease of index/stock
prices, equity volatilities, implied correlation;

o Interest rate risk: the risk that the value of the instrument decreases due to interest rates changes, basis
risk, interest rates volatility;

o  Currency risk: the risk that the value of the instrument decreases due to foreign exchange rate changes,
foreign exchange rate volatility; and

e  Commodity risk: the risk that the value of the instrument decreases due to changes of the commodity
prices, for example gold, crude oil, commodity prices volatility.

Market risk in UniCredit group is measured and limited mainly through two sets of metrics: Broad Market Risk
measures and Granular Market Risk measures.

As at 31 December 2021 RWA (Risk-Weighted Assets) for Market Risk (excluding credit valuation adjustments,
CVA Risk) amounted to Euro 6.58 billion out of a total of Euro 322 billion of Total Group RWA. Total Market
Risk RWA (excluding CV A Risk) are split between the part calculated under the internal model (Euro 5.68 billion)
and the standardised approach (Euro 0.84 billion) and settlement risk (Euro 0.06 billion). In addition, starting from
December 2019 an additional capital requirement has been added, amounting to Euro 336.74 million as of 31
December 2021.

1.2.5  Interest rate fluctuation and exchange rate risk
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The interest rate banking book, earnings and economic value are exposed to: changes in interest rates that may
have a major negative impact in the value of the assets and liabilities held by the Group, changes in the
behavioural models, changes in the basis of Interest rate curves tenors and changes of the Interest rate volatilities.

The UniCredit Group implements also a hedging policy of risks related to the fluctuation of interest rates. Such
hedges are based on estimates of behavioural models and interest rate scenarios which could have an impact on
the activity, operating results and capital and financial position of the Group.

The Market Risk impact on the Group is low, in coherence with the mission of the Group and it is tracked by an
ad hoc Key Performance Indicator (KPI) on the Ratio between Market Risk-Weighted Assets (RWA) and Overall
RWA.

For further information, please see the consolidated financial statements of UniCredit as at 31 December 2021,
Part E — Information on risks and hedging policies, incorporated by reference herein.

1.2.6  Operational risk

The UniCredit Group is exposed to operational risk, namely the risk of suffering losses due to errors, violations,
interruptions, damages caused by internal processes, personnel, strikes, systems (including IT systems on which
the UniCredit Group depends to a great extent) or caused by external, unforeseen events, entirely or partly out of
the control of the UniCredit Group (including, for example, fraud, deception or losses resulting from the disloyalty
of employees and/or from the violation of control procedures, IT virus/cyber attacks or the malfunction of
electronic and/or communication services, possible terrorist attacks). The realisation of one or more of these risks
could have significant negative effects on the activity, operating results and capital and financial position of the
Issuer and/or the Group.

The complexity and geographical distribution of the UniCredit Group's activities requires a capacity to carry out
a large number of transactions efficiently and accurately, in compliance with the various different regulations
applicable.

Operational risk also includes legal risk and compliance risk, but not strategic risk and reputational risk. The main
sources of operational risk statistically include the instability of operating processes, poor IT security, excessive
concentration of the number of suppliers, changes in strategy, fraud, errors, recruitment, staff training and loyalty
and, lastly, social and environmental impacts. It is not possible to identify one consistent predominant source of
operating risk.

The UniCredit Group has a framework for managing operational risks, comprising a collection of policies and
procedures for controlling, measuring and mitigating Group operational risks. These measures could prove to be
inadequate to deal with all the types of risk that could occur and one or more of these risks could occur in the
future as a result of unforeseen events, entirely or partly out of UniCredit’s control (including, for example,
non-compliance of suppliers with their contractual obligations, fraud, deception or losses resulting from the
disloyalty of employees and/or from the violation of control procedures, IT virus attacks or the malfunction of
electronic and/or communication services, possible terrorist attacks). The realization of one or more of these risks
could have material adverse effects on UniCredit’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Referring to operational risks’ effects arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, analysis were carried out in order to
identify risks arising from process changes adopted time by time to protect the health of employees and customers.

With reference to the operational risks identified, the effectiveness of the risk mitigation measures was then
assessed also through a comparative analysis between different Group Legal Entities. In addition, specific second-
level controls were activated to oversee those areas that were subject to the most significant changes: the outcome
of these checks did not highlight any significant criticality. A specific monitoring of operational incidents linked,
even indirectly, to the entire COVID-19 pandemic has been created in order to promptly intercept potential process
criticalities or inappropriate behaviors.

Moreover, in the context of its operation, the UniCredit Group outsources the execution of certain services to third
companies, regarding, inter alia, banking and financial activities, and supervises outsourced activities according
to policies and regulations adopted by the Group. The failure by the outsourcers to comply with the minimum
level of service as determined in the relevant agreements might cause adverse effects for the operation of the
Group.
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The UniCredit Group has always invested a lot of efforts and resources in upgrading its IT systems and improving
its defence and monitoring systems. Based also on the Strategic Plan 2022-2024, digitalisation is at the heart of
the Bank’s strategy and its ultimate ambition is to be a truly digital bank. Operational risk remains a significant
focus for the Group, with reinforced controls of business and governance process across all legal entities and with
a permanent optimisation of work process. However, possible risks remain with regards to the reliability of the
system, the quality, integrity and confidentiality of the data managed, increasing digital exposure and the
continuously evolving threats landscape to which IT systems are subject, as well as physiological risks related to
the management of software changes (change management), which could have negative effects on the operations
of the UniCredit Group, as well as on the capital and financial position of the Issuer and/or the Group.

Some of the more serious risks relating to the management of IT systems that the UniCredit Group has to deal
with are possible violations of its systems due to unauthorised access to its corporate network, or IT resources,
the introduction of viruses into computers or any other form of abuse committed via digital channel. Similar
attempts have become more frequent over the years throughout the world and therefore can threaten the protection
of information relating to the Group and its customers and can have negative effects on the integrity of the Group's
IT systems, as well as on the confidence of its customers and on the actual reputation of the Group, with possible
negative effects on the capital and financial position of the Issuer and/or the Group.

UniCredit Group is subject to the regulations governing the protection, collection and processing of personal data
in the jurisdictions in which it operates. While the Group maintains internal procedures that are compliant with
applicable regulation, it remains exposed to the risk that the data could be damaged or lost, or removed, disclosed
or processed (data breach) for purposes other than those authorized by the customer, including by unauthorized
parties (such as third parties or Group employees) or with insufficient lawful basis (e.g. Standard Contractual
Clauses to be signed in case of transfer of personal data outside EEA as per European Court of Justice decision of
July 2020). Examples of data processed for purposes other than those for which they were collected or by
unauthorised parties may be: the viewing of data by employees outside their work duties or for clients of other
branches/portfolios of other managers; the employee of a supplier, appointed as Data Processor, processing the
data with procedures/methods or for purposes other than those stated in the Data Processing Agreement.

With reference to the insufficient lawful basis, the European Court of Justice, in the aforementioned decision,
confirmed the validity of Standard Contract Clauses as an instrument of transfer/lawful basis, but added the
responsibility, on the "exporter" of the personal data, to assess whether the country of destination of the data offers
a level of protection of the rights and freedoms of the data subject equivalent to the one guaranteed in Europe, by
Regulation (EU) 2016/679. Moreover, the European Data Protection Board has stated, in documents released after
the decision, that even simple access to the data (i.e. by an employee of the third company engaged for IT platform
maintenance activities) may constitute a transfer of personal data. Thus, the potential risk is that personal data
may be processed by third parties, appointed as Data Processor, from countries outside the European Economic
Area without the presence of Standard Contract Clauses and/or without an adequate assessment by the data
controller of the privacy rules in the destination country.

Over the past few years, has been subject to cyber-attacks which led, even though only in a few limited cases, to
the theft of personal data. In this regard, taking into account the type of risks detected, UniCredit, in addition to
strengthening the protection measures already in place, carried out a wide and in-depth assessment of the effects
that may derive also for financial statements purposes.

In this regard it should be noted that on 5 February 2020, the Italian Personal Data Protection Authority notified
UniCredit S.p.A. of the start of sanctioning proceedings regarding a violation of customers' personal data
following a Cyber-attack (data breach) occurred in October 2018, communicated through its Group website on 22
October 2018. It is currently not possible to define the timeline and outcome of the proceedings.

In addition, the investment made by the UniCredit Group in software development further increases the risk that
when one or more of the above-mentioned circumstances occurs, the Group may suffer financial losses if the
software is destroyed or seriously damaged, or will incur repair costs for the violated IT systems, as well as being
exposed to regulatory sanctions.

Starting from 2018, the UniCredit Group has subscribed a Cyber Insurance Policy with European Insurance
Companies with adequate rating and with reasonably high limits, to cover damages, in compliance with the current
local legislation, caused by Data Breach and other cyber-attacks on the IT systems, except for compensation for
sanctions where national law does not allow it.
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1.2.7  Risks connected with legal proceedings

1.2.7.1 Risks connected with legal proceedings in progress

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, UniCredit S.p.A. and other UniCredit Group companies are named as
defendants in several legal proceedings. In particular, as at 31 December 2021, UniCredit and other UniCredit
Group companies were named as defendants in about 55,900 legal proceedings of which approximately 8,500
involving UniCredit (excluding labour law cases, tax cases and credit recovery actions in which counterclaims
were asserted or objections raised with regard to the credit claims of Group companies). Moreover, from time
to time, past and present directors, officers and employees may be involved in civil and/or criminal proceedings,
the details of which the UniCredit Group may not lawfully know about or communicate.

Risk arising from legal pending proceedings consists in the possibility for UniCredit to bear claims for damages
in case of unfavourable outcome of such proceedings.

In many of these cases, there is substantial uncertainty regarding the outcomes of the proceedings and the amount
of possible losses. These cases include criminal proceedings, administrative proceedings brought by supervisory
or prosecution authorities and/or claims in which the claimed damages and/or potential liabilities of the Group is
not and cannot be determined, either because of how the claims is presented and/or because of the nature of the
legal proceeding. In such cases, until the time when it will be possible to estimate reliably the potential outcome,
no provisions are made. Instead, where it is possible to estimate reliably the amount of possible losses and loss is
considered likely, provisions have been made in the financial statements to the extent the parent company
UniCredit S.p.A., or any of the Group companies involved, deemed appropriate based on the circumstances and
in accordance with TAS.

To provide for possible liabilities and costs that may result from pending legal proceedings (excluding labour law
and tax cases), as of 31 December 2021, the UniCredit Group set aside a provision for risks and charges of Euro
688.4 million, of which Euro 428.1 million for the parent company UniCredit S.p.A. As of 31 December 2021,
the total amount of claimed damages relating to judicial proceedings other than labour, tax and debt collections
proceedings was Euro 9.8 billion, of which approximately Euro 6.4 billion for the proceedings involving the parent
company UniCredit S.p.A.. This figure is affected by both the heterogeneous nature of the pending proceedings
and the number of involved jurisdictions and their corresponding characteristics in which UniCredit Group
companies are named as defendants.

It is also necessary for the Group to comply in the most appropriate way with the various legal and regulatory
requirements in relation to the different aspects of the activity such as the rules on the subject of conflict of interest,
ethical questions, anti-money laundering, EU, US and international sanctions, customers' assets, rules governing
competition, privacy and security of information and other regulations.

For further information in relation to the single legal and arbitration proceedings please see Section headed “Legal
and Arbitration proceedings” in the “Description of UniCredit and the UniCredit Group” of this Base Prospectus.

1.2.7.2 Risks arising from tax disputes

At the date of this Base Prospectus, there are various tax-related proceedings pending with regard to UniCredit
and other companies belonging to the UniCredit Group, as well as tax inspections by the competent authorities
in the various countries in which the Group operates. In consideration of the uncertainty that defines the tax
proceedings in which the Group is involved, there is the risk that an unfavourable outcome and/or the emergence
of new proceedings could lead to an increase in risks of a tax nature for UniCredit and/or for the Group, with the
consequent need to make further provisions and/or outlays, with possible negative effects on the operating results
and capital and/or financial position of UniCredit and/or the Group.

As of 31 December 2020, the total amount of provisions for tax risks related to legal proceedings, inspections,
and tax credits amounted to Euro 180.8 million, of which Euro 6.4 million for legal expenses. As of 31 December
2021, the total amount of provisions amounted to Euro 182.45 million, of which Euro 2.92 million for legal
expenses.

As far as the tax inspections and tax disputes are concerned, in relation to 31 December 2021, reference is made
to Section headed “Legal and arbitration proceedings” of this Base Prospectus.
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Finally, it should be pointed out that in the event of a failure to comply with or a presumed breach of the tax law
in force in the various countries, the UniCredit Group could see its tax-related risks increase, potentially resulting
in an increase in tax disputes and possible reputational damage.

For further information in relation to the tax proceedings please see Section headed “Legal and arbitration
proceedings” in the “Description of UniCredit and the UniCredit Group” of this Base Prospectus.

1.3 Risks connected with the legal and regulatory framework

1.3.1 Basel IIl and Bank Capital Adequacy

The Issuer shall comply with the revised global regulatory standards (Basel IIl) on bank capital adequacy and
liquidity, which impose requirements for, inter alia, higher and better-quality capital, better risk coverage,
measures to promote the build-up of capital that can be drawn down in periods of stress and the introduction of
a leverage ratio as a backstop to the risk-based requirement as well as two global liquidity standards. In terms of
banking prudential regulations, the Issuer is also subject to the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive
2014/59/EU of 15 May 2014 (BRRD), implemented in Italy with the Legislative Decree. 180 and 181 of 16
November 2015 as amended by Directive (EU) 2019/879, the “BRRD II"” (implemented in Italy by Legislative
Decree No. 193 of 8§ November, 2021) on the recovery and resolution of credit institutions, as well as the relevant
technical standards and guidelines from EU regulatory bodies (i.e. the European Banking Authority (EBA)),
which, inter alia, provide for capital/Minimum Requirement for Own Funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL)
requirements for credit institutions, recovery and resolution mechanisms.

Should UniCredit not be able to meet the capital/MREL requirements imposed by the applicable laws and
regulations, it may be required to maintain higher levels of capital which could potentially impact its credit
ratings, and funding conditions and which could limit UniCredit's growth opportunities.

Having regard to the assessments made in relation to the probability of the occurrence of such risk and the extent
of any negative impact, the Issuer evaluates that the materiality of such risk shall be medium-high.

The Basel III framework has been implemented in the EU through new banking requirements: Directive
2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit
institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms (the CRD IV Directive) and
the Regulation 2013/575/EU (the CRR, together with the CRD IV Directive, the CRD IV Package) subsequently
updated in the Regulation No. 876/2019 and Directive (EU) No. 2019/878 (the Banking Reform Package with
CRR II and CRD V). In addition to the capital requirements under CRD IV, the BRRD introduces requirements
for banks to maintain at all times a sufficient aggregate amount of own funds and eligible liabilities (the Minimum
Requirement for Own Funds and Eligible Liabilities, MREL). The Issuer has to meet MREL requirements on
a consolidated basis, as well as the total loss absorbing capacity requirement for globally systemically important
institutions (TLAC), as established by the CRRII. The MREL and TLAC requirements involve similar risks. They
constrain the structure of liabilities and require the use of subordinated debt, which have an impact on cost and
potentially on the Issuer’s financing capacity.

From 1 January 2022, the Issuer shall comply, on a consolidated basis, with an intermediate MREL equal to the
20.73 per cent. of Risk Weighted Assets (RWA), plus the applicable Combined Buffer Requirement (CBR) and
5.90 per cent. of leverage ratio exposures (LRE). Similarly, the Issuer has to comply with a subordinated MREL,
i.e. to be met with subordinated instruments, equal to 11.79 per cent. RWA — plus the applicable CBR — and 5.68
per cent. LRE. From 1 January 2024, the consolidated MREL will become "fully loaded" and will be equal to
21.83 per cent. of RWA — plus the applicable CBR — and 5.90!' per cent. of LRE. The fully loaded MREL
subordinated component will be equal to 15.53 per cent. of RWA plus applicable CBR and 5.77'" per cent. of
LRE. Moreover, the Issuer shall comply with a TLAC requirement from 1 January 2022 equal to the maximum
between 18 per cent. of RWA — plus the applicable CBR — and 6.75 per cent. of Total Exposure Measure. For
more information on the capital adequacy legislation applicable to the Issuer, please see Section headed
“Information about the Issuer”, paragraph 1.1.4 (The domicile and legal form of the Issuer, the legislation under
which the Issuer operates, its country of incorporation, the address, telephone number of its registered office (or
principal place of business if different from its registered office) and website of the Issuer) of this Base Prospectus.

! LRE requirement defined and communicated by SRB in line with "SRB approach to CRR discretion on leverage and MREL calibration"
published on 22 December 2021 and 7 March 2022.
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Article 513 of the CRR requires the European Commission to complete a review of the macroprudential provisions
in the CRR and CRD by June 2022 and, if appropriate, to submit a legislative proposal to the European Parliament
and to the Council by December 2022. At the time of this Base Prospectus, no specific change of the regulatory
reclassification of capital instruments is currently deemed reasonably foreseeable.

Capital Adequacy requirements

The ECB is required under the Council Regulation (EU) No. 1024/2013 (the SSM Regulation establishing the
Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM)) to carry out a Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) at
least on an annual basis. The key purpose of the SREP is to ensure that institutions have adequate arrangements
as well as capital and liquidity to ensure sound management and coverage of the risks to which they are or might
be exposed, including those revealed by stress testing, as well as risks the institution may pose to the financial
system.

In February 2022, UniCredit has been informed by the ECB of its final decision concerning capital requirements
following the results of its annual SREP. With its decision the Single Supervisor left unchanged, compared to the
SREP decision of 20192, the Pillar 2 capital requirement at 175 basis points (to be held in the form of 56.25 per
cent. of CET1 capital and 75 per cent. of Tier 1 capital, as a minimum), applicable from 1 March 2022. As a
consequence, UniCredit has been required to meet the following overall capital requirements on a consolidated
basis from 1 March 2022 '3 (unchanged with respect to the ones applicable as of 31 December 2021):

e  Common Equity Tier 1 ratio: 9.03 per cent.;
e Tier 1 ratio: 10.86 per cent.; and

e Total Capital ratio: 13.30 per cent.

Furthermore, the SREP 2021 letter includes qualitative measures regarding the management of non-performing
loans. Following the ECB's request to banks in countries with relatively high levels of non-performing loans, the
Issuer has been requested to:

1. provide the ECB, by 31 March 2022 with an update of the three-year strategic and operational plan for
the management of NPEs, including clear quantitative targets aimed at reducing the high level of NPEs;

il. provide the ECB, by 31 August 2022, and based on data as at 30 June 2022, with information on the
status of implementation of the strategic and operational plan for the management of NPEs; and

1il. provide the ECB, by 28 February 2023, and based on data as at 31 December 2022, with information on
the status of implementation of the strategic and operational plan for the management of NPEs.

The Pillar 2 requirement (P2R) shall be held in the form of 56.25 per cent. of CET1 capital and 75 per cent. of
Tier 1 capital, as a minimum. UniCredit is allowed to partially use Additional Tier 1 or Tier 2 instruments in order
to comply with the Pillar 2 Requirements (P2R) instead of Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital, in line with
the latest revision of the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD V).

As of 31 March 2022, the consolidated CET1 Capital, Tier 1 and Total Capital Transitional ratios were equal to,
respectively, 14.62 per cent., 16.47 per cent. and 18.99 per cent. Therefore, CET1 Transitional ratio was exceeding
the relevant requirement by 559 bps (so called MDA buffer).

12 In light of the COVID-19 situation, in 2020 the ECB did not issue a formal SREP decision: on 12 May 2020, ECB Banking Supervision
announced it had adjusted its SREP approach for 2020 in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. The EBA also published on 23 July Guidelines
for competent authorities for the special procedure for the SREP 2020, identifying how flexibility and pragmatism could be exercised in
relation to the SREP framework in the context of the pandemic. The 2020 SREP cycle focused on the ability of the supervised entities to
handle the challenges of the COVID-19 crisis and its impact on their current and prospective risk profile.

The ECB in fact announced that only in exceptional cases it would have updated the banks’ current requirements and that it would not issue
SREP decisions for the 2020 SREP cycle. The 2019 SREP decisions therefore would not be superseded or amended and would remain in force
(as amended by the March 2020 ECB Decisions changing the P2R compositions). An operational letter from the ECB on 24 November 2020
confirmed this approach for UniCredit and the ECB did not make a formal 2020 SREP decision.

After adjusting its SREP approach for 2020, the ECB Banking Supervision returned to its regular SREP methodology for 2021.

13 Assuming the Countercyclical Capital Buffer equal to the March 2021 value. The Countercyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) depends on the
credit exposures of UniCredit to countries where countercyclical capital ratios have been or will be set and on the respective requirements set
by the relevant national authorities, and may therefore vary on a quarterly basis over the reporting period.
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From 30 June 2020 the Group has adopted the so-called transitional phase-in regarding the application of the
IFRS9 accounting principle. As of 31 March 2022, the CET1 ratio Fully Loaded, i.e. calculated without
considering the benefit arising from IFRS 9 Transitional arrangements, was equal to 14.00 per cent. exceeding by
497 bps CET1 ratio requirements.

As of 31 March 2022, the Transitional Leverage Ratio was 5.19 per cent.

UniCredit is participating in the 2022 stress test conducted by the ECB on “Climate Risk”, launched on 27 January
2022. Such test is a learning exercise for banks and supervisors alike; aiming to identify vulnerabilities, best
practices and challenges banks face when managing climate-related risk. Importantly, this is not a pass or fail
exercise, nor does it have direct implications for banks’ capital levels. The outcome will feed into the Supervisory
Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) from a qualitative point of view: this means that this stress test could
indirectly impact Pillar 2 requirements through the SREP scores but will not directly impact capital through Pillar
2 guidance (P2G). No individual results will be published by the ECB; instead, only aggregate results will be
published and are expected in July 2022.

UniCredit was also subject to the 2021 EU-wide stress test conducted by the European Banking Authority (EBA),
in cooperation with the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), the European Central Bank (ECB) and the
European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB). The 2021 EU-wide stress test did not contain a pass/fail threshold as it
is instead designed to be used as an important source of information for the purposes of the SREP. The results
assist Competent Authorities in assessing UniCredit's ability to meet applicable prudential requirements under
stressed scenarios. The results for the single banks were published on 30 July 2021 and the outcome has been
considered in the SREP 2021. UniCredit's results are summarized below:

e Baseline scenario:

o 2023 fully loaded CET1 ratio at 15.66 per cent. corresponding to 52 bps higher than fully loaded
CET]1 ratio as of December 2020; and

o 2023 transitional CET1 ratio at 15.80 per cent. corresponding to 16 bps lower than transitional
CET]1 ratio as of December 2020

e  Adverse scenario:

o 2023 fully loaded CET]1 ratio at 9.22 per cent. corresponding to 592 bps lower than fully loaded
CET1r as of December 2020; and

o 2023 transitional CET1 ratio at 9.59 per cent., corresponding to 637 bps lower than transitional
CET!1 ratio as of December 2020.

Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of 2021, EBA performed the annual EU-wide transparency exercise to
provide updated information as of September 2020, December 2020, March 2021 and June 2021 on banks'
exposures and asset quality to financial operators; EBA published the results on 3 December 2021.

UniCredit, on 9 December 2021, presenting its 2022-2024 Strategic Plan “UniCredit Unlocked”, announced the
aim to ensure a materially increased and growing remuneration in favour of the Shareholders over the course of
the Plan, also by means of programmes for the purchase of ordinary shares of UniCredit.

As part of the activities envisaged in this announcement, the Shareholders Meeting called on 8 April 2022, for the
financial year ended on 31 December 2021, substantially in line with “UniCredit Unlocked”, has approved a
distribution of approximately Euro 3.75 billion, composed of:

e a cash dividend Euro 0.5380 for each share outstanding and entitled to dividend at payment date, for a
maximum amount of Euro 1.170 billion from the allocation of profit for the year 2021, corresponding to
approximately 30 per cent. of the so-called “underlying consolidated net profit” (i.e. Net Profit adjusted
for non-operating items); and
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e purchases of UniCredit ordinary shares corresponding to a maximum total expenditure up to ca. Euro
2.580 billion and, in any case, not exceeding no. 215 million of UniCredit ordinary shares equal to 9.87
per cent. of the share capital of UniCredit at 9 March 2022, to be carried out, in one or more transactions,
within the earliest of: (i) the date which will fall after 18 (eighteen) months from the date of the
authorisation of the Shareholders’ Meeting; and (ii) the date of the shareholders’ meeting which will be
called to approve the financial statements for the year ending on 31 December 2022, respectively
pursuant to Article 2357 of the Italian Civil Code and Article 132 of Legislative Decree 58/1998 (Italian
Consolidated Financial Act) and the relevant implementing regulations, and Article 2357-ter of the
Italian Civil Code. The ordinary shares thus purchased will be subsequently subject to cancellation.

Without prejudice to the above, UniCredit has specified that any purchase made under the Shareholders Meeting
authorisation will be made in compliance with the purposes set out in the laws and regulations in force and
applicable from time to time and with any indications given by the relevant Supervisory Authorities. The execution
of the share buy-back programme will also be assessed taking a prudent and sustainable approach to distributions.
In particular, the abovementioned execution will be subject to UniCredit’s CET1 ratio proforma 2021 remaining
above 13.0 per cent.; it is hereby therefore specified that the share buy-back programme that is the subject of this
request for authorisation may not be executed or may be only partially executed. In this respect, the first tranche
of the share buy-back, for an amount of Euro 1.6 billion, has received supervisory approval and it has been already
commenced. The remaining amount of Euro 1 billion of share buy-back is subject to Russia performance and
Supervisory approval.

1.3.2  Evolution of banking prudential regulation

The Group and the Issuer operate in a stringent and detailed regulatory context and are subject to the supervision
by the competent supervisory authorities (i.e. ECB, Bank of Italy, CONSOB). Either the regulatory framework
and the supervision activity are subject to ongoing changes in the law and ongoing developments respectively.
Moreover, being a listed issuer, the Issuer shall comply with all the further provisions enacted by CONSOB.
Together with all these laws and regulations, the Issuer shall also comply with, by way of example but not limited
to, anti-money laundering, usury and consumer protections legislations.

Notwithstanding the Issuer undertakes to comply with all the applicable statutory provisions, the risk of non-
compliance with different legal and regulatory requirements, could lead to additional legal risk and financial
losses, as a result of regulatory fines or reprimands, litigations, or reputational damage, and in extreme scenarios,
to the suspension of operations or even withdrawal of authorization to pursue business.

The banking and financial regulatory framework to which the Group is subject is extremely stringent and detailed.
The Issuer is also subject to the supervision by the competent supervisory authorities, including ECB, Bank of
Italy and CONSOB.

Failure to observe any of the legal and regulatory provisions currently in force or any changes relating to the
interpretation of the applicable legislation by the competent authorities could negatively impact the operating
results and capital and financial position of UniCredit.

For more information on legislation applicable to the Issuer, please see section headed “Information about the
Issuer”, paragraph 1.1.4 (The domicile and legal form of the Issuer, the legislation under which the Issuer
operates, its country of incorporation, the address, telephone number of its registered office (or principal place
of business if different from its registered office) and website of the Issuer) of this Base Prospectus.

1.3.3  Risks connected with ordinary and extraordinary contributions to funds established under the scope of
the banking crisis rules

The Issuer and the Group shall comply with the contribution obligations required by the bank resolution
legislation. Should the amount of ordinary contributions requested to Group companies increase, the Group's
profitability would decrease and the level of capital resources of the Issuer and the Group would be negatively
affected; should extraordinary contributions be requested to the Group, this could have a negative impact, even
significant, on financial position and economic results of the Group.

Following the crisis that affected many financial institutions from 2008, various risk-reducing measures have been
introduced, both at European level and at individual Member State level. Their implementation involves
significant outlays by individual financial institutions in support of the banking system.
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The ordinary contribution obligations contribute to reducing profitability and have a negative impact on the
Group's capital resources. It is not possible to rule out that the level of ordinary contributions required from the
Group banks will increase in the future in relation to the development of the amount related to protected deposits
and/or the risk relating to Group banks compared with the total number of banks committed to paying said
contributions.

In addition, it is not possible to rule out that, even in future, as a result of events that cannot be controlled or
predetermined, the Deposit Guarantee Scheme (DGS), the Single Resolution Fund (SRF), the National Resolution
Fund (NRF) and/or the Fondo Interbancario di tutela dei depositi (FITD), do not find themselves in a situation of
having to ask for more, new extraordinary contributions. This would involve the need to record further
extraordinary expenses with impacts, including significant ones, on the capital and financial position of UniCredit.

For further information in relation to the above-mentioned ordinary and extraordinary contributions, please see
the Issuer's audited consolidated annual financial report at 31 December 2021, incorporated by reference herein.

1.3.4  Risks connected with the entry into force of new accounting principles and changes to applicable
accounting principles

The UniCredit Group is exposed, like other companies operating in the banking sector, to the effects of the entry
into force and subsequent application of new accounting principles or standards and regulations and/or changes
to them (including those resulting from IFRS as endorsed and adopted into European law). In particular, in the
future, the UniCredit Group may need to revise the accounting and regulatory treatment of some existing assets
and liabilities and transactions (and related income and expense), with possible negative effects, including
significant ones, on the estimates made in financial plans for future years and this could lead to restatements of
financial data previously published.

In 2021 the following standards, amendments or interpretations came into force:

e Amendments to IFRS9, IAS39, IFRS7, IFRS4 and IFRS16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
(EU Regulation 2021/25);

e Amendments to IFRS4 Insurance Contracts - deferral of IFRS9 (EU Regulation 2020/2097); and

e Amendments to IFRS16 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (EU
Regulation 2021/1421);

whose adoption has not determined substantial effects on the amounts recognised in balance sheet or income
statement.

As at 31 December 2021, the following documents have been endorsed by the European Commission:

* Amendments to IFRS3 Business Combinations; [AS16 Property, Plant and Equipment; TAS37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and Annual Improvements 2018-2020” (EU
Regulation 2021/1080) applicable to reporting starting from 1 January 2022; and

* IFRS17 Insurance Contracts; including Amendments to IFRS17 (EU Regulation 2021/2036) applicable
to reporting starting from 1 January 2023.

As at 31 December 2021 the IASB issued the following accounting standards whose application is subject to
completion of the endorsement process by the competent bodies of the European Commission, which is still
ongoing:

« Amendments to IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Deferral of Effective Date
(January 2020 and July 2020 respectively);

 Amendments to IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure
of Accounting policies (February 2021);

*  Amendments to [AS8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of
Accounting Estimates (February 2021);
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*  Amendments to IAS12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction (May 2021); and

*  Amendments to IFRS17 Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS17 and IFRS9 - Comparative
Information (December 2021).

As aresult, following the adoption of the new accounting principles, comparisons of UniCredit’s financial results
prior to such adoption may be difficult. Prospective investors are therefore cautioned against placing undue
reliance on such comparisons.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common
such features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and those which
might occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes:

1.1 Risks applicable to all Notes
If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the Notes
concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves

a similar effective return.

1.1.1  Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above
the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any redemption period.

At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective
interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a
significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem Notes for tax reasons in the circumstances described in, and in
accordance with, Condition 10.3 (Redemption for tax reasons) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or,
if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, in accordance with Condition 10.5 (Redemption at the option
of the Issuer (Issuer Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Also, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes in the circumstances described in, and in accordance with Condition 10.6 (Issuer
Call due to MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. See also
“Risks relating to Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes - Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior
Notes could be subject to an MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event redemption” below.

In addition, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may also, at its option, redeem
Subordinated Notes and the Additional Tier 1 Notes following a change of the regulatory classification of
the relevant Subordinated Notes or the Additional Tier 1 Notes, in the circumstances described in, and in
accordance with Condition 10.4 (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes. See also “Risks relating to Subordinated Notes - Regulatory classification of the
Notes” in respect of Subordinated Notes and “Risks relating to Additional Tier 1 Notes - Regulatory
classification of the Notes” in respect of Additional Tier 1 Notes below.

Any redemption of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes is subject to compliance by the Issuer
with any conditions to such redemption prescribed by the then applicable MREL or TLAC Requirements
(including any requirements applicable to such redemption due to the qualification of such Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes at such time as eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL or TLAC
Requirements). See “Risks relating to Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes - Early redemption and
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purchase of the Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be restricted” below for further
information.

Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes or Additional Tier 1 Notes is subject to the prior approval of the
relevant Competent Authority and in accordance with the then applicable Relevant Regulations. See also
“Risks relating to Subordinated Notes - Early redemption and purchase of the Subordinated Notes may be
restricted” in respect of Subordinated Notes and “Risks relating to Additional Tier 1 Notes - Early
redemption and purchase of the Additional Tier 1 Notes may be restricted” in respect of Additional Tier 1
Notes below for further information.

1.1.2  Ifthe Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice
versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating
rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion
of the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such Notes as the change
of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. Where the Notes convert from a fixed
rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then
prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new
floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating
rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the
market value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

1.1.3  Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in
response to changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium to
their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices
for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such securities,
the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable
maturities. The credit rating assigned to the Notes may be suspended, reduced or withdrawn.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension,
reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

1.2 Risks relating to Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes

1.2.1  An investor in Non-Preferred Senior Notes assumes an _enhanced risk of loss in the event of
insolvency of UniCredit

UniCredit’s obligations under Non-Preferred Senior Notes will be unsecured, unsubordinated and non-
preferred obligations of the Issuer and will rank junior in priority of payment to Senior Liabilities and claims
arising from the excluded liabilities within the meaning of Article 72a(2) of the CRR. Senior Liabilities
means any direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness or payment obligations (or
indebtedness or obligations which rank, or are expressed to rank by their terms, senior to the Non-Preferred
Senior Notes) of UniCredit for money borrowed or raised or guaranteed by UniCredit, as the case may be,
and any indebtedness or mandatory payment obligations preferred by the laws of the Republic of Italy.
Although Non-Preferred Senior Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Senior Notes which
are preferred, there is a real risk that an investor in Non-Preferred Senior Notes will lose all or some of his
investment should UniCredit become insolvent.

1.2.2  Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes have limited Events of Default and remedies

The Events of Default in respect of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes, being events upon which in
certain circumstances the Noteholders may declare the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes to be
immediately due and payable, are limited to circumstances in which the Issuer becomes subject to Liquidazione
Coatta Amministrativa, as defined in Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 of the Republic of Italy (as
amended from time to time) (the Banking Act) as set out in Condition 13.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes. Accordingly, other than following the occurrence of an Event of Default, even if the Issuer fails to meet
any of its obligations under the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, including the payment of any interest,
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the Noteholders will not have the right of acceleration of principal and the sole remedy available to Noteholders
for recovery of amounts owing in respect of any of the Notes will be the institution of proceedings to enforce such
payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings,
be obliged to pay any sum or sums sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

In the case of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes which are issued as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds, please also see Risk Factor "Notes issued, if any, as "Green Bonds", "Social Bonds" or
"Sustainability Bonds" may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green assets or
social assets or sustainable assets".

1.2.3  Early redemption and purchase of the Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be
restricted

Any early redemption or purchase of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes is subject to compliance by
the Issuer with any conditions to such redemption or repurchase prescribed by the then applicable Relevant
Regulations, including any requirements applicable to such redemption or repurchase due to the qualification of
such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes at such time as eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL
or TLAC Requirements.

In addition, under the Banking Reform Package, the early redemption or purchase of Senior Notes and Non-
Preferred Senior Notes which qualify as eligible liabilities available to meet MREL or TLAC Requirements is
subject to the prior approval of the Relevant Resolution Authority where applicable from time to time under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Banking Reform Package states that the Relevant Resolution Authority
would approve an early redemption of the Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes where any of the
following conditions is met:

. on or before such early redemption or purchase of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, the
Issuer replaces the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes with Own Funds instruments or eligible
liabilities of an equal or higher quality on terms that are sustainable for the income capacity of the Issuer;

. the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Resolution Authority that its Own Funds
and eligible liabilities would, following such redemption or purchase, exceed the requirements for Own
Funds and eligible liabilities set out in the CRD IV Directive or the BRRD (or, in either case, any relevant
provisions of Italian law implementing the CRD IV Directive or, as appropriate, the BRRD) or the CRD
IV Regulation by a margin that the Relevant Resolution Authority, in agreement with the Competent
Authority, considers necessary; or

. the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Relevant Resolution Authority that the partial or
full replacement of the eligible liabilities with Own Funds instruments is necessary to ensure compliance
with the Own Funds requirements laid down in the CRD IV Regulation and in the CRD IV Directive for
continuing authorisation.

In addition, the Issuer may elect not to exercise any option to redeem any Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes early or at any time. Holders of such Notes should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial
risks of an investment in such Notes for a period of time in excess of the minimum period.

1.2.4  Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes could be subject to an MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event redemption

If at any time a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing in relation to any Series of Senior
Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes and the applicable Final Terms for the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes of such Series specify that Issuer Call due to an MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event is applicable, the
Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes of such Series at their Early Redemption Amount together
with any outstanding interest. Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes may only be redeemed by the Issuer
provided that any conditions to such redemption prescribed by the MREL or TLAC Requirements at the relevant
time (including any requirements applicable to such redemption due to the qualification of such Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes at such time as eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL or TLAC
Requirements) have been complied with by the Issuer. A MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event means that, at
any time, all or part of the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of such Series of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred
Senior Notes is or will be excluded fully or partially from the eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL or
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TLAC Requirements, subject as set out in Condition 10.6 (Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC Disqualification
Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

If the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes are to be so redeemed, there can be no assurance that
Noteholders will be able to reinvest the amounts received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same
rate of return as their investment in the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes. In addition, the occurrence
of a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event could result in a decrease in the market price of the Notes. Also, if
at any time an MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event with regard to Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes
occurs then the Issuer may, as specified in the risk factor “Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be
subject to modification without Noteholder consent” below, at any time vary the terms of such Notes so that they
remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as
applicable.

1.2.5  Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be subject to modification without Noteholders'
consent

If (i) at any time a MREL or TLAC Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing in relation to any Series of
Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes or (ii) in order to ensure the effectiveness and enforceability of
Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes,
then the Issuer may, subject to giving any notice required to be given to, and receiving any consent required from,
the Competent Authority and/or as appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement for
the consent or approval of the holders of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes of that Series), vary the
terms of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying
Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable, provided that such variation does not itself
give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable, are securities issued by the
Issuer that, other than in respect of the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition
of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, have terms not materially less favourable
to the Noteholders (as reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the relevant Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable. However, no assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes
will negatively affect any particular Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such
varied notes could be different for some categories of Noteholders from the tax and stamp duty consequences for
them of holding the notes prior to such variation.

1.2.6  Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be subject to loss absorption on any application
of the general bail-in-tool

Investors should be aware that Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be subject to write-down or
conversion into equity capital instruments on any application of the general bail-in tool, which may result in such
holders losing some or all of their investment. The exercise of the general bail-in tool, or any other power under
the BRRD or any suggestion or perceived suggestion of such exercise could, therefore, materially adversely affect
the rights of holders Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes, the price or value of their investment in any
such Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under such Notes. Any shares issued to holders
of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes upon any such conversion into equity capital instruments may be
of little value at the time of conversion and may also be subject to any future application of the BRRD.

1.3 Risks relating to Subordinated Notes

1.3.1  An investor in Subordinated Notes assumes an enhanced risk of loss in the event of insolvency of
UniCredit

UniCredit’s obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior
in priority of payment to Senior Liabilities. Senior Liabilities means any direct, unconditional, unsecured
and unsubordinated indebtedness or payment obligations (or indebtedness or obligations which are
subordinated but to a lesser degree than the obligations under the relevant Subordinated Notes) of UniCredit
for money borrowed or raised or guaranteed by UniCredit, as the case may be, and any indebtedness or
mandatory payment obligations preferred by the laws of the Republic of Italy. Although Subordinated Notes
may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a real risk that
an investor in Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of his investment should UniCredit become insolvent.
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1.3.2  Subordinated Notes may be subject to loss absorption on any application of the general bail-in-tool or
at the point of non-viability of the Issuer or may be the subject to the burden sharing requirements of the
EU State aid framework and the BRRD

Investors should be aware that, in addition to the general bail-in tool, the BRRD provides for resolution authorities
to have the further power to write-down permanently/convert into equity capital instruments such as the
Subordinated Notes at the point of non-viability and before any other resolution action is taken, with losses
absorbed in accordance with the priority of claims under normal insolvency proceedings (Non-Viability Loss
Absorption). Any shares issued to holders of Subordinated Notes upon any such conversion into equity capital
instruments may also be subject to any future application of the BRRD.

Furthermore, the BRRD provides for a Member State as a last resort, after having assessed and applied the
resolution tools (including the general bail-in tool) to the maximum extent practicable whilst maintaining financial
stability, to be able to provide extraordinary public financial support through additional financial stabilisation
tools. These consist of the public equity support and temporary public ownership tools. Any such extraordinary
financial support must be provided in accordance with the burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid
framework and the BRRD. As an exemption from these principles, the BRRD allows for three kinds of
extraordinary public support to be provided to a solvent institution without triggering resolution: 1) a State
guarantee to back liquidity facilities provided by central banks according to the central banks’ conditions; 2) a
State guarantee of newly issued liabilities; or 3) an injection of own funds in the form of precautionary
recapitalisation. In the case of precautionary recapitalization EU state aid rules require that shareholders and junior
bond holders (such as holders of the Subordinated Notes) contribute to the costs of restructuring.

As a result, Subordinated Notes may be subject to a partial or full write-down or conversion to Common Equity
Tier 1 instruments of the Issuer or one of the UniCredit Group’s entities or another institution. Accordingly,
trading behaviour may also be affected by the threat that Non-Viability Loss Absorption (or the general bail-in
tool) may be applied to Subordinated Notes or the burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid framework and
the BRRD may be applied and, as a result, Subordinated Notes are not necessarily expected to follow the trading
behaviour associated with other types of securities. Noteholders should consider the risk that they may lose all of
their investment, including the principal amount plus any accrued interest if the Non-Viability Loss Absorption
(or the general bail-in tool) is applied to the Subordinated Notes or the burden sharing requirements of the EU
state aid framework and the BRRD are applied or that such Subordinated Notes may be converted into ordinary
shares which ordinary shares may be of little value at the time of conversion.

In addition, on 30 November 2021, Legislative Decree No. 193 of 8§ November 2021 (the 193 Decree)
implementing the BRRD II was published in the Gazzetta Ufficiale and entered into force on 1 December 2021.
The 193 Decree introduces point c-fer) under Article 91 paragraph 1-bis) of the Italian Banking Act transposing
Article 48(7) of the BRRD II. The amended Article 91 of the Italian Banking Act provides for the following
ranking:

. subordinated instruments which do not qualify (and no part thereof is recognized) as own funds items
(elementi di fondi propri) shall rank senior to own funds items (including any instruments only partly
recognized as own funds items (elementi di fondi propri)) and junior to senior non-preferred instruments
(strumenti di debito chirografario di secondo livello);,

. if instruments which qualified in whole or in part as own funds items (elementi di fondi propri) cease, in
their entirety, to be classified as such, they will rank senior to own fund items (elementi di fondi propri)
but junior to senior non-preferred instruments.

The provisions also apply to instruments issued before the 193 Decree came into effect (1 December 2021).

In light of the above, if Subordinated Notes of the Issuer (which qualify or qualified at any time either in whole
or in part as Own Funds items) were to be disqualified entirely as Own Funds items in the future, their ranking
would improve compared to Subordinated Notes which at the relevant time qualify as Own Funds items (in whole
or in part) and would rank pari passu with Additional Tier 1 Notes and Subordinated Notes which at the relevant
time are not qualified in whole or in part as Own Funds item. In the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the
Issuer, the Issuer would, inter alia, be required to pay subordinated creditors of the Issuer whose claims rank in
priority to the Subordinated Notes, including those whose claims arise from liabilities that no longer fully or
partially are recognized as an own funds instrument in full before it can make any payments on the Subordinated
Notes which, at the relevant time, qualify as Own Funds items (in whole or in part). Furthermore, if Subordinated
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Notes are fully disqualified as Own Funds items, such Notes would not be subject to a write-down or conversion
into common shares at the point of non-viability even though they would continue to be subject to bail-in, and, in
the event the Issuer were to receive extraordinary financial support in accordance with the EU state aid framework
and the BRRD, may be subject to the burden sharing requirements of such legislation.

1.3.3  Subordinated Notes have limited Events of Default and remedies

The Events of Default in respect of Subordinated Notes, being events upon which in certain circumstances the
Noteholders may declare the Subordinated Notes to be immediately due and payable, are limited to circumstances
in which the Issuer becomes subject to Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as defined in the Banking Act as set
out in Condition 13.2 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. Accordingly, other than following the occurrence
of an Event of Default, even if the Issuer fails to meet any of its obligations under the Subordinated Notes,
including the payment of any interest, the Noteholders will not have the right of acceleration of principal and the
sole remedy available to Noteholders for recovery of amounts owing in respect of any of the Notes will be the
institution of proceedings to enforce such payment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue
of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums sooner than the same would
otherwise have been payable by it.

In the case of Subordinated Notes which are issued as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds, please
also see Risk Factor "Notes issued, if any, as "Green Bonds", "Social Bonds" or "Sustainability Bonds" may not

be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green assets or social assets or sustainable assets".

1.3.4  Early redemption and purchase of the Subordinated Notes may be restricted

Any early redemption or purchase of Subordinated Notes is subject to compliance with the then applicable
Relevant Regulations, including for the avoidance of doubt:

(a) the Issuer giving notice to the Competent Authority and the Competent Authority granting prior
permission to redeem or purchase the relevant Subordinated Notes (in each case to the extent, and
in the manner, required by the then applicable Relevant Regulations, including Articles 77 and 78
of the CRD IV Regulation, as amended or replaced from time to time), where either:

@) on or before such redemption or purchase (as applicable), the Issuer having replaced the
Notes with own funds instruments of equal or higher quality at terms that are sustainable
for the income capacity of the Issuer; or

(i1))  the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that its Own Funds
and eligible liabilities would, following such repayment or purchase, exceed the minimum
requirements (including any capital buffer requirements) required under the Relevant
Regulations by a margin that the Competent Authority considers necessary at such time; and

(b) in respect of a call, redemption repayment or repurchase prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue
Date of the relevant Subordinated Notes, if and to the extent required under Article 78(4) of the
CRD IV Regulation or the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 241/2014 of 7 January
2014:

(i) in the case of redemption pursuant to Condition 8.2 (Redemption for tax reasons), the Issuer
having demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the change in the
applicable tax treatment of the Subordinated Notes is material and was not reasonably
foreseeable as at the Issue Date; or

(il))  incase of redemption pursuant to Condition 8.3 (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory
call)), a Regulatory Event having occurred in respect of Subordinated Notes; or

(iii)  on or before such redemption or repurchase (as applicable), the Issuer having replaced the Notes
with own funds instruments of equal or higher quality at terms that are sustainable for the income
capacity of the Issuer and the Competent Authority having permitted that action on the basis of
the determination that it would be classified from a prudential point of view and justified by
exceptional circumstances; or
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(iv)  the Notes being repurchased for market making purposes,

subject in any event to any alternative or additional conditions or requirements as may be applicable from
time to time under the Relevant Regulations for the time being.

There can be no assurance that the relevant Competent Authority will permit such redemption or purchase.
In addition, the Issuer may elect not to exercise any option to redeem any Subordinated Notes early or at any
time. Holders of Subordinated Notes should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of
an investment in such Notes for a period of time in excess of the minimum period.

1.3.5  Regulatory classification of the Notes

The intention of UniCredit is for Subordinated Notes to qualify on issue as "Tier 2 Capital" for regulatory
capital purposes.

Although it is UniCredit’s expectation that the Notes qualify on issue as "Tier 2 Capital", there can be no
representation that this is or will remain the case during the life of the Notes. If there is a change in the
regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes that would be likely to result in their exclusion from "Tier
2 Capital" and, in respect of any redemption of the relevant Subordinated Notes proposed to be made prior
to the fifth anniversary of their Issue Date, both of the following conditions are met: (i) the Competent
Authority (as defined in Condition 10.15 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) considers such a change
to be reasonably certain and (ii) UniCredit demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that
the change in the regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes was not reasonably foreseeable by
UniCredit as at the date of the issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes, UniCredit will (if so specified in the
applicable Final Terms) have the right to redeem the Subordinated Notes in accordance with Condition 10.4
(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, subject
to, inter alia, the prior approval of the relevant Competent Authority and in accordance with the then
applicable Relevant Regulations. There can be no assurance that holders of such Subordinated Notes will be
able to reinvest the amounts received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate of return as
their investments in the relevant Notes, as the case may be. In addition, the occurrence of such event could
result in a decrease in the market price of the Notes. Also, if at any time a Regulatory Event with regard to
Subordinated Notes occurs then the Issuer may, as specified in the risk factor “Subordinated Notes may be
subject to modification without Noteholder consent” below, at any time vary the terms of such Notes so that
they remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Subordinated Notes.

1.3.6  Subordinated Notes may be subject to modification without Noteholders' consent

If (i) at any time, a Regulatory Event occurs for any Series of Subordinated Notes, or (ii) in order to ensure
the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers)
of the Terms and Conditions for any Series of Subordinated Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to giving
any notice required to be given to, and receiving any consent required from, the Competent Authority and/or
as appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement for the consent or approval of
the holders of the Subordinated Notes of that Series), at any time vary the terms of Subordinated Notes so
that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying Subordinated Notes, as applicable, provided that
such variation does not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Subordinated Notes are securities issued by the Issuer that, other than in respect of the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes have terms not materially less favourable to the Noteholders (as
reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the relevant Subordinated Notes. However, no
assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes will negatively affect any particular Noteholder.
In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such varied notes could be different for some
categories of Noteholders from the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the notes prior to
such variation.
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1.4 Risks relating to Additional Tier 1 Notes

1.4.1  The Additional Tier 1 Notes are subordinated obligations of the Issuer

The Issuer’s obligations under the Additional Tier 1 Notes are unsecured and subordinated and will rank
subordinate and junior to all indebtedness of the Issuer, including unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer, the
Issuer’s obligations in respect of any dated subordinated instruments and any Tier 2 Capital or guarantee in respect
of any such instruments (other than any instrument or contractual right expressed to rank pari passu with the
Additional Tier 1 Notes), as more fully described in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”.

If any judgment is rendered by any competent court declaring the judicial liquidation of the Issuer or if the Issuer
is liquidated for any other reason, the rights of payment of the Noteholders shall rank senior to any payments to
holders of the Issuer’s shares, including its azioni privilegiate, ordinary shares and azioni di risparmio (or certain
securities or guarantees expressed to rank pari passu with the Issuer’s shares or otherwise junior to the Additional
Tier 1 Notes, as further described in Condition 5 (Status of the Additional Tier 1 Notes) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes). In the event of incomplete payment of unsubordinated creditors on liquidation, the
obligations of the Issuer in connection with the Additional Tier 1 Notes will be terminated (save as otherwise
provided under applicable law from time to time). Noteholders shall be responsible for taking all steps necessary
for the orderly accomplishment of any collective proceedings or voluntary liquidation in relation to any claims
they may have against the Issuer.

Although the Additional Tier 1 Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than notes which are not subordinated,
there is a substantial risk that investors in subordinated notes such as the Additional Tier 1 Notes will lose all or
some of their investment should the Issuer become insolvent.

1.4.2  The Additional Tier 1 Notes may be subject to write-down, cancellation or conversion upon the
occurrence of the exercise by the relevant resolution authority of the general bail-in tool or capital
instruments write-down _and_conversion powers, which powers are in addition to the terms of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes which provide for Write-Down on the occurrence of a Contingency Event, or
may be subject to the burden sharing requirements of the EU State aid framework and the BRRD

Noteholders should understand that the powers to convert, write-down or cancel the Additional Tier 1 Notes given
to resolution authorities pursuant to the rules and regulations described below are in addition to the terms of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes which provide for Write-Down upon the occurrence of a Contingency Event.

Investors should be aware that, in addition to the general bail-in tool, the BRRD provides for resolution authorities
to have the further power to write-down permanently/convert into equity capital instruments such as the Additional
Tier 1 Notes through the application of Non-Viability Loss Absorption. Any shares issued to holders of Additional
Tier 1 Notes upon any such conversion into equity capital instruments may also be subject to any future application
of the BRRD.

Furthermore, the BRRD provides for a Member State as a last resort, after having assessed and applied the
resolution tools (including the general bail-in tool) to the maximum extent practicable whilst maintaining financial
stability, to be able to provide extraordinary public financial support through additional financial stabilisation
tools. These consist of the public equity support and temporary public ownership tools. Any such extraordinary
financial support must be provided in accordance with the burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid
framework and the BRRD. As an exemption from these principles, the BRRD allows for three kinds of
extraordinary public support to be provided to a solvent institution without triggering resolution: 1) a State
guarantee to back liquidity facilities provided by central banks according to the central banks’ conditions; 2) a
State guarantee of newly issued liabilities; or 3) an injection of own funds in the form of precautionary
recapitalisation. In the case of precautionary recapitalization EU state aid rules require that shareholders and junior
bond holders (such as holders of the Additional Tier 1 Notes) contribute to the costs of restructuring.

As a result, the Additional Tier 1 Notes may be subject to a partial or full write-down or conversion to common
equity Tier 1 instruments of the Issuer or one of the UniCredit Group’s entities or another institution. Accordingly,
trading behaviour may also be affected by the threat that Non-Viability Loss Absorption (or the general bail-in
tool) may be applied to the Additional Tier 1 Notes or the burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid
framework and the BRRD may be applied and, as a result, the Additional Tier 1 Notes are not necessarily expected
to follow the trading behaviour associated with other types of securities. Noteholders should consider the risk that
they may lose all of their investment, including the principal amount plus any accrued interest if the Non-Viability
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Loss Absorption (or the general bail-in tool) is applied to the Additional Tier 1 Notes or the burden sharing
requirements of the EU state aid framework and the BRRD are applied or that such Additional Tier 1 Notes may
be converted into ordinary shares which ordinary shares may be of little value at the time of conversion.

For as long as the Additional Tier 1 Notes are in global form and in the event that any Write-Down or Write-Up
is required pursuant to the Conditions, the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other
clearing system of their respective participants’ position held in the Additional Tier 1 Notes may not be
immediately updated to reflect the amount of Write-Down or Write-Up and may continue to reflect the Prevailing
Principal Amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes prior to such Write-Down or Write-Up, for a period of time. The
update process of the relevant clearing system may only be completed after the date on which the Write-Down or
Write-Up will occur. No assurance can be given as to the period of time required by the relevant clearing system
to complete the update of their records. Further, the conveyance of notices and other communications by the
relevant clearing system to their respective participants, by those participants to their respective indirect
participants, and by the participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners of interests in the Additional
Tier 1 Notes in global form will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

In addition, on 30 November 2021, the 193 Decree implementing the BBRD II was published in the Gazzetta
Ufficiale and entered into force on 1 December 2021. The 193 Decree introduces point c-fer) under Article 91
paragraph 1-bis) of the Italian Banking Act transposing Article 48(7) of the BRRD II. The amended Article 91 of
the Italian Banking Act provides for the following ranking:

. subordinated instruments which do not qualify (and no part thereof is recognized) as own funds items
(elementi di fondi propri) shall rank senior to own funds items (including any instruments only partly
recognized as own funds items (elementi di fondi propri)) and junior to senior non-preferred instruments
(strumenti di debito chirografario di secondo livello);,

. if instruments which qualified in whole or in part as own funds items (elementi di fondi propri) cease, in
their entirety, to be classified as such, they will rank senior to own fund items (elementi di fondi propri)
but junior to senior non-preferred instruments.

The provisions also apply to instruments issued before the 193 Decree came into effect (1 December 2021)

In light of the above, if Additional Tier 1 Notes of the Issuer (which qualify or qualified at any time either in
whole or in part as Own Funds items) were to be disqualified entirely as Own Funds items in the future, their
ranking would improve compared to Additional Tier 1 Notes and Subordinated Notes which at the relevant time
qualify as Own Funds items (in whole or in part) and would rank pari passu with Additional Tier 1 Notes and
Subordinated Notes which at the relevant time are not qualified in whole or in part as Own Funds item. In the
event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, the Issuer would, infer alia, be required to pay subordinated
creditors of the Issuer whose claims rank in priority to the Additional Tier 1 Notes, including those whose claims
arise from liabilities that no longer fully or partially are recognized as an own funds instrument in full before it
can make any payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes which, at the relevant time qualify as Own Funds items
(in whole or in part). Furthermore, if Additional Tier 1 Notes are fully disqualified as Own Funds items, such
Notes would not be subject to a write-down or conversion into common shares at the point of non-viability even
though they would continue to be subject to bail-in, and, in the event the Issuer were to receive extraordinary
financial support in accordance with the EU state aid framework and the BRRD, may be subject to the burden
sharing requirements of such legislation.

In case the Additional Tier 1 Notes were to be disqualified as Additional Tier 1 Capital Notes, but were to qualify
(in whole or in part) as Tier 2 Capital, their ranking would improve vis-a-vis the rest of the Additional Tier 1
Notes and they would rank pari passu with any instruments which qualify as Tier 2 Capital (save to the extent
any such instrument rank, or are expressed to rank, senior or junior to the relevant disqualified Additional Tier 1
Notes), but junior to any instrument — previously recognised as own funds item — that is fully disqualified as own
funds. See further Condition 5 (Status of Additional Tier 1 Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

1.4.3  There are no events of default, other than in the case of Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa, under
the Additional Tier 1 Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes do not provide for events of default, other than in the case of
Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as defined in the Banking Act as set out in Condition 13.2 of the Terms

51



Risk Factors

and Conditions of the Notes, allowing acceleration of the Additional Tier 1 Notes if certain events occur.
Accordingly, if the Issuer fails to meet any obligations under the Additional Tier 1 Notes, including the payment
of any interest, investors will not have the right of acceleration of principal. Upon a payment default, the sole
remedy available to Noteholders for recovery of amounts owing in respect of any payment of principal or interest
on the Additional Tier 1 Notes will be the institution of proceedings to enforce such payment. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum
or sums sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

In the case of Additional Tier 1 Notes which are issued as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds,
please also see Risk Factor "Notes issued, if any, as "Green Bonds", "Social Bonds" or "Sustainability Bonds"
may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green assets or social assets or sustainable
assets".

1.4.4  The Issuer may elect in its full discretion to cancel interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes and may,
in certain circumstances, be required to cancel such interest

The Issuer may elect at any time in its full discretion to cancel (in whole or in part) for an unlimited period and
on a no-cumulative basis Interest Amounts otherwise scheduled to be paid on any Interest Payment Date.

Further, the Issuer will be required to cancel payment of Interest Amounts (in whole or, as the case may be, in
part) if and to the extent that such Interest Amounts, when aggregated together with distributions on all other Own
Funds instruments of the Issuer (excluding Tier 2 Capital instruments) paid or scheduled for payment in the then
current financial year, exceed the amount of Distributable Items, excluding any payments already accounted for
in determining the Distributable Items. The Issuer’s Distributable Items will depend to a large extent on, inter
alia, the dividends that it receives from its subsidiaries and affiliates. See also “~The level of the Issuer’s
Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors and insufficient Distributable Items will restrict the ability
of the Issuer to make interest payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes” below.

The Issuer will also be required to cancel payment of Interest Amounts (in whole or, as the case may be, in part)
if and to the extent that such payment, when aggregated together with other distributions of the Issuer or the
UniCredit Group, as applicable, of the kind referred to in Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive and, if relevant,
in any other similar payment restriction provision(s) under the Relevant Regulations (or, if different, any
provisions of Italian law implementing Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive or, if relevant, such other
provision(s)), would cause the Maximum Distributable Amount (if any) then applicable to the Issuer and/or the
UniCredit Group to be exceeded, or where such Interest Amounts are required to be cancelled (in whole or in part)
by an order to the Issuer from the Competent Authority. For further details, see section below “If the Issuer
breaches the combined buffer requirement a Maximum Distributable Amount will apply which may restrict the
Issuer from making interest payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes in certain circumstances, Noteholders may
not be able to anticipate whether or when the Issuer will cancel such interest payments”.

Additionally, the Competent Authority has the power under Article 104 of the CRD IV Directive to restrict or
prohibit payments of interest by the Issuer to holders of Additional Tier 1 instruments such as the Additional Tier
1 Notes. The risk of any such intervention by the Competent Authority is most likely to materialise if at any time
the Issuer or the UniCredit Group is failing, or is expected to fail, to meet its capital requirements — see “If the
Issuer breaches the combined buffer requirement a Maximum Distributable Amount will apply which may restrict
the Issuer from making interest payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes in certain circumstances, Noteholders
may not be able to anticipate whether or when the Issuer will cancel such interest payments” below.

Also, in accordance with Article 63(j) of the BRRD (as implemented in Italy by Article 60(1)(i) of Legislative
Decree No. 180/2015), the Competent Authority has the power to alter the amount of interest payable under debt
instruments issued by banks subject to resolution proceedings and the date on which the interest becomes payable
under the debt instrument (including the power to suspend payment for a temporary period). The Competent
Authority also has the power under Articles 53-bis and 67-ter of the Banking Act to impose requirements on the
Issuer, the effect of which will be to restrict or prohibit payments of interest by the Issuer to Noteholders, which
is most likely to materialise if at any time the Issuer is failing, or is expected to fail, to meet its capital or liquidity
requirements. If the Competent Authority exercises its discretion, the Issuer will exercise its discretion to cancel
(in whole or in part, as required by the Competent Authority) interest payments in respect of the Additional Tier
1 Notes.
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Furthermore, upon the occurrence of a Contingency Event (as defined in Condition 8 (Loss absorption and
Reinstatement of Principal Amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), the Issuer will not make payment
of accrued and unpaid interest in respect of the Additional Tier 1 Notes up to the Write-Down Effective Date and
any such accrued and unpaid interest shall be cancelled.

The cancellation of any Interest Amounts shall not constitute a default for any purpose on the part of the Issuer.
Interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes is not cumulative and any Interest Amounts that the Issuer elects not to
pay or is prohibited from paying will not accumulate or compound and all rights and claims in respect of such
amounts shall be fully and irrevocably forfeited and no payments shall be made nor shall any Noteholder be
entitled to any payment or indemnity in respect thereof. See Condition 7 (Interest and Interest Cancellation in
respect of Additional Tier 1 Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Because the Issuer is entitled to cancel Interest Amounts in its full discretion, it may do so even if it could make
such payments without exceeding the limits described above. Interest Amounts on the Additional Tier 1 Notes
may be cancelled even if holders of the Issuer’s shares continue to receive dividends and/or the Issuer and/or its
subsidiaries continues to make payments of interest or other amounts on other Additional Tier 1 instruments.

Any actual or anticipated cancellation of interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes will likely have an adverse effect
on the market price of the Additional Tier 1 Notes. In addition, as a result of the interest cancellation provisions
of the Additional Tier 1 Notes, the market price of the Additional Tier 1 Notes may be more volatile than the
market prices of other debt securities on which interest accrues that are not subject to such cancellation and may
be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the Issuer’s financial condition. Any indication that, for
example, the Issuer may not have sufficient Distributable Items and/or distributions may be limited by a Maximum
Distributable Amount may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

Also, the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio, Distributable Items and any Maximum Distributable Amount will
depend in part on decisions made by the Issuer and other entities in the UniCredit Group relating to their businesses
and operations, as well as the management of their capital position. The Issuer and other entities in the UniCredit
Group will have no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders in connection with their strategic decisions,
including in respect of capital management and the relationship among the various entities in the UniCredit Group
and the UniCredit Group’s structure. The Issuer may decide not to raise capital at a time when it is feasible to do
so, even if that would result in the occurrence of a Contingency Event. Moreover, in order to avoid the use of
public resources, the Competent Authority may decide that the Issuer should allow a Contingency Event to occur
at a time when it is feasible to avoid it. Noteholders will not have any claim against the Issuer or any other entity
in the UniCredit Group relating to decisions that affect the capital position of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group,
regardless of whether they result in the occurrence of a Contingency Event. Such decisions could cause
Noteholders to lose all or part of their investment in the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

1.4.5  The level of the Issuer’s Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors and insufficient
Distributable Items will restrict the ability of the Issuer to make interest payments on the Additional
Tier 1 Notes

As noted above, the Issuer will be required to cancel any Interest Amounts (in whole or, as the case may be, in
part) if and to the extent that such Interest Amounts, when aggregated together with distributions on all other Own
Funds instruments of the Issuer (excluding Tier 2 Capital instruments) paid or scheduled for payment in the then
current financial year, exceed the amount of Distributable Items, excluding any payments already accounted for
in determining the Distributable Items.

The Issuer had approximately Euro 15.34 billion of Distributable Items as at 31 December 2021, of which
approximately Euro 5.45 billion were represented by the distributable portion of the Share Premium Reserve (see
also Section 12 Part B — Balance sheet - Liabilities, reported in the Notes to the Accounts of the 2021 UniCredit
Annual Report and Accounts).

The level of the Issuer’s Distributable Items is affected by a number of factors. The Issuer’s future Distributable
Items, and therefore the ability of the Issuer to make interest payments under the Additional Tier 1 Notes, are a
function of the Issuer’s existing Distributable Items and its future profitability. In addition, the Issuer’s
Distributable Items may also be adversely affected by the servicing of more senior instruments, parity ranking
instruments or more junior ranking instruments, including dividends on the Issuer’s shares.
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The level of the Issuer’s Distributable Items may be affected by changes to accounting rules, regulation or the
requirements and expectations of applicable regulatory authorities. Furthermore, the definition of Distributable
Items may be reformed in a restrictive way, if the Relevant Regulations are amended or extended. Any such
potential changes could adversely affect the Issuer’s Distributable Items in the future.

Further, the Issuer’s Distributable Items, and therefore the Issuer’s ability to make interest payments under the
Additional Tier 1 Notes, may be adversely affected by the performance of the business of the UniCredit Group in
general, factors affecting its financial position (including capital and leverage), the economic environment in
which the UniCredit Group operates and other factors outside of the Issuer’s control. See generally “Factors that
may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes” above. In addition, adjustments to earnings,
as determined by the Board, may fluctuate significantly and may materially adversely affect Distributable Items.

1.4.6  Ifthe Issuer breaches the combined buffer requirement or the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement, a
Maximum_Distributable Amount will apply which may restrict the Issuer from making interest
pavments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes in certain circumstances; Noteholders may not be able to
anticipate whether or when the Issuer will cancel such interest payments

Under Article 141 (Restrictions on distributions) of the CRD IV Directive, EU Member States must require that
institutions that fail to meet the combined buffer requirement (as described below) will be subject to restricted
“discretionary payments” (which are defined broadly by CRD IV as payments relating to Common Equity Tier 1
and Additional Tier 1 instruments and variable remuneration to staff). In addition, the Banking Reform Package
includes a new Article 141b in the CRD IV Directive which introduces restrictions on distributions in the case of
failure to meet the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement (i.e. G-SIB buffer), thus introducing a new Leverage Ratio
Maximum Distributable Amount (L-MDA). The BRRD II also introduces in the BRRD a new Article 16a that
clarifies the stacking order between the combined buffer requirement and the MREL requirements (including the
TLAC requirement). Pursuant to this new provision the resolution authority shall have the power to prohibit an
entity from distributing more than the Maximum Distributable Amount for the Minimum Requirement for Own
Funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL) (calculated in accordance with Article 16a(4) of the BRRD, the M-MDA)
where the combined buffer requirement is not met when considered in addition to the MREL requirement. Article
16a, envisages a potential nine month grace period whereby the resolution authority assesses on a monthly basis
whether to exercise its powers under the provision, before such resolution authority is compelled to exercise its
power under the provisions (subject to certain limited exceptions).

The restrictions will be scaled according to the extent of the breach of the combined buffer requirement or, as
appropriate, the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement and calculated as a percentage of the profits of the institution
since the last distribution of profits or “discretionary payments”. Such calculation will result in a “Maximum
Distributable Amount” in each relevant period. As an example, if the available CET1 capital is within the bottom
quartile of the combined buffer requirement or, as appropriate, if the available Tier 1 capital is within the bottom
quartile of the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement, no “discretionary distributions” will be permitted to be paid.

As a consequence, in the event of breach of the combined buffer requirement or the Leverage Ratio buffer
requirement, it may be necessary to reduce discretionary payments, including potentially cancelling (in whole or
in part) interest payments in respect of the Additional Tier 1 Notes. In addition, the Issuer will have the discretion
to determine how to allocate the Maximum Distributable Amount among the different types of payments
contemplated in Article 141 or Article 141b of the CRD IV Directive or Article 16a of the BRRD and it may elect
to allocate such amounts to “discretionary payments” other than in respect of the Additional Tier 1 Notes.
Moreover, payments made earlier in the relevant period will reduce the remaining relevant Maximum
Distributable Amount available for payments later in the relevant period, and the Issuer will have no obligation to
preserve any portion of the relevant Maximum Distributable Amount for payments scheduled to be made later in
a given period. Even if the Issuer attempts to do so, there can be no assurance that it will be successful, because
the relevant Maximum Distributable Amount will depend on the amount of Net Income earned during the course
of the relevant period, which will necessarily be difficult to predict.

Under CRD 1V, the Issuer is required to hold a minimum amount of regulatory capital equal to 8 per cent. of risk
weighted assets (the Pillar 1 Requirement). In addition to these so called “Own Funds” requirements under CRD
IV, supervisory authorities may add extra capital requirements to cover risks they believe are not covered, or are
insufficiently covered, by the minimum capital requirements under CRD IV (Pillar 2 Requirement). See also
“Factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme
— Risks connected to Bank Capital Adequacy” above.
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The CRRII and the CRDV introduce, among other things, a leverage ratio requirement of 3 per cent Tier 1 Capital,
a leverage ratio related maximum distributable amount for G-SIIs (as described above) and changes to the relevant
regulator’s application of the Pillar 2 Requirement. The CRRII and the CRDV entered into force on 27 June 2019.
The date of application of the new rules varies from the date of their entry into force and 12 months to four years
after their entry into force.

According to the CRDV, the Pillar 2 Requirement must be fulfilled with at least 56.25 per cent. Common Equity
Tier 1 Capital and at least 75 per cent. Tier 1 capital. Furthermore, the CRDV authorises the relevant competent
authority to require that the institution fulfils its additional Own Funds requirement with a higher portion of Tier
1 Capital or Common Equity Tier 1 Capital where necessary (while having regard to the specific circumstances
of the relevant institution).

The CRDV also introduces a so-called “guidance on additional own funds” requirement (the Pillar 2 Guidance),
which sets a level and quality of capital the relevant credit institution is expected to hold in excess of its overall
capital requirement. The Pillar 2 Guidance will be based on expectations of competent authorities for each
institution to hold capital in excess of its capital requirements (Pillar 1 and Pillar 2) and combined buffer
requirement in order to address forward-looking and remote situations. A failure to meet the Pillar 2 Guidance
does not trigger automatic restrictions on distributions provided for in Article 141 and 141b of the CRD IV
Directive or Article 16a of the BRRD. However, where an institution repeatedly fails to meet the Pillar 2 Guidance,
the competent authority is entitled to take supervisory measures and, where appropriate, impose additional Own
Funds requirements.

According to EBA’s guidelines to national supervisors on common procedures and methodologies for the
supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP) and supervisory stress testing (the SREP Guidelines), as most
recently updated on 18 March 2022, competent authorities may, on the basis of the vulnerabilities and deficiencies
identified in the SREP assessment, among other things, restrict or prohibit distributions or interest payments by a
credit institution to members or holders of its Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments, as provided by Article 104
(1 (1)) of the CRD IV. Accordingly, the additional Pillar 2 Requirement that may be imposed on the Issuer and/or
the UniCredit Group by the ECB pursuant to the SREP will require the Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group to hold
capital levels above the Pillar 1 Requirement.

Also, as part of the CRD IV transitional arrangements, regulatory capital recognition of outstanding instruments
which qualified as Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital instruments under the framework which the CRD IV has replaced
that no longer meet the minimum criteria under the CRD IV Package had been gradually phased out. Once fixed
the base at the nominal amount of such instruments outstanding on 1 January 2013, their recognition was capped
at 80 per cent. in 2014, with this cap decreasing by 10 per cent. in each subsequent year until 2021. A further rule
introduced by the CRRII, applicable in respect of liabilities issued before 27 June 2019, allows for the
“grandfathering” of instruments as, respectively, Additional Tier 1 instruments, Tier 2 instruments and eligible
liabilities, even if they do not fully comply with certain requirements of the CRRII. This treatment is available
until 28 June 2025 at the latest.

The Banking Reform Package clarifies the distinction between the Pillar 2 Requirement and Pillar 2 Guidance.
Under the Banking Reform Package (and as described above), only the “Pillar 2 Requirement”, and not “Pillar 2
Guidance”, will be relevant in determining whether an institution meets its combined buffer requirement for the
purposes of the Maximum Distributable Amount restrictions.

On 12 March 2020, the ECB, taking into account the economic effects of COVID-19, announced certain measures
aimed at ensuring that banks, under its direct supervision, are still able to provide credit support to the real
economy. In such context, the ECB has allowed banks to operate temporarily below the capital level defined by
the Pillar 2 Guidance, the CCB and the LCR. Furthermore, the ECB expects these temporary measures to be
further improved by an appropriate revision of the CCyB by the competent national authorities. The Bank of Italy
has decided to keep the CCyB at zero per cent. for the second quarter of 2022. However, on 10 February 2022,
the ECB announced its intention to not allow banks to operate below the level of capital defined by the Pillar 2
Guidance beyond December 2022.

The following tables show the impact of the Pillar 2 Requirement on the required minimum CET1 Capital ratio,
Tier 1 Capital ratio and Total Capital ratio, in each case on a consolidated basis, as from the dates indicated, on
the level at which the Maximum Distributable Amount restrictions will take effect:
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Required minimum CET1 Capital ratio

As at 31 December 2021

As at 31 March 2022

Pillar 1 CET1 4.50% 4.50%
Pillar 2 CET1 requirement 0.98% 0.98%
Combined capital buffer requirement 3.55%! 3.55%'
OCR level 9.03% 9.03%

! Including 0.05 per cent. of countercyclical capital buffer as at 31 December 2021, and 0.05 per cent. as at 31 March 2022 to be calculated

on a quarterly basis.

Required Minimum Tier 1 ratio

As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 March 2022
Pillar 1 CET1 4.50% 4.50%
Pillar 1 Additional Tier 1! 1.50% 1.50%
Pillar 2 Tier 1 requirement 1.31% 1.31%
Combined capital buffer requirement 3.55%? 3.55%?
OCR level 10.86% 10.86%

! May be comprised of Additional Tier 1 or CET1.

2 Including 0.05 per cent. of countercyclical capital buffer as at 31 December 2021, and 0.05 per cent. as at 31 March 2022 to be calculated

on a quarterly basis.

Required Minimum Total Capital ratio
As at 31 December | As at 31 March 2022
2021
Pillar 1 CET1 4.50% 4.50%
Pillar 1 Additional Tier 1! 1.50% 1.50%
Pillar 1 Tier 2? 2.00% 2.00%
Pillar 2 Total Capital requirement 1.75% 1.75%
Combined capital buffer requirement 3.55%° 3.55%°
OCR level 13.30% 13.30%

! May be comprised of Additional Tier 1 or CET].

2 May be comprised of Tier 2, Additional Tier 1 or CETI.

3 Including 0.05 per cent. of countercyclical capital buffer as at 31 December 2021, and 0.05 per cent. as at 31 March 2022 to be calculated

on a quarterly basis.

As at 31 December 2021, 31 December 2020 and 31 March 2022, the consolidated capital ratios (CET1 Capital,
Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios), are set out in the table below:
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Capital ratios 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 31 March 2022
CET]1 Capital ratio 15.82% 15.96% 14.62%
Tier 1 ratio 17.94% 18.22% 16.47%
Total Capital ratio 20.14% 20.72% 18.99%

The transitional leverage ratio stated stood at 5.19 per cent. in 1Q22.

UniCredit is fully compliant with its TLAC requirements'# with a 1Q22 TLAC ratio of 24.78 per cent. of RWA
and of 7.81 per cent. of Leverage Exposures (including 3.5 per cent. of RWA senior exemption) implying a buffer
of 322 bps over the 21.55 per cent. RWA Requirement and a buffer of 106 bps over the 6.75 per cent Leverage
Exposures Requirement.

Starting from 30 June 2020, CET1 Capital (and as a consequence also the CET1, the Tier 1 and the Total Capital
ratios) benefits from the application of the transitional arrangements foreseen by the regulation for IFRS9
provisions adopted by the Group in the quarter. In addition, the new grandfathering framework is applicable, until
2025 and according to the CRR2 Article 494b, to the Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 instruments issued before 27
June 2019 that do not fully comply with the CRR2 Articles 52 and 63.

If at any time the Issuer is unable to maintain its total Own Funds at the level necessary to meet its combined
buffer requirement or, as appropriate, its Leverage Ratio buffer requirement, a Maximum Distributable Amount
restriction would be applicable and the Issuer may be required to cancel interest payments on the Additional Tier
1 Notes. The Issuer’s Own Funds requirements, including the Pillar 1 Requirement and the Pillar 2 Requirement,
TLAC, MREL, the combined buffer requirement and the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement, are, by their nature,
calculated by reference to a number of factors any one of which or combination of which may not be easily
observable or capable of calculation by investors. Investors in the Additional Tier 1 Notes may not be able to
assess or predict accurately the proximity of the risk of discretionary payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes
being prohibited from time to time as a result of the operation of Article 141 or Article 141b of the CRD IV
Directive or Article 16a of the BRRD and, if relevant, in other similar payment restriction provision(s) under the
Relevant Regulations. There can be no assurance that any of the Own Funds and MREL requirements, the
combined buffer requirement or the Leverage Ratio buffer requirement applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group
will not be amended in the future to include new and more onerous requirements, which in turn may affect the
Issuer’s capacity to make payments of interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

There can be no assurance that the Own Funds and MREL requirements, the combined buffer requirement or the
Leverage Ratio buffer requirement applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group from time to time may not be higher
than the levels of Own Funds and/or eligible liabilities, as applicable, available to the Issuer and/or the Group at
such point in time. Also, there can also be no assurance as to the result of any future SREP carried out by the ECB
and whether this will impose any higher Pillar 2 Requirement on the Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group. In
addition, the measures put in place by the ECB to address concerns relating to the economic effects of COVID-
19 are temporary in nature and are expected to expire (most of them by 2022).

These issues and other possible issues of interpretation make it difficult to determine how the Maximum
Distributable Amount will apply as a practical matter to limit interest payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes,
the reinstatement of the Prevailing Principal Amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes following a Write-Down, and
the ability of the Issuer to redeem and purchase the Additional Tier 1 Notes. This uncertainty and the resulting
complexity may adversely impact the trading price and the liquidity of the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

In addition to the above, under Article 133 of CRD V, European Member States may introduce a systemic risk
buffer of Common Equity Tier 1 capital in order to prevent and mitigate macroprudential or systemic risk not
covered by CRR 1I, the countercyclical capital buffer, the G-SII buffer or the O-SII buffer. Pursuant to the new
provisions, the Competent Authority has the power to set one or more systemic risk buffer rates applicable to one
or a combination of the exposures of the kind referred to in Article 133(5) of CRD V.

4 TLAC RWA requirement includes the Combined capital Buffer Requirement applicable at the date.
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In addition, Article 133 includes a new paragraph which introduces restrictions on distributions in the case of
failure to meet the systemic risk buffer rates imposed by the Competent Authority. As a consequence, in the event
of the breach of the systemic risk buffer rates, it may be necessary to reduce discretionary payments, including
potentially cancelling (in whole or in part) interest payments in respect of Additional Tier 1 Notes.

1.4.7 The Additional Tier 1 Notes may be traded with accrued interest, but under certain circumstances, such
interest may be cancelled and not paid on the relevant Interest Payment Date; the Issuer may be
required to reduce the principal amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes to absorb losses

The Additional Tier 1 Notes may trade, and/or the prices for the Additional Tier 1 Notes may appear, on the
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and in other trading systems with accrued interest. If this occurs,
purchasers of Additional Tier 1 Notes in the secondary market will pay a price that reflects such accrued interest
upon purchase of the Additional Tier 1 Notes. However, if a payment of interest on any Interest Payment Date is
cancelled (in whole or in part) as described herein and thus is not due and payable, purchasers of such Additional
Tier 1 Notes will not be entitled to that interest payment (or, if the Issuer elects to make a payment of a portion,
but not all, of such interest payment, the portion of such interest payment not paid) on the relevant Interest Payment
Date. This may affect the value of any investment in the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

For the avoidance of doubt accrued interest will also be cancelled following a Write-Down as described below.

The Additional Tier 1 Notes are being issued for capital adequacy regulatory purposes with the intention and
purpose of being eligible as Additional Tier 1 Capital under the CRD IV both at the level of the Issuer and at the
level of the UniCredit Group. Such eligibility depends upon a number of conditions being satisfied. One of these
relates to the ability of the Additional Tier 1 Notes and the proceeds of their issue to be available to absorb any
losses of the Issuer. Accordingly, under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, if at any time the Issuer’s or the
UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio falls below 5.125 per cent. or the then minimum trigger
event ratio for loss absorption applicable to Additional Tier 1 instruments specified in the Relevant Regulations
(excluding any guidelines or policies of non-mandatory application) applicable to the Issuer and/or the UniCredit
Group (a Contingency Event), the Issuer shall reduce the then Prevailing Principal Amount of the Additional
Tier 1 Notes by the Write-Down Amount, pro rata with the other Additional Tier 1 Notes and taking into account
the write-down (or write-off) or conversion into Ordinary Shares of any other Loss Absorbing Instruments. See
Condition 8 (Loss Absorption and Reinstatement of Principal Amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Although Condition 8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes permits
the Issuer in its full discretion to reinstate Written-Down principal amounts up to a maximum of the Initial
Principal Amount if certain conditions (further described therein) are met, the Issuer is under no obligation to do
s0. Moreover, the Issuer will only have the option to Write-Up the principal amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes
if, at a time when the Prevailing Principal Amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes is less than their Initial Principal
Amount, both a positive Net Income and a positive Consolidated Net Income are recorded, and if the Maximum
Distributable Amount (if any) (when the amount of the Write-Up is aggregated together with other distributions
of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group, as applicable, of the kind referred to in Article 141(2) of the CRD IV
Directive and, if relevant, in any other similar payment restriction provision(s) under the Relevant Regulations
(or, if different, any provision of Italian law transposing or implementing Article 141(2) of the CRD IV Directive
or, if relevant, such other provision(s), as amended or replaced)) would not be exceeded as a result of the Write-
Up.

No assurance can be given that these conditions will ever be met, or that the Issuer will ever Write-Up the principal
amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes following a Write-Down. Furthermore, any Write-Up must be undertaken
on a pro rata basis with the other Additional Tier 1 Notes and any Written-Down Additional Tier 1 Instruments
of the Issuer that have terms permitting a principal write-up to occur on a basis similar to that set out in Condition
8.3 (Reinstatement of principal amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes in the circumstances then
existing.

During the period of any Write-Down pursuant to Condition 8 (Loss Absorption and Reinstatement of Principal
Amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, interest will accrue (subject in certain circumstances to the
Maximum Distributable Amount, as further set out below) on the Prevailing Principal Amount of the Additional
Tier 1 Notes, which shall be lower than the Initial Principal Amount unless and until the Additional Tier 1 Notes
are subsequently Written-Up in full. Furthermore, in the event that a Write-Down occurs during an Interest Period,
any interest accrued but not yet paid up to the occurrence of such Write-Down will be cancelled. See generally
Condition 7.4 (Calculation of Interest Amount in case of Write Down) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.
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Noteholders may lose all or some of their investment as a result of a Write Down. If any judgment is rendered by
any competent court declaring the judicial liquidation of the Issuer, or if the Issuer is liquidated for any other
reason prior to the Additional Tier 1 Notes being written-up in full pursuant to Condition 8 (Loss Absorption and
Reinstatement of Principal Amount) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, Noteholders’ claims for principal
and interest will be based on the reduced Prevailing Principal Amount of the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

In addition, in certain circumstances the Maximum Distributable Amount will impose a cap on the Issuer’s ability
to pay interest on the Additional Tier 1 Notes, on the Issuer’s ability to reinstate the Prevailing Principal Amount
of the Additional Tier 1 Notes following a Write-Down and on its ability to redeem or repurchase Additional Tier
1 Notes. See generally “If the Issuer breaches the combined buffer requirement a Maximum Distributable Amount
will apply which may restrict the Issuer from making interest payments on the Additional Tier 1 Notes in certain
circumstances; Noteholders may not be able to anticipate whether or when the Issuer will cancel such interest
payments”.

The market price of the Additional Tier 1 Notes is expected to be affected by fluctuations in the Issuer’s and the
UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio. Any indication that the Issuer’s or the UniCredit Group’s
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio is approaching the level that would trigger a Contingency Event may have
an adverse effect on the market price of the Additional Tier 1 Notes.

In the event that the relevant resolution authority utilises the general bail-in tool, this could materially adversely
affect the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of their investment in any Additional Tier 1 Notes and/or the
ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Additional Tier 1 Notes. In addition to the general bail-in
tool, the BRRD provides for resolution authorities to have the further power to permanently write-down or convert
into equity capital instruments such as the Additional Tier 1 Notes at the point of non-viability and before any
other resolution action is taken. Any shares issued to holders of subordinated notes (such as the Additional Tier 1
Notes) upon any such conversion into equity may also be subject to any application of the general bail-in tool.
See generally “— The Additional Tier 1 Notes may be subject to write-down, cancellation or conversion upon the
occurrence of the exercise by the relevant resolution authority of the general bail-in tool or capital instruments
write-down and conversion powers, which powers are in addition to the terms of the Additional Tier 1 Notes
which provide for Write-Down on the occurrence of a Contingency Event, or may be subject to the burden sharing
requirements of the EU State aid framework and the BRRD”.

The calculation of the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratios will be affected by a number of factors, many of
which may be outside the Issuer’s control.

The occurrence of a Contingency Event, which would result in a Write-Down of the Prevailing Principal Amount
of the Additional Tier 1 Notes (and the cancellation of interest accrued not yet paid up to the occurrence of the
Write-Down) or the application of a Maximum Distributable Amount, is inherently unpredictable and depends on
a number of factors, many of which may be outside the Issuer’s control. Also, whether a Contingency Event has
occurred at any time shall be determined by the Issuer and the Competent Authority. Because the Competent
Authority may require Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratios to be calculated as of any date (which calculation
shall be binding on the Noteholders), a Contingency Event could occur at any time. The calculation of the
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratios of the Issuer or of the UniCredit Group could be affected by a wide range
of factors, including, among other things, factors affecting the level of the Issuer’s earnings or dividend payments,
the mix of its businesses, its ability to effectively manage the risk-weighted assets in its ongoing businesses, losses
in the context of its banking activities or other businesses, changes in the UniCredit Group’s structure or
organisation. The calculation of the ratios also may be affected by changes in the applicable laws and regulations
or applicable accounting rules and the manner in which accounting policies are applied, including the manner in
which permitted discretion under the applicable accounting rules is exercised.

Accordingly, the trading behaviour of the Additional Tier 1 Notes may not necessarily follow the trading
behaviour of other types of subordinated securities. Any indication that the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio
of the Issuer or of the UniCredit Group is approaching the level that would trigger a Contingency Event or a
breach of the combined buffer requirement may have an adverse effect on the market price and liquidity of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes. Under such circumstances, investors may not be able to sell their Additional Tier 1 Notes
easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to more conventional investments.
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Changes to the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital and/or Risk Weighted Assets may negatively affect
the Issuer or the UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio.

In addition, regulatory initiatives may impact the calculation of the Issuer or the UniCredit Group’s Risk Weighted
Assets, being the denominator of the Issuer’s and the UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio,
respectively. The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) concluded the review process of the
standardised models (for credit risk, counterparty risk, operational risk and market risk) for the calculation of
minimum capital requirements, including constraints on the use of internal models and introducing the so-called
"output floor" (setting a minimum level of capital requirements calculated on the basis of internal models equal,
when fully implemented, to 72.5 per cent. of those calculated on the basis of the standardised methods). The main
purpose is to enhance consistency and comparability among banks. The new framework was finalised for market
risk in 2016 and finally revised in January 2019. The new framework for credit risk and operational risk was
completed in December 2017. The implementation of this new risk assessment framework, which should have
originally occured on 1 January 2022 (with transitional arrangement for phasing in the aggregate output floor),
has been postponed — due to COVID-19 outbreak — by the Group of Central Bank Governors and Heads of
Supervision (GHOS) to 1 January 2023. The EU is expected to implement these standards by way of new changes
to the CRR (CRR III) which were proposed on 27 October 2021, in the context of the so-called “2021 Banking
Package” legislative proposal. In particular, this proposal is aimed at finalising the inmplementation of Basel I1I
agreement in the European Union. Thus, it will impact the calculation of the Issuer’s or the UniCredit Group’s
Risk Weighted Assets and, consequently, the Issuer or the UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Ratio.

Any changes that may occur in the application to the Issuer and/or the UniCredit Group of the CRD IV rules, the
loss absorbency requirements under the BRRD (including MREL) or the FSB’s TLAC proposals subsequent to
the date of this Base Prospectus and/or any subsequent changes to such rules and other variables may individually
and/or in the aggregate negatively affect the Issuer or the UniCredit Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 Capital Ratio
and thus increase the risk of a Contingency Event, which will lead to Write-Down, and a breach of the combined
buffer requirement, as a result of which Noteholders could lose all or part of the value of their investment in the
Additional Tier 1 Notes.

1.4.8  The Issuer is not prohibited from issuing further debt which may rank pari passu with or senior to
the Additional Tier 1 Note

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes place no restriction on the amount of debt that the Issuer may issue that
ranks senior to the Additional Tier 1 Notes or on the amount of securities that it may issue that rank pari passu
with the Additional Tier 1 Notes. The issue of any such debt or securities may reduce the amount recoverable by
investors upon the Issuer's bankruptcy. If the Issuer's financial condition were to deteriorate, the Noteholders could
suffer direct and materially adverse consequences, including cancellation of interest and reduction of principal
and, if the Issuer were liquidated (whether voluntarily or involuntarily), the Noteholders could suffer loss of their
entire investment.

1.4.9  No scheduled redemption — early redemption and purchase of the Additional Tier 1 Notes may be
restricted

The Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Additional Tier Notes at any time before the date on which
voluntary or involuntary winding up proceedings are instituted in respect of the Issuer, and the Noteholders have
no right to call for their redemption.

The Issuer may, at its sole discretion (but subject to the provisions of Condition 10.15 (Conditions to Early
Redemption and Purchase of Subordinated Notes and Additional Tier 1 Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes) redeem the Additional Tier 1 Notes in whole, but not in part, on any Optional Redemption Date (Call)
at their Prevailing Principal Amount, plus any accrued interest and any additional amounts due pursuant to
Condition 11 (Taxation), as described in Condition 10.2 (No fixed redemption for the Additional Tier 1 Notes) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

In addition, the Issuer may also, at its sole discretion (but subject to the provisions of Condition 10 (Redemption
and Purchase) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), redeem the Additional Tier 1 Notes in whole, but not
in part, following the occurrence of a Capital Event and in whole, or in part, following the occurrence of a Tax
Event (each as defined herein) at their Prevailing Principal Amount, plus, in each case, if relevant, any accrued
interest and any additional amounts due pursuant to Condition 11 (7axation) as described in Condition 10.4
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(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) and Condition 10.3 (Redemption for tax reasons) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The intention of UniCredit is for Additional Tier 1 Notes to qualify on issue as "Additional Tier 1 Capital"
for regulatory capital purposes.

Although it is UniCredit’s expectation that the Additional Tier 1 Notes qualify on issue as "Additional Tier
1 Capital", there can be no representation that this is or will remain the case during the life of the Additional
Tier 1 Notes. If there is a change in the regulatory classification of the Additional Tier 1 Notes that would
be likely to result in their exclusion from "Additional Tier 1 Capital" and, in respect of any redemption of
the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes proposed to be made prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date,
both of the following conditions are met: (i) the Competent Authority considers such a change to be
reasonably certain and (ii) UniCredit demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the
change in the regulatory classification of the Additional Tier 1 Notes was not reasonably foreseeable by
UniCredit as at the date of the issue of the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes, UniCredit will (if so specified
in the applicable Final Terms) have the right to redeem the Additional Tier 1 Notes in accordance with
Condition 10.4 (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes, subject to, inter alia, the prior approval of the relevant Competent Authority and in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations, including Articles 77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV Regulation or, if different,
the then applicable Relevant Regulations. There can be no assurance that holders of such Additional Tier 1
Notes will be able to reinvest the amounts received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate
of return as their investments in the relevant Notes, as the case may be. Also, if at any time a Regulatory
Event with regard to Additional Tier 1 Notes occurs then the Issuer may, as specified in the risk factor
“Additional Tier 1 Notes may be subject to modification without Noteholder consent” below, at any time
vary the terms of such Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become Qualifying Additional Tier 1
Notes.

Any early redemption or purchase of Additional Tier 1 Notes is subject to compliance with the then
applicable Relevant Regulations, including for the avoidance of doubt:

(a)  the Issuer giving notice to the Competent Authority and the Competent Authority granting prior permission
to redeem or purchase the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes (in each case to the extent, and in the manner,
required by the then Relevant Regulations, including Articles 77 and 78 of the CRD IV Regulation, as
amended or replaced from time to time), where either:

(i) on or before such redemption or purchase (as applicable), the Issuer having replaced the Notes with
Own Funds instruments of equal or higher quality at terms that are sustainable for the income
capacity of the Issuer; or

(i)  the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that its Own Funds and
eligible liabilities would, following such repayment or purchase, exceed the minimum requirements
(including any capital buffer requirements) required under the Relevant Regulations by a margin
that the Competent Authority considers necessary at such time; and

(b)  inrespect of a call, redemption repayment or repurchase prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date of
the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes, if and to the extent required under Article 78(4) of the CRD IV
Regulation or the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No. 241/2014 of 7 January 2014:

6)] in the case of redemption pursuant to Condition 10.3 (Redemption for tax reasons), the Issuer having
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the change in the applicable tax
treatment of the Additional Tier 1 Notes is material and was not reasonably foreseeable as at the
Issue Date; or

(il)  in case of redemption pursuant to Condition 10.4 (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory
call)), a Capital Event having occurred in respect of Additional Tier 1 Notes; or

(iii)  on or before such redemption or repurchase (as applicable), the Issuer having replaced the Notes
with Own Funds instruments of equal or higher quality at terms that are sustainable for the income
capacity of the Issuer and the Competent Authority has permitted that action on the basis of the
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determination that it would be classified from a prudential point of view and justified by exceptional
circumstances; or

(iv)  the Notes being repurchased for market marketing purposes.

subject in any event to any alternative or additional conditions or requirements as may be applicable from time to
time under the Relevant Regulations.

In addition, any proposed redemption of Additional Tier 1 Notes prior to the fifth anniversary of their Issue Date
shall (i) in the case of a Capital Event, be restricted as set out above under “Regulatory Classification of the Notes”
and (ii) in the case of a Tax Event, be limited to circumstances in which the change or amendment giving rise to
the Tax Event is, to the satisfaction of the relevant Competent Authority, material and was not reasonably
foreseeable by the Issuer as at the Issue Date of the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes.

There can be no assurance that the relevant Competent Authority will permit any redemption or purchase of
Additional Tier 1 Notes. See also “No scheduled redemption” above. In addition, the Issuer may elect not to
exercise any option to redeem any Additional Tier 1 Notes early or at any time. Holders of Additional Tier 1 Notes
should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of an investment in such Notes for an
indefinite period.

1.4.10 Additional Tier 1 Notes may be subject to modification without Noteholders' consent

If (i) at any time, a Capital Event occurs for any Series of Additional Tier 1 Notes, or (ii) in order to ensure the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes for any Series of Additional Tier 1 Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to
giving any notice required to be given to, and receiving any consent required from, the Competent Authority
and/or as appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement for the consent or approval of
the holders of the Additional Tier 1 Notes of that Series), at any time vary the terms of a Series of Additional Tier
1 Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying Additional Tier 1 Notes, as applicable, provided
that such variation does not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

Qualifying Additional Tier 1 Notes are securities issued by the Issuer that, other than in respect of the effectiveness
and enforceability of Condition 21 (Contractual Recognition of Statutory Bail-In Powers) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes have terms not materially less favourable to the Noteholders (as reasonably determined
by the Issuer) than the terms of the relevant Additional Tier 1 Notes. However, no assurance can be given as to
whether any of these changes will negatively affect any particular Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty
consequences of holding such varied notes could be different for some categories of Noteholders from the tax and
stamp duty consequences for them of holding the notes prior to such variation.

1.5 Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

1.5.1  There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Exempt Notes, such as
Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest
than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal
amount invested by it

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in respect of the Notes being determined by
reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in
currency exchange rates or to other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes
with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in
which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

(a) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;

(b) they may receive no interest;

(c) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
(d) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
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(e) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest
rates, currencies or other indices;

® the effect of any multiplier or leverage factor that is applied to the Relevant Factor is that the impact of
any changes in the Relevant Factor on the amounts of principal or interest payable will be magnified,
and

(2) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average

level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the
greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index or other Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication of the
future performance of such Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, each potential
investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any
Notes linked to a Relevant Factor and the suitability of such Notes in the light of its particular circumstances.

1.5.2  Where Notes are issued on a partly paid basis, an investor who fails to pay any subsequent
instalment of the issue price could lose all of its investment

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Any failure by an
investor to pay any subsequent instalment of the issue price in respect of his Notes could result in such
investor losing all of its investment.

1.5.3  Notes which are issued with variable interest rates or which are structured to include a multiplier
or other leverage factor are likely to have more volatile market values than more standard securities

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or
other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features,
their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

1.5.4  Inverse Floating Rate Notes will have more volatile market values than conventional Floating Rate
Notes

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference
rate such as EURIBOR. The market values of those Notes are typically more volatile than market values of
other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise
comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate
not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates,
which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

1.6 Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally:

1.6.1 Waiver of set-off

As specified in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, each Noteholder unconditionally and irrevocably waives
any right of set-off, netting, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have, under
the laws of any jurisdiction or otherwise, in respect of such Note.

1.6.2  Theinterest rate on Reset Notes will reset on each Reset Date, which can be expected to affect the interest
payment on_an investment in Reset Notes and could affect the market value of the Reset Notes

Reset Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest from and including the Interest Commencement
Date up to but excluding the First Reset Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date (if applicable) and
each Subsequent Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of the applicable Mid-
Swap Rate and the First Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent on
the relevant Reset Determination Date (each such interest rate, a Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest). The
Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest for any Reset Period could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the
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Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest for prior Reset Periods and could affect the market value of an investment in
the Reset Notes.

1.6.3  The regulation and reform of “benchmarks’” may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or
referencing such ‘“‘benchmarks”’

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” (including, without limitation, EURIBOR),
are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of
these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such
benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which
cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or
referencing such a “benchmark”.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the EU Benchmarks Regulation) applies to the provision of benchmarks, the
contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it
(i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an
equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised
entities (such as the Issuer) of "benchmarks" of administrators that are not authorised/registered (or, if non-
EU based, deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed). Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK Benchmarks Regulation) among other things, applies to the
provision of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark in the UK. Similarly, it prohibits the use in the UK by
UK supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA) or registered on the FCA register (or, if non-UK based, not deemed equivalent or
recognised or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material
impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a rate or index deemed to be a “benchmark”, including, without
limitation, any Floating Rate Notes linked to or referencing EURIBOR or any Reset Notes referencing the
relevant swap rate for swap transactions in the Specified Currency (as specified in the applicable Final Terms
or Pricing Supplement with respect to the relevant Notes), in particular, if the methodology or other terms
of the “benchmark” are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU Benchmarks Regulation
and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable. Such changes could, among other things, have the
effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the
“benchmark”.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
“pbenchmarks”, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting
of a “benchmark” and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

The euro risk free-rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guidelines principles and high
level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated cash
products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other things,
that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may
increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group
published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates.

Such factors may have the following effects on certain “benchmarks”: (i) discourage market participants
from continuing to administer or contribute to such “benchmark™; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or
methodologies used in the “benchmark” or (iii) lead to the disappearance of the “benchmark”. Any of the
above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other
initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes
linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Separately, the euro risk free-rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles
and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, among other things, new euro denominated cash
products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicated, amongst other things,
that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may
increase the risk to the euro area financial system.
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Investors should be aware that, if EURIBOR or any originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable) used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes (each an
Original Reference Rate) were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest on Floating Rate
Notes or Reset Notes which reference such Original Reference Rate will be determined for the relevant
period by the fallback provisions applicable to such Notes, as indicated in the “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes”. Such provisions could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, any relevant
Notes referring the relevant Original Reference Rate.

Investors should also be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates, such as
Secured Overnight Financing Rates (SOFR), as reference rates in the capital markets for U.S. dollar bonds,
as applicable, and their adoption as alternatives to the relevant interbank offered rates. In addition, market
participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based on risk free rates,
including term SOFR reference rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average
SOFR rate over a designated term). The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk
free rates that differs significantly from that set out in the Terms and Conditions and used in relation to
Floating Rate Notes that reference a risk free rate issued under this Base Prospectus. Interest on Notes which
reference a risk free rate can be capable of being determined only immediately prior to the relevant Interest
Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference such risk free rates to reliably
estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes. Further, if the Notes become due and
payable under Condition 13 (Events of default) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Rate of Interest
payable shall be determined on the date the Notes became due and payable and shall not be reset thereafter.
Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates in the
bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may
put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes. Investors should consider
these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any such Floating Rate Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide for certain arrangements in the event that a published
Original Reference Rate (including any page on which such Original Reference Rate may be published (or
any successor service)) becomes unavailable, including the possibility that the rate of interest could be set
by reference to a Successor Reference Rate determined by the Issuer or an Alternative Reference Rate
determined by an Independent Adviser or failing that, by the Issuer, and that such Successor Reference Rate
or Alternative Reference Rate may be adjusted (if required) by the application of an Adjustment Spread. The
application of a Successor Reference Rate or an Alternative Reference Rate or an Adjustment Spread may
result in the relevant Notes performing differently (which may include payment of a lower interest rate) than
they would do if the relevant Original Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form. If no
Adjustment Spread is determined, a Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate may
nonetheless be used to determine the rate of interest. In certain circumstances, the ultimate fallback of interest
for a particular Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) may result in the rate of interest for the last
preceding Interest Period or Reset Period (as applicable) being used. This may result in the effective
application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes (as applicable) based on the rate which
was last used for the relevant Notes.

In the case of Notes not linked to SOFR, if Reference Rate Replacement is specified in the relevant Final
Terms as being applicable, and Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined or, in the case of Reset Notes, Reset Reference
Rate Replacement is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, if the Issuer determines that
a Benchmark Event (as defined in the Conditions) has occurred in relation to an Original Reference Rate (as
defined in the Conditions) when any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be
determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then: (i) the Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours:
(A) to determine a Successor Reference Rate and an Adjustment Spread (if any); or (B) if the Issuer cannot
determine a Successor Reference Rate and an Adjustment Spread (if any), appoint an Independent Adviser
to determine an Alternative Reference Rate, and an Adjustment Spread (if any) (in any such case, acting in
good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner), no later than five Business Days prior to the Interest
Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as the case may be, relating to the next Interest Period or
Reset Period (the TA Determination Cut-off Date); (ii) if the Issuer is unable to determine a Successor
Reference Rate and the Independent Adviser is unable to determine an Alternative Reference Rate (as
applicable) prior to the relevant IA Determination Cut-off Date, the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner) may determine an Alternative Reference Rate and an Adjustment Spread
(if any) no later than three Business Days prior to the Interest Determination Date or Reset Determination
Date, as the case may be, relating to the next Interest Period or Reset Period (the Issuer Determination Cut-
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off Date). No consent of the Noteholders shall be required in connection with effecting any relevant changes
pursuant to the terms and conditions, including for the execution of any documents or the taking of other
steps by the Issuer or any of the parties to the Agency Agreement (as applicable).

In the case of Notes linked to SOFR, if Reference Rate Replacement is specified in the relevant Final Terms
as being applicable and Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in
which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, if the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Event and
the relevant SOFR Index Cessation Date (as defined in the Conditions) have both occurred, when a Rate of
Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) remains to be determined, then: (i) the Benchmark
Replacement shall be the rate that was recommended as the replacement for the SOFR by the Federal Reserve
Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the
Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for the purpose of recommending a
replacement for the SOFR (which rate may be produced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or other
designated administrator, and which rate may include any adjustments or spreads) ; or (ii) if no such rate has
been recommended within one Business Day of the SOFR Index Cessation Date, the Benchmark
Replacement shall be the ISDA Fallback Rate (which rate may include any adjustments or spreads that would
apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of
an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark Replacement); or (iii) if the replacement rate cannot
be determined in accordance with the previous paragraph, then the Benchmark Replacement shall be the
alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer as the replacement for the then-current rate for
the applicable Corresponding Tenor that gives due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as
a replacement for the then-current Original Reference Rate for U.S. dollar denominated floating rate notes
at such time (which rate may include any adjustments or spreads). No consent of the Noteholders shall be
required in connection with effecting any relevant changes pursuant to the terms and conditions, including
for the execution of any documents or the taking of other steps by the Issuer or any of the parties to the
Agency Agreement (as applicable).

There is also a risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as expected or intended at the
relevant time. If the Independent Adviser or, as applicable, the Issuer determines that amendments to the
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes” and the Agency Agreement are necessary to ensure the proper operation
of any Successor Reference Rate or Alternative Reference Rate and/or Adjustment Spread or to comply with
any applicable regulation or guidelines on the use of benchmarks or other related document issued by the
competent regulatory authority, then such amendments shall be made without any requirement for the
consent or approval of Noteholders, as provided by Condition 6.4 (Reference Rate Replacement) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

1.6.4  Risks relating to Inflation Linked Interest Notes

The Issuer may issue Inflation Linked Interest Notes where the amount of interest is dependent upon the level of
an inflation/consumer price index or indices.

Potential investors in any such Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the Inflation Linked Interest
Notes they may receive no interest or a limited amount of interest. In addition, the movements in the level of the
inflation/consumer price index or indices may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with
changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes in the relevant level of the index
or indices may affect the actual return to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations.

Inflation Linked Interest Notes may be subject to certain disruption provisions or extraordinary event provisions.
Relevant events may relate to an inflation/consumer price index publication being delayed or ceasing or such
index being rebased or modified. If the Calculation Agent determines that any such event has occurred this may
delay valuations under and/or settlements in respect of the Notes and consequently adversely affect the value of
the Notes. Any such adjustments may be by reference to a Related Bond if specified in the applicable Final Terms.
In addition certain extraordinary or disruption events may lead to early termination of the Notes which may have
an adverse effect on the value of the Notes. Whether and how such provisions apply to the relevant Notes can be
ascertained by reading the Inflation Linked Conditions in conjunction with the applicable Final Terms.

If the amount of interest payable is determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by reference
to some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the level of the inflation/consumer price index or the indices
or interest payable will be magnified.
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A relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to a measure of inflation to which the Notes are linked
may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with other indices. Any movement in the level of
the index may result in a reduction of the interest payable on the Notes (if applicable).

The timing of changes in the relevant consumer price index or other formula linked to the measure of inflation
comprising the relevant index or indices may affect the actual yield to investors on the Notes, even if the average
level is consistent with their expectations.

An inflation or consumer price index to which interest payments are linked is only one measure of inflation for
the relevant jurisdiction or area, and such Index may not correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation experienced
by Noteholders in such jurisdiction or area.

The market price of Inflation Linked Interest Notes may be volatile and may depend on the time remaining to the
maturity date or expiration and the volatility of the level of the inflation or consumer price index or indices. The
level of the inflation or consumer price index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political
events in one or more jurisdictions or areas.

1.6.5 Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes
and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued.

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such
Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral
multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such
amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the
relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a
principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding
amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an
amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing
system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive
Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum
Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and

difficult to trade.

1.6.6  Risks related to Singapore taxation

Notes issued in Singapore dollars to be issued from time to time under the Programme, during the period
from the date of this Base Prospectus to 31 December 2023, are intended to be, where applicable, "qualifying
debt securities" for the purposes of the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the ITA), subject to the fulfilment
of certain conditions as further described under "Taxation in Singapore". However, there is no assurance
that such Notes will continue to enjoy the tax concessions in connection therewith under the ITA should the
relevant tax laws be amended or revoked at any time, which amendment or revocation may be prospective
or retroactive.

1.6.7  The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in Italian laws or administrative
practice

The Notes are based on Italian law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given
as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to Italian law or administrative practice after the
date of this Base Prospectus and any such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notes
affected by it.

1.6.8 Risk relating to the governing law of the Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by Italian law and Condition 20.1 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes provides that contractual and non-contractual obligations arising out or in connection
with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Italian Law. The Global Notes
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representing the Notes provide that all contractual and non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Global Notes representing the Notes are governed by Italian law, save for the form and
transferability of the Global Notes which are governed by English law. Furthermore, Temporary Global
Notes and Permanent Global Notes, whether issued in CGN or NGN form, as the case may be, representing
the Notes are signed by the Issuer in the United Kingdom and, thereafter, delivered to Citibank N.A., London
Branch as initial Principal Paying Agent, being the entity in charge for, inter alia, completing, authenticating
and delivering the Temporary Global Notes and Permanent Global Notes and (if required) authenticating
and delivering Definitive Notes, hence the Notes would be deemed to be issued in England and according to
Italian law. Article 59 of Law No. 218 of 31 May 1995 (regarding the Italian international private law rules)
provides that “other debt securities (titoli di credito) are governed by the law of the State in which the security
was issued”.

In light of the above, the Issuer cannot foresee the effect of any potential misalignment between the laws
applicable to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Global Notes and the laws applicable to their
transfer and circulation for any prospective investors in the Notes and any disputes which may arise in
relation to, inter alia, the transfer of ownership in the Notes.

1.6.9 Notes issued, if any, as "Green Bonds", "Social Bonds" or "Sustainability Bonds" may not be a
suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to green assets or social assets or sustainable
assets

If so specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme described as
Green Bonds, Social Bonds and Sustainability Bonds (each as defined in the “Use of Proceeds” section of
this Base Prospectus) in accordance with the principles set out by the International Capital Market
Association (ICMA) (respectively, the Green Bond Principles (GBP), the Social Bond Principles (SBP) and
the Sustainability Bond Guidelines (SBG)).

In such a case, prospective investors should have regard to the information set out at "Reasons for the Offer,
estimated net proceeds and total expenses" in the applicable Final Terms and must determine for themselves
the relevance of such information for the purpose of any investment in the Notes together with any other
investigation such investors deem necessary, and must assess the suitability of that investment in light of
their own circumstances. In particular, no assurance is given by the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that
the use of such proceeds for the funding of any green project or social project or sustainable project, as the
case may be, will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or
requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are
required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law, regulations or standards (including,
amongst others, Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020
on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the EU Taxonomy Regulation) or
any standards resulting from the proposal for a European green bond standard (EUGBS) adopted by the
European Commission on 6 July 2021).

Furthermore, it should be noted that there is currently no clearly established definition (legal, regulatory or
otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes, respectively "green" or a "social" or a
"sustainable" project or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as
"green" or "social" or "sustainable" or such other equivalent label. The EU Taxonomy Regulation has been
recently enacted and is subject to further development by way of implementation by the European
Commission through delegated regulations of technical screening criteria for the environmental objectives
set out in the EU Taxonomy Regulation (the EU Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Delegated Acts). A first
delegated act on sustainable activities for climate change adaptation and mitigation objectives was approved
in principle on 21 April 2021, and formally adopted on 4 June 2021 for scrutiny by the co-legislators. A
second delegated act for the remaining objectives will be published in 2022. On 6 July 2021, a delegated act
supplementing Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation was adopted by the Commission for scrutiny by
the co-legislators. This delegated act specifies the content, methodology and presentation of information to
be disclosed by financial and non-financial undertakings concerning the proportion of environmentally
sustainable economic activities in their business, investments or lending activities.

Even if a definition or market consensus as to what constitutes, a “green” or “sustainable” or an equivalently-
labelled project or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as “green”
or “sustainable” or such other equivalent label, should develop or be established, no assurance is or can be
given to investors that any green or social or sustainable project, as the case may be, towards which proceeds
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of the Notes are to be applied will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green" or "social"
or "sustainable"(or other equivalently labelled) performance objectives (including those set out under the
EU Taxonomy Regulation and the EU Sustainable Finance Taxonomy Delegated Acts) or that any adverse
social, green, sustainable and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any green or
social or sustainable project. Moreover, in light of the continuing development of legal, regulatory and
market conventions in the green, sustainable and positive social impact markets, there is a risk that the legal
frameworks and/or definitions may (or may not) be modified to adapt any update that may be made to the
ICMA’s Green Bond Principles and/or the ICMA’s Social Bonds Principles and/or the ICMA’s Sustainable
Bonds Guidelines and/or the EU framework standard. Such changes may have a negative impact on the
market value and the liquidity of any Green Bond, Social Bond or Sustainability Bond issued prior to their
implementation.

Furthermore, it should be noted that in connection with the issue of Green Bonds, Social Bonds and
Sustainability Bonds, the Issuer may request a sustainability rating agency or sustainability consulting firm
to issue a second-party opinion confirming that the relevant green and/or social and/or sustainable project,
as the case may be have been defined in accordance with the broad categorisation of eligibility for green,
social and sustainable projects set out in the GBP, the SBP and the SBG and/or a second-party opinion
regarding the suitability of the Notes as an investment in connection with certain environmental,
sustainability or social projects (any such second-party opinion, a Second-party Opinion). A Second-party
Opinion may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors
discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes or the projects financed or refinanced
toward an amount corresponding the net proceeds of the relevant issue of Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds. A Second-party Opinion would not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
the relevant Green Bonds or Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds and would only be current as of the date
it is released. In addition, no assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any
purpose whatsoever of any Second-party Opinion, which may or may not be made available in connection
with the issue of any Green Bond, Social Bond or Sustainability Bond and in particular with any eligible
projects to fulfil any environmental, social, sustainability and/or other criteria. Any such Second-party
Opinion is not, nor shall be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus.

A withdrawal of the Second-party Opinion may affect the value of such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds and/or may have consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest
in green or social or sustainable assets. The withdrawal of any report, assessment, opinion or certification as
described above, or any such Second-party Opinion attesting that the Issuer is not complying in whole or in
part with any matters for which such Second-party Opinion is reporting, assessing, opining or certifying on,
and/or any such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds no longer being listed or admitted to
trading on any stock exchange or securities market, as aforesaid, may have a material adverse effect on the
value of Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds and/or result in adverse consequences for
certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose.

In the event that any Green Bond, Social Bond or Sustainability Bond are listed or admitted to trading on
any dedicated “green”, “environmental”, “social” or “sustainable” or other equivalently labelled segment of
any stock exchange or securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance is given
by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether
in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment
criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply. Furthermore, the
criteria for any such listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities market

to another.

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply an amount equivalent to the proceeds of Social Bonds, Green
Bonds or Sustainability Bonds in, or substantially in, the manner described in the applicable Final Terms,
there can be no assurance that the green, social or sustainable projects (either resulting from the original
application of the proceeds of the Notes or a subsequent reallocation of such proceeds), as the case may be,
will be capable of being implemented in or substantially in such manner and/or in accordance with any
timing schedule and that accordingly the proceeds of the relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds will be totally or partially disbursed for such projects. Nor can there be any assurance
that (i) such green, social or sustainable projects will be completed within any specified period or at all, (ii)
with the results or outcome as originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer or (iii) the originally designated
green project or social project or sustainable project (or any project(s) resulting from any subsequent
reallocation of some or all of the proceeds of the relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability
Bonds) will not be the potentially or actual disqualified as such. Any such event or failure by the Issuer

69



Risk Factors

(including to comply with its reporting obligations or to obtain any assessment, opinion or certification,
including the Second-party Opinion in relation to Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds), any
actual or potential maturity mismatch between the green, social or sustainable asset(s) towards which
proceeds of the Notes may have been applied and the relevant Notes or if any other risk(s) set out or
contemplated by this risk factor with respect to Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds are
realised, such occurrence will not, with respect to any Notes (including for the avoidance of doubt, any
Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes or Additional Tier 1 Notes), (i) give rise to
any claim of a Noteholder against the Issuer; (ii) constitute an event of default under the relevant Notes; (iii)
lead to an obligation of the Issuer to redeem such Notes or be a relevant factor for the Issuer in determining
whether or not to exercise any optional redemption rights in respect of any Notes; (iv) affect the qualification
of such Notes as Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes, Additional Tier 1 Notes or
as eligible liabilities instruments or impact any of the features of such Notes, including (without limitation,
as applicable) features relating to ranking, permanence, loss absorption and/or flexibility of payments (as
applicable); or (v) prevent the applicability of the Bail-in Power (or any other provision of the Relevant
Regulations). Neither the proceeds of any Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds nor any
amount equal to such proceeds or asset financed with such proceeds will be segregated by the Issuer from
its capital and other assets. For the avoidance of doubt, payments of principal and interest and the operation
of any other features (as the case may be) on the relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds
shall not depend on the performance of the relevant project nor have any preferred or any other right against
the green, social or sustainable assets towards which proceeds of the Notes are to be applied.

Any such event or failure to apply the proceeds of the issue of the Notes for any green, social or sustainable
projects as aforesaid may have a material adverse effect on the value of the Notes and/or result in adverse
consequences for, amongst others, investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a
particular purpose.

In addition, Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds may also qualify as Own Funds or eligible
liabilities. The fact that Notes which qualify as Own Funds or eligible liabilities (which may include, for the
avoidance of doubt, Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes and Additional Tier 1
Notes) are also Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds shall not impact (i) any of the features
of such Notes, including (without limitation, as applicable) features relating to ranking, permanence, loss
absorption and/or flexibility of payments or enhance the performance of the relevant Notes in any way, (ii)
the availability of the Notes (or the proceeds thereof) to absorb all losses (whether or not related to any green,
social or sustainable assets towards which proceeds of the relevant Notes may have been applied or, if
relevant, reallocated) in accordance with their terms (if applicable) or the Relevant Regulations, (iii) the
relevant CRR eligibility criteria applicable to the qualification of the relevant Notes as Own Funds or eligible
liabilities (as appropriate) or applicability of the relevant BRRD requirements for Own Funds and eligible
liabilities or (iv) the risks related to the qualification of such Notes as Own Funds or eligible liabilities (as
appropriate). Among the risks applicable to the Issuer’s Notes, the Issuer’s Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds may be subject to mandatory write-down or conversion to equity in the event a
resolution procedure is initiated in respect of the UniCredit Group (including the Issuer) and, with respect to
Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds qualifying as Tier 2 Capital or Additional Tier 1 Capital,
even before the commencement of any such procedure if certain conditions are met, in which cases the fact
that such Notes are designated as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds does not provide their
holders with any priority compared to other Notes, nor is their level of subordination affected by such
designation.

1.7 Risks relating to Renminbi Notes

1.7.1 The Renminbi is not completely freely convertible and there are significant restrictions on the remittance
of the Renminbi into and outside the PRC which may affect the liquidity of the Notes

The Renminbi is not completely freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC (the PRC
Government) continues to regulate conversion between the Renminbi and foreign currencies.

Although since 1 October 2016, the Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by
the IMF and policies for further improving accessibility to Renminbi to settle cross-border transactions in foreign
currencies were issued, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will continue to liberalise the control over
cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future, that any pilot schemes for Renminbi cross-border liberalisation
will not be discontinued or that new PRC regulations, or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the
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future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC.
Further, if any new PRC regulations are promulgated in the future which have the effect of permitting or restricting
(as the case may be) the remittance of Renminbi for payment of transactions categorised as capital accounts items,
then such remittances will need to be made subject to the specific requirements or restrictions set out in such rules.
In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability
of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under
Notes denominated in Renminbi (the Renminbi Notes).

1.7.2 There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the
Renminbi Notes and the Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the Renminbi
Notes

As a result of the restrictions imposed by the PRC Government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the
availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may
affect the liquidity of the Renminbi Notes. To the extent that the Issuer is required to source Renminbi in the
offshore market to service the Renminbi Notes, there is no assurance that it will be able to source such Renminbi
on satisfactory terms, if at all. If the Renminbi is not available in certain circumstances as described in the
conditions applicable to Renminbi Notes, the Issuer can make payments under the Renminbi Notes in U.S. Dollars
or such other currency as specified in the applicable final terms or pricing supplement of the Notes (as the case
may be).

1.7.3  Investment in the Renminbi Notes is subject to exchange rate risks

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and is
affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors.
All payments of interest and principal will be made with respect to the Renminbi Notes in Renminbi unless
otherwise specified. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments in U.S. dollar terms (or in terms of other
applicable foreign currencies) may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the market place. If the value of
Renminbi depreciates against the U.S. dollar or other foreign currencies, the value of the investment in U.S. dollar
or other applicable foreign currency terms will decline. In addition, there may be tax consequences for investors
as a result of any foreign currency gains resulting from any investment in Renminbi Notes.

In the event that access to Renminbi becomes restricted to the extent that, by reason of Inconvertibility, Non-
transferability or Illiquidity (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), the Issuer is unable, or it is
impractical for it, to pay interest or principal in Renminbi, the Conditions of the Notes allow the Issuer to make
payment in U.S. dollars or such other currency as specified in the applicable final terms or pricing supplement of
the Notes (as the case may be) at the prevailing Spot Rate (as defined in the Conditions of the Notes) for the
relevant Determination Date (as defined in the Conditions of the Notes), all as provided in more detail in the
Conditions of the Notes. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the prevailing exchange
rates in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against the U.S. dollar or other foreign currencies,
the value of a holder's investment in U.S. dollar or other foreign currency terms will decline.

1.7.4  An investment in Renminbi Notes is subject to interest rate risk

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for Renminbi in markets outside
the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for Renminbi in the PRC as a result of foreign exchange
controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions. The Renminbi Notes may carry
a fixed interest rate. Consequently, the trading price of such Renminbi Notes will vary with fluctuations in interest
rates. If a holder of Renminbi Notes tries to sell any Renminbi Notes before their maturity, they may receive an
offer that is less than the amount invested.

1.7.5  An investment in Renminbi Notes is subject to risk of change in the regulatory regime governing the
issuance of Renminbi Notes

Renminbi Notes issuance is subject to laws and regulations of the relevant RMB Settlement Centre(s) (as defined
in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes). There can be no assurance that the PRC Government will continue to
encourage issuance of RMB-denominated debt instruments outside of mainland China and any change in the
Chinese government’s policy or the regulatory regime governing the issuance of RMB-denominated debt
instruments may adversely affect the Renminbi Notes.
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1.7.6  Payments in respect of the Renminbi Notes will only be made to investors in the manner specified in the
terms and conditions of the relevant Notes

Investors may be required to provide certification and other information (including Renminbi account
information) in order to be allowed to receive payments in Renminbi in accordance with the Renminbi clearing
and settlement system for participating banks in the RMB Settlement Centre(s). All Renminbi payments to
investors in respect of the Notes will be made solely (i) for so long as the Notes are represented by Global Notes
held with the common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg or any alternative clearing system by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in RMB
Settlement Centre(s) in accordance with prevailing Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg rules and
procedures, or (ii) for so long as the Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account
maintained in the RMB Settlement Centre(s) in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. Other than
described in the Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means
(including in any other currency or in bank notes, by cheque or draft or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

1.7.7  PRC Taxation

Prospective purchasers or holders of the Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the overall
PRC tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposal of Notes, including the effect of any state or
local taxes, under the tax laws of the PRC.

1.8 Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk:

1.8.1 Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an
investment in those Notes

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes. The
ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating
agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings
for regulatory purposes in the EEA, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in
the EEA and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or
suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general restriction
will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by third country non-EEA credit rating agencies, unless
the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EEA-registered credit rating agency or the relevant third
country rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or
certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that
apply in certain circumstances). The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the ESMA
on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant
rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken
against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.

Investors regulated in the UK are subject to similar restrictions under the UK CRA Regulation. As such, UK
regulated investors are required to use for UK regulatory purposes ratings issued by a credit rating agency
established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of ratings issued by third
country non-UK credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either be: (a) endorsed by a UK
registered credit rating agency; or (b) issued by a third country credit rating agency that is certified in
accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case, to (a) the relevant UK
registration, certification or endorsement, as the case may be, not having been withdrawn or suspended, and
(b) transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances. In the case of third country ratings, for a
certain limited period of time, transitional relief accommodates continued use for regulatory purposes in the
UK, of existing pre-2021 ratings, provided the relevant conditions are satisfied.
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If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes for the purposes of the CRA Regulation or the UK
CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes
in the EEA or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment, which may
impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary market. Certain information with respect
to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Base Prospectus.

1.8.2  An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and
this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market for the
Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid and may be sensitive to changes in financial markets. Therefore
investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable
to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case should the Issuer
be in financial distress, which may result in any sale of the Notes having to be at a substantial discount to
their principal amount or for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are
designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment
requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited
secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

1.8.3  If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, it will be
exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the
imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving
payments on those Notes

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks
relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency
or currency unit (the Investor’s Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that
exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s
Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency
relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (a) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes,
(b) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (c) the Investor’s
Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect
of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or
principal.

1.8.4  The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase above
the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.
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Important Information

This document constitutes a base prospectus in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued under
the Programme for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation (the Base Prospectus). When
used in this Base Prospectus, Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended, and
UK Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended, as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA).

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated
in it by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”). This Base Prospectus shall be read and
construed on the basis that those documents are incorporated and form part of this Base Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see “Documents
Incorporated by Reference”), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus refers does not
form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made by any of the Dealers or any of
their respective affiliates and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any of the Dealers or by any of
their respective affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated
in this Base Prospectus or of any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the
Programme. No Dealer or any of their respective affiliates accepts any liability in relation to the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the
Issuer in connection with the Programme.

This Base Prospectus contains industry and customer-related data as well as calculations taken from
industry reports, market research reports, publicly available information and commercial publications. It
is hereby confirmed that (a) to the extent that information reproduced herein derives from a third party,
such information has been accurately reproduced and (b) insofar as the Issuer is aware and is able to
ascertain from information derived from a third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the
information reproduced inaccurate or misleading.

Commercial publications generally state that the information they contain originates from sources assumed
to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed, and that the
calculations contained therein are based on a series of assumptions. External data have not been
independently verified by the Issuer.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation
not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection
with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be
relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or with
any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered
as a recommendation by the Issuer or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or of
any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes.
Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the
financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this
Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any
Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers to any person to
subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or in any applicable supplement;
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(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have
on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s
currency;

(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not
purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial
instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate
addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are
complex financial instruments unless it has the knowledge and expertise (either alone or with a
financial advisor) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting
effects on the likelihood of cancellation of Interest Amounts or a Write Down in the case of the
Additional Tier 1 Notes or the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the
potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

The obligations of the Issuer under the Notes are not covered by deposit insurance schemes in the
Republic of Italy. Furthermore, the Notes will not be guaranteed by the Republic of Italy under any
legislation that is or will be passed to address liquidity issues in the credit markets, including
government guarantees or similar measures. A wide range of Notes may be issued under the
Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential
investors. For a description of the most common such features, distinguishing between factors which
may occur in relation to any Notes and those which might occur in relation to certain types of Exempt
Notes, please see section headed “Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market
risks associated with notes issued under the Programme” in the Risk Factors section.

None of the Dealers or the Issuer makes any representation to any investor in the Notes regarding the
legality of its investment under any applicable laws. Any investor in the Notes should be able to bear the
economic risk of an investment in the Notes for an indefinite period of time.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any
circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning the Issuer is correct at any time
subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct
as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly
do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme
or to advise any investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their attention.
Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

Restrictions on marketing, sales and resales of Additional Tier 1 Notes to Retail Investors

1. The Additional Tier 1 Notes discussed in this document are complex financial instruments. They are not
a suitable or appropriate investment for all investors, especially retail investors. In some jurisdictions,
regulatory authorities have adopted or published laws, regulations or guidance with respect to the offer
or sale of securities such as the Additional Tier 1 Notes. Potential investors in the Additional Tier 1 Notes
should inform themselves of, and comply with, any applicable laws, regulations or regulatory guidance
with respect to any resale of the Additional Tier 1 Notes (or any beneficial interests therein).
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2. a) In the United Kingdom (UK), the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) Conduct of Business
Sourcebook (COBS) requires, in summary, that the Securities should not be offered or sold to retail
clients (as defined in COBS 3.4 and each a retail client) in the UK.

b) Each Dealer is required to comply with COBS.

¢) By purchasing, or making or accepting an offer to purchase, any Additional Tier 1 Notes (or a
beneficial interest in such Additional Tier 1 Notes) from the Issuer and/or the Dealers, each prospective
investor represents, warrants, agrees with and undertakes to the Issuer and each of the Dealers that:

i) it is not a retail client in the UK; and

ii) it will not sell or offer the Additional Tier 1 Notes (or any beneficial interest therein) to retail
clients in the UK or communicate (including the distribution of the Base Prospectus) or approve
an invitation or inducement to participate in, acquire or underwrite the Additional Tier 1 Notes
(or any beneficial interests therein) where that invitation or inducement is addressed to or
disseminated in such a way that it is likely to be received by a retail client in the UK.

d) In selling or offering the Additional Tier 1 Notes or making or approving communications relating to
the Additional Tier 1 Notes you may not rely on the limited exemptions set out in COBS.

3. The obligations in paragraph 2 above are in addition to the need to comply at all times with all other
applicable laws, regulations and regulatory guidance (whether inside or outside the European Economic
Area (EEA) or the UK) relating to the promotion, offering, distribution and/or sale of the Additional Tier
1 Notes (or any beneficial interests therein), whether or not specifically mentioned in the Base
Prospectus, including (without limitation) any requirements under the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended) (MiFID II) or the UK FCA Handbook as to determining the
appropriateness and/or suitability of an investment in the Additional Tier 1 Notes (or any beneficial
interests therein) for investors in any relevant jurisdiction.

Where acting as agent on behalf of a disclosed or undisclosed client when purchasing, or making or accepting an
offer to purchase, any Additional Tier 1 Notes (or any beneficial interests therein) from the Issuer and/or the
Dealers, the foregoing representations, warranties, agreements and undertakings will be given by and be binding
upon both the agent and its underlying client

Guidance under the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the HKMA) circular — In October 2018, the HKMA
issued a circular regarding enhanced investor protection measures on the sale and distribution of debt instruments
with loss-absorption features and related products (the HKMA Circular). Under the HKMA Circular, debt
instruments with loss-absorption features, being subject to the risk of being written-down or converted to ordinary
shares, and investment products that invest mainly in, or whose returns are closely linked to the performance of
such instruments (together, Loss-Absorption Products), are to be targeted in Hong Kong at professional investors
(as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary legislation,
Professional Investors) only. All Additional Tier 1 Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme contain
loss-absorption features and may be considered Loss-Absorption Products under the HKMA Circular. Investors
in Hong Kong should not purchase such Notes with loss-absorption features unless they are Professional
Investors and understand the risks involved. Such Notes are generally not suitable for retail investors in
Hong Kong in either the primary or the secondary markets.

Investors in Hong Kong should not purchase the Additional Tier 1 Notes in the primary or secondary
markets unless they are professional investors (as defined in the SFO and its subsidiary legislation) only
and understand the risks involved. The Additional Tier 1 Notes are generally not suitable for retail
investors.

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the applicable Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or
applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) specify that “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors” is applicable, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should
not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA).
For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended
(the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined
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in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129,
as amended (the Prospectus Regulation). Consequently, no key information document required by PRIIPs
Regulation for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

IMPORTANT - UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the applicable Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or
applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) specify that "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail
Investors" is applicable, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should
not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (UK). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of
Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565, as amended, as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA;
or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the
FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation, as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended, as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK
PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the
UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail
investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID II product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing
Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) will include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which
will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes
are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take
into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for
undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target
market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing
Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) will include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Governance” which
will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes
are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take
into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product
Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible
for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target
market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product
Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise
neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose
of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or
amended from time to time (the SFA) — Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or
Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes), all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall be
prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12:
Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on
Investment Products).

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance Rules), any Dealer
subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the
Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product
Governance Rules.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF SENIOR OR
SUBORDINATED NOTES

Restrictions on Non-exempt Offers of Notes in relevant Member States

Certain Tranches of Senior or Subordinated Notes with a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in
any other currency) may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the
Prospectus Regulation to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to as a Non-exempt Offer. This Base
Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits Non-exempt Offers of Senior or Subordinated Notes in
Luxembourg and in the following States where the Issuer has passported this Base Prospectus to: the Republic of
Italy, the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria, as specified in the applicable Final Terms (each specified
Member State a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction and together the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions). Any person
making or intending to make a Non-exempt Offer of Senior or Subordinated Notes on the basis of this Base
Prospectus must do so only with the Issuer’s consent to the use of this Base Prospectus as provided under " Consent
given in accordance with Article 5(1) of the Prospectus Regulation (Retail Cascades)" and provided that such
person complies with the conditions specified in or attached to that consent.

Save as provided above, none of the Issuer and any Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of
any Non-exempt Offer of Senior or Subordinated Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the
Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

The Non-Preferred Senior Notes and the Additional Tier 1 Notes shall not be offered in the context of a Non-
exempt Offer.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND
OFFERS OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in
any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.
The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain
jurisdictions. The Issuer and the Dealer(s) do not represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully
distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or
other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume
any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically
indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuer or the
Dealer(s) which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus
in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold,
directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material
may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in
compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus
or any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions
on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, Japan, Hong
Kong, the People's Republic of China, Australia, Taiwan, the EEA (including, for these purposes, the
Republic of Italy, France, the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria) and the United Kingdom. See
“Subscription and Sale and Selling Restrictions”.

See “Form of the Notes” for a description of the manner in which Notes will be issued.

This Base Prospectus has not been submitted for clearance to the Autorité des Marchés financiers in France.
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SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must determine
the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish
to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

L. has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and
risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

1L has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall
investment portfolio;

III. has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes,
including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for
principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;

Iv. understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices
and financial markets; and

V. is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its
investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors
are subject to investment laws and regulations, or to review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) Notes are legal investments
for it, (b) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions apply to its
purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some statements in this Base Prospectus may be deemed to be forward looking statements. Forward looking
statements include statements concerning the Issuer’s plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations and
performance and the assumptions underlying these forward looking statements. When used in this Base
Prospectus, the words “anticipates”, “estimates”, “expects”, “believes”, “intends”, “plans”, “aims”, “seeks”,
“may”, “will”, “should” and any similar expressions generally identify forward looking statements. These forward
looking statements are contained in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and other sections of this Base Prospectus.
The Issuer has based these forward looking statements on the current view of their management with respect to
future events and financial performance. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations, estimates and
projections reflected in its forward looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this Base Prospectus, if one
or more of the risks or uncertainties materialise, including those identified below or which the Issuer has otherwise
identified in this Base Prospectus, or if any of the Issuer’s underlying assumptions prove to be incomplete or
inaccurate, the Issuer’s actual results of operation may vary from those expected, estimated or predicted.

The risks and uncertainties referred to above include:

. the Issuer’s ability to achieve and manage the growth of its business;

. the performance of the markets in the Issuer’s jurisdiction and the wider region in which the Issuer
operates;

. the Issuer’s ability to realise the benefits it expects from existing and future projects and investments it

is undertaking or plans to or may undertake;

. the Issuer’s ability to obtain external financing or maintain sufficient capital to fund its existing and
future investments and projects;
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. changes in political, social, legal or economic conditions in the markets in which the Issuer and its
customers operate; and

. actions taken by the Issuer’s joint venture partners that may not be in accordance with its policies and
objectives.

Any forward looking statements contained in this Base Prospectus speak only as at the date of this Base
Prospectus. Without prejudice to any requirements under applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer expressly
disclaims any obligation or undertaking to disseminate after the date of this Base Prospectus any updates or
revisions to any forward looking statements contained in it to reflect any change in expectations or any change in
events, conditions or circumstances on which any such forward looking statement is based.

U.S. INFORMATION

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other
securities commission or other regulatory authority in the United States, nor have the foregoing authorities
approved this Base Prospectus or confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of the information contained
in this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is unlawful.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to U.S. persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury
regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code
and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder.

Service of Process and Enforcement of Civil Liabilities

The Issuer is a corporation organised under the laws of the Republic of Italy. All of the officers and directors
named herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Issuer and of such
officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to
effect service of process outside the Republic of Italy upon the Issuer or such persons, or to enforce judgments
against them obtained in courts outside the Republic of Italy predicated upon civil liabilities of the Issuer or of
such directors and officers under laws other than Italian law, including any judgment predicated upon United
States federal securities laws.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information in this Base Prospectus relating to the Issuer has been derived
from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020 respectively (together, the Financial Statements).

The Issuer’s financial years end on 31 December, and references in this Base Prospectus to any specific year are
either to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of such year or as of 31 December of such year, as applicable.
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Investors should consult the Issuer should they require a copy of the ISDA 2006 Definitions, the ISDA 2003
Credit Derivatives Definitions or the ISDA 2009 Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees, Auction
Settlement and Restructuring Supplement to the 2003 ISDA Credit Derivatives Definitions published on 14 July
2009, as applicable.

Certain Defined Terms and Conventions
Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus will have the
meaning attributed to them in the Terms and Conditions or any other section of this Base Prospectus. In addition,

the following terms as used in this Base Prospectus have the meanings defined below:

In this Base Prospectus, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to a law or a provision of a law is a
reference to that law or provision as extended, amended or re-enacted.
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In this Base Prospectus, all references to:

. U.S. dollars, U.S.$ and $ refer to United States dollars;

. to Sterling, GBP and £ refer to pounds sterling;

. Canadian Dollars and CS$ refer to the currency of Canada;

. euro, Euro and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the European economic

and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended; and

. Renminbi, RMB and CNY refers to the currency of the People's Republic of China. All references to
the PRC are to the People's Republic of China excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People's Republic of China (Hong Kong), the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
People's Republic of China and Taiwan.

. References to a billion are to a thousand million.
Certain figures and percentages included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments;

accordingly, figures shown in the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown
as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.
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Responsibility Statement, Third Party Information and Experts’
Reports

1. Persons responsible for the Base Prospectus

UniCredit S.p.A. as Issuer (the Responsible Person), having its registered, head office and principal centre
of business, at Piazza Gae Aulenti, 3 Tower A, 20154 Milan, Italy, accepts responsibility for the information
contained in this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the
Programme.

2. Responsibility Declaration

To the best of the knowledge of the Responsible Person, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such
is the case, the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no
omissions likely to affect its import.

3. Third party information

No third party information is included in this Base Prospectus, except for the rating information set out in
the section headed “Credit Ratings” in the “Description of UniCredit and the UniCredit Group” of this Base
Prospectus. The Issuer declares that such information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the
Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The sources of such
information are the following rating agency: Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited — Sede Secondaria Italiana
(Fitch), by Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and by S&P Global Ratings (S&P).

4. Experts’ reports

No statement or report attributed to a person as an expert is included in this Base Prospectus, except for the reports
of the auditors of the Issuer who have audited the consolidated financial statements of the UniCredit Group and
the financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended on 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
and who have carried out the limited review of the consolidated first half financial report of UniCredit ended on
30 June 2021.

For further information please see the section headed “External Auditors” in the “General Information” section
of this Base Prospectus.
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Consent given in accordance with Article 5(1) of the Prospectus
Regulation (Retail Cascades)

In the context of a Non-exempt Offer of Senior or Subordinated Notes, the Issuer accepts responsibility in each
of the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions for the content of this Base Prospectus under Article 6 of the Prospectus
Regulation in relation to any person (an Investor) who acquires any Senior or Subordinated Notes in a Non-
exempt Offer made by a Dealer or an Authorised Offeror (as defined below), where that offer is made during the
Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms and provided that the conditions attached to the giving of
consent for the use of this Base Prospectus are complied with. The consent and conditions attached to it are set
out under “Consent” and “Common Conditions to Consent” below.

None of the Issuer or any Dealer makes any representation as to the compliance by an Authorised Offeror with
any applicable conduct of business rules or other applicable regulatory or securities law requirements in relation
to any Non-exempt Offer and none of the Issuer or any Dealer has any responsibility or liability for the actions of
that Authorised Offeror.

Save as provided below, the Issuer has not authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer by any offeror and
the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person in connection with any Non-
exempt Offer of Senior or Subordinated Notes. Any Non-exempt Offer made without the consent of the Issuer is
unauthorised and none of the Issuer and, for the avoidance of doubt, any Dealer accepts any responsibility or
liability in relation to such offer for the actions of the persons making any such unauthorised offer.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, an Investor is offered Senior or Subordinated Notes by a person which
is not an Authorised Offeror, the Investor should check with that person whether anyone is responsible for this
Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the Prospectus Regulation in the context of the relevant Non-
exempt Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base
Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

The financial intermediaries referred to in paragraphs(a)(ii), (a)(iii) and (b) below are together the Authorised
Offerors and each an Authorised Offeror.

Consent

In connection with each Tranche of Senior or Subordinated Notes and subject to the conditions set out below
under “Common Conditions to Consent’:

(a) Specific Consent: the Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented as at the
relevant time, if applicable) in connection with a Non-exempt Offer of such Senior or Subordinated Notes by:

(1) the relevant Dealer(s) or Manager(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(i1) any financial intermediaries specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
(iii) any other financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and whose name

is published on the Issuer's website (www.unicreditgroup.eu) and identified as an Authorised Offeror
in respect of the relevant Non-exempt Offer; and

(b) General Consent:. if (and only if) Part B of the applicable Final Terms specifies “General Consent” as
“Applicable”, the Issuer hereby offers to grant its consent to the use of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented as
at the relevant time, if applicable) in connection with a Non-exempt Offer of Senior or Subordinated Notes by any
financial intermediary which satisfies the following conditions:

1) it is authorised to make such offers under the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive
2014/65/EU); and

(i1) it accepts such offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the information in
square brackets duly completed) (the Acceptance Statement):
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“We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary), refer to the offer of [insert title of relevant Senior or
Subordinated Notes] (the Notes) described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the Final Terms) published by
UniCredit S.p.A. (the Issuer). In consideration of the Issuer offering to grant its consent to our use of the Base
Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer of the Notes in [specify relevant State(s)]
during the Offer Period and subject to the other conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Base
Prospectus, we hereby accept the offer by the Issuer in accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms (as specified
in the Base Prospectus), and confirm that we are using the Base Prospectus accordingly.”

The consent referred to above relates to Non-exempt offers occurring within 12 months from the date of this Base
Prospectus.

The Authorised Offeror Terms are that the relevant financial intermediary:

(A) will, and it agrees, represents, warrants and undertakes for the benefit of the Issuer and the relevant Dealer
that it will, at all times in connection with the relevant Non-exempt Offer:

D act in accordance with, and be solely responsible for complying with, all applicable laws, rules,
regulations and guidance of any applicable regulatory bodies (the Rules) from time to time
including, without limitation, and in each case, Rules relating to both the appropriateness or
suitability of any investment in the Senior or Subordinated Notes by any person and disclosure to
any potential Investor;

(Il)  comply with the restrictions set out under “Subscription and Sale” in this Base Prospectus which
would apply if the relevant financial intermediary were a Dealer and consider the relevant
manufacturer’s target market assessment and distribution channels identified under the “MiFID II
product governance” legend set out in the applicable Final Terms;

(IIT)  ensure that any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) or rebate received or paid
by the relevant financial intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of the Senior or Subordinated
Notes does not violate the Rules and, to the extent required by the Rules, is fully and clearly
disclosed to Investors or potential Investors;

(IV) hold all licences, consents, approvals and permissions required in connection with solicitation of
interest in, or offers or sales of, the Senior or Subordinated Notes under the Rules;

(V)  comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and ‘“know your
client” Rules (including, without limitation, taking appropriate steps, in compliance with such
Rules, to establish and document the identity of each potential Investor prior to initial investment
in any Senior or Subordinated Notes by the Investor), and will not permit any application for
Senior or Subordinated Notes in circumstances where the financial intermediary has any
suspicions as to the source of the application moneys;

(VD) retain Investor identification records for at least the minimum period required under applicable
Rules, and shall, if so requested and to the extent permitted by the rules, make such records
available to the relevant Dealer and the Issuer or directly to the appropriate authorities with
jurisdiction over the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer in order to enable the Issuer and/or the
relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know
your client” Rules applying to the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, as the case may be;

(VII) immediately inform the Issuer and the relevant Dealer if at any time it becomes aware, or suspects,
that it is or may be in violation of any Rules and take all appropriate steps to remedy such violation
and comply with such Rules in all respects;

(VIII) ensure that no holder of Senior or Subordinated Notes or potential Investor in Senior or
Subordinated Notes shall become an indirect or direct client of the Issuer or the relevant Dealer
for the purposes of any applicable Rules from time to time, and to the extent that any client
obligations are created by the relevant financial intermediary under any applicable Rules, then
such financial intermediary shall perform any such obligations so arising;
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(IX)

X)

(XI)

(X10)

(XIII)

(XIV)

(XV)

co-operate with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant information (including,
without limitation, documents and records maintained pursuant to paragraph (I) above) and such
further assistance as is reasonably requested upon written request from the Issuer or the relevant
Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within any time frame
set by any such regulator or regulatory process. For this purpose, relevant information is
information that is available to or can be acquired by the relevant financial intermediary:

(1) in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator in relation to the Senior
or Subordinated Notes, the Issuer or the relevant Dealer; and/or

(i1) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer
relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or another Authorised Offeror including,
without limitation, complaints as defined in the Rules; and/or

(iii) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from time to time in
relation to the Senior or Subordinated Notes and/or to allow the Issuer or the relevant
Dealer fully to comply with its own legal, tax and regulatory requirements;

during the primary distribution period of the Senior or Subordinated Notes: (i) only sell the Senior
or Subordinated Notes at the Issue Price specified in the applicable Final Terms (unless otherwise
agreed with the relevant Dealer); (ii) only sell the Senior or Subordinated Notes for settlement on
the Issue Date specified in the applicable Final Terms; (iii) not appoint any sub-distributors (unless
otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); (iv) not pay any fee or remuneration or commissions
or benefits to any third parties in relation to the offering or sale of the Senior or Subordinated
Notes (unless otherwise agreed with the relevant Dealer); and (v) comply with such other rules of
conduct as may be reasonably required and specified by the relevant Dealer;

either (i) obtain from each potential Investor an executed application for the Senior or
Subordinated Notes, or (ii) keep a record of all requests the relevant financial intermediary (x)
makes for its discretionary management clients, (y) receives from its advisory clients and (z)
receives from its execution-only clients, in each case prior to making any order for the Senior or
Subordinated Notes on their behalf, and in each case maintain the same on its files for so long as
is required by any applicable Rules;

ensure that it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealer to breach any
Rule or subject the Issuer or the relevant Dealer to any requirement to obtain or make any filing,
authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

comply with the conditions to the consent referred to under “Common Conditions to Consent”
below and any further requirements or other Authorised Offeror Terms relevant to the Non-
exempt Offer as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

make available to each potential Investor in the Senior or Subordinated Notes this Base Prospectus
(as supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable), the applicable Final Terms and any
applicable information booklet provided by the Issuer for such purpose, and not convey or publish
any information that is not contained in or entirely consistent with this Base Prospectus; and

if it conveys or publishes any communication (other than this Base Prospectus or any other
materials provided to such financial intermediary by or on behalf of the Issuer for the purposes of
the relevant Non-exempt Offer) in connection with the relevant Non-exempt Offer, it will ensure
that such communication (A) is fair, clear and not misleading and complies with the Rules, (B)
states that such financial intermediary has provided such communication independently of the
Issuer, that such financial intermediary is solely responsible for such communication and that
none of the Issuer and the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for such communication and
(C) does not, without the prior written consent of the Issuer or the relevant Dealer (as applicable),
use the legal or publicity names of the Issuer or the relevant Dealer or any other name, brand or
logo registered by an entity within their respective groups or any material over which any such
entity retains a proprietary interest, except to describe the Issuer as issuer of the relevant Senior
or Subordinated Notes on the basis set out in this Base Prospectus;
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(B)

©

agrees and undertakes to each of the Issuer and the relevant Dealer that if it or any of its respective
directors, officers, employees, agents, affiliates and controlling persons (each a Relevant Party) incurs
any losses, liabilities, costs, claims, charges, expenses, actions or demands (including reasonable costs
of investigation and any defence raised thereto and counsel’s fees and disbursements associated with any
such investigation or defence) (a Loss) arising out of or in relation to, or in connection with, any breach
of any of the foregoing agreements, representations, warranties or undertakings by the relevant financial
intermediary, including (without limitation) any unauthorised action by the relevant financial
intermediary or failure by it to observe any of the above restrictions or requirements or the making by it
of any unauthorised representation or the giving or use by it of any information which has not been
authorised for such purposes by the Issuer or the relevant Dealer, the relevant financial intermediary shall
pay to the Issuer, or the relevant Dealer, as the case may be, an amount equal to the Loss. Neither the
Issuer nor any Dealer shall have any duty or obligation, whether as fiduciary or trustee for any Relevant
Party or otherwise, to recover any such payment or to account to any other person for any amounts paid
to it under this provision; and

agrees and accepts that:

@ the contract between the Issuer and the relevant financial intermediary formed upon acceptance
by the relevant financial intermediary of the Issuer’s offer to use the Base Prospectus with its
consent in connection with the relevant Exempt Offer (the Authorised Offeror Contract), and
any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror
Contract, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with Italian law;

(I)  subject to paragraph (1V) below, the Italian courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute
arising out of or in connection with the Authorised Offeror Contract (including any dispute
relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Authorised
Offeror Contract) (a Dispute) and the Issuer and the relevant financial intermediary submit to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Italian courts;

(ITIT) ~ for the purposes of paragraphs (II) above and (IV) below, the Issuer and the relevant financial
intermediary waive any objection to the Italian courts, on the grounds that they are an inconvenient
or inappropriate forum to settle any dispute; and

(IV) the Issuer and each relevant Dealer will, pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act
1999, be entitled to enforce those provisions of the Authorised Offeror Contract which are, or are
expressed to be, for their benefit, including the agreements, representations, warranties,
undertakings and indemnity given by the financial intermediary pursuant to the Authorised
Offeror Terms.

Any Authorised Offeror falling within paragraph (b) above and who meets the other conditions stated in
“Common Conditions to Consent” below and who wishes to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a
Non-exempt Offer is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its website the
Acceptance Statement.

Common Conditions to Consent

The conditions to the Issuer's consent are (in addition to the conditions described in paragraph (a) above if Part B
of the applicable Final Terms specifies “General Consent” as “Applicable”) that such consent:

is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche of
Senior or Subordinated Notes in the Republic of Italy, Luxembourg, the Federal Republic of Germany
and Austria as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The consent referred to above only relates to Offer Periods (if any) occurring within 12 months from the date of
this Base Prospectus.
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Each Tranche of Senior or Subordinated Notes may only be offered to Investors as part of a Non-exempt Offer in
each Relevant Member State specified in the applicable Final Terms, or otherwise in circumstances in which no
obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY SENIOR OR SUBORDINATED
NOTES IN A NON-EXEMPT OFFER FROM AN AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL DO SO, AND
OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH SENIOR OR SUBORDINATED NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH
AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS AND OTHER
ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR
INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS AND SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS. THE ISSUER
WILL NOT BE A PARTY TO ANY SUCH ARRANGEMENTS WITH SUCH INVESTORS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE NON-EXEMPT OFFER OR SALE OF THE SENIOR OR SUBORDINATED
NOTES CONCERNED AND, ACCORDINGLY, THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL TERMS
WILL NOT CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION. THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE
AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH
INFORMATION AND THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH
INFORMATION. THE RELEVANT INFORMATION WILL BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORISED
OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER. NONE OF THE ISSUER AND, FOR THE AVOIDANCE
OF DOUBT, ANY DEALER HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN
RESPECT OF THE INFORMATION DESCRIBED ABOVE.
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Stabilisation

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the
Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the applicable
Final Terms or Pricing Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting
the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However,
stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment may begin on or after
the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is
made and, if begun, will be carried out in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations and may
cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant
Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any
stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or
persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

The following documents which have previously been published shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this
Base Prospectus:

. the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes contained in the Base Prospectus dated 7 June
2021, pages 168 to 229 (inclusive), available
athttps://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/investors/funding-and-

ratings/funding-programs/EMTN/2021/Base-Prospectus-_2021-06-07_pub.pdf,, prepared by the Issuer
in connection with the Programme;

. the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes contained in the Base Prospectus dated 7 June
2021, pages 230 to 297 (inclusive), available at
https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/investors/funding-and-
ratings/funding-programs/EMTN/2021/Base-Prospectus-_2021-06-07_pub.pdf, as subsequently
supplemented by the Fourth Supplement dated 16 May 2022, pages 50 to 52 (inclusive), available at
https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/investors/funding-and-
ratings/funding-programs/EMTN/2021/UCI-EMTN-2022---Fourth-Supplement.pub.pdf, prepared by
the Issuer in connection with the Programme;

. the audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 of UniCredit (the 2020 UniCredit Annual Report and Accounts) available

at https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/investors/financial-
reports/2020/4Q20/2020-Annual-Report-and-Accounts.pdf, including the information set out at the

following pages in particular:

Information incorporated Page numbers

Consolidated Report and Accounts of UniCredit Group:

Consolidated Report on Operations 43-85
Consolidated Balance Sheet 105
Consolidated Income Statement 106
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 107
Statement of Changes in the Consolidated Shareholders' Equity 108-109
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 110-111
Notes to the Consolidated Accounts 113-419
Certification 421
Report of External Auditors 423-434
Annexes 437-499

Non-Consolidated Report and Accounts of UniCredit S.p.A.:

Report on operations 509-531
Balance Sheet 535
Income Statement 536
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 537

Statement of Changes in the Sharcholders' Equity 538-539
Cash Flow Statement 540-541
Notes to the Accounts 543-701
Certification 703

Report of External Auditors 733-741
Annexes 745-753

. the audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the financial year

ended 31 December 2021 of UniCredit (the 2021 UniCredit Annual Report and Accounts) available

at https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/investors/financial-
reports/2021/4Q21/2021-Annual-Reports-and-Accounts.pdf, including the information set out at the

following pages in particular:

Information incorporated

Consolidated Report and Accounts of UniCredit Group:

Consolidated Report on Operations
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Changes in the Consolidated Shareholders' Equity

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
Certification

Report of External Auditors

Annexes

Report and Accounts of UniCredit S.p.A.:
Report on operations

Balance Sheet

Income Statement

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Statement of Changes in the Shareholders' Equity

Cash Flow Statement

Page numbers

77-119
139
140
141
142-144
145-146
149-462
465
467-478

481- 555

565-589
593
594
595
596-597

598-599
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Notes to the Accounts 601-760
Certification 763
Report of External Auditors 797-809
Annexes 815-823
. the unaudited consolidated interim report as at and for the three months ended 31 March 2021 — Press
Release dated 6 May 2021 of UniCredit (the UniCredit Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report as
at 31 March 2021 - Press Release) available at

https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/press-and-media/price-
sensitive/2020/UniCredit PR_10Q21_ENG.pdf including the information set out at the following pages

in particular:
Information incorporated Page numbers
UniCredit Group: Reclassified Income Statement 21
UniCredit Group: Reclassified Balance Sheet 22

Other UniCredit Group Tables (Shareholders’ Equity, Staff and Branches, 23-27
Ratings, Sovereign Debt Securities — Breakdown by Country/Portfolio,
Weighted Duration, Breakdown of Sovereign Debt Securities by Portfolio,
Sovereign Loans — Breakdown by Country)

Basis for Preparation 27-31
Declaration by the manager charged with preparing the financial reports 32
. the unaudited consolidated interim report as at and for the three months ended 31 March 2022 — Press
Release dated 5 May 2022 of UniCredit (the UniCredit Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report as
at 31 March 2022 - Press Release) available at

https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-cu/documents/en/press-and-media/price-
sensitive/2022/UniCredit PR_1022 ENG.pdf, including the information set out at the following pages
in particular:

Information incorporated Page numbers
UniCredit Group: Reclassified Income Statement 14
UniCredit Group: Reclassified Balance Sheet 15

Other UniCredit Group Tables (Sovereign Debt Securities — Breakdown by  16-18
Country/Portfolio, Weighted Duration, Ratings)

Basis for Preparation 19-24
Declaration by the manager charged with preparing the financial reports 25

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein (which, for the avoidance of doubt, means any parts
not listed in the cross-reference lists above) are either deemed not relevant for an investor or are otherwise covered
elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and approved by
the CSSF in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation. Statements contained in any such
supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable
(whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this
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Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so
modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to
information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare
a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent
issue of Notes.
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Form of the Notes

Any reference in this section to “applicable Final Terms” shall be deemed to include a reference to “applicable
Pricing Supplement” where relevant.

The Notes of each Series will be in bearer form, with or without Coupons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued
outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act (Regulation S).

BEARER NOTES

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be issued in the form of a temporary global note (a Temporary Bearer
Global Note) or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent Global Note (a Permanent Bearer
Global Note and, together with the Temporary Bearer Global Note, each a Bearer Global Note) which, in either
case, will:

L. if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the applicable
Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper
(the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

1L if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be delivered on or prior to the original
issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, the applicable Final Terms will also
indicate whether or not such Global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility. Any indication that the Global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily mean that the Notes of the
relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during their life as such recognition depends upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The Common Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Whilst any Bearer Note is represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if
any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will
be made (against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note if the Temporary Bearer Global Note is not
intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification to the effect that the beneficial owners of
interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to
any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received in accordance
with its rules and procedures) to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after a Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued,
interests in such Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described
therein either for (a) interests in a Permanent Bearer Global Note of the same Series or (b) for definitive Bearer
Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons attached (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as described above unless such
certification has already been given, provided that purchasers in the United States and certain U.S. persons will
not be able to receive definitive Bearer Notes. The holder of a Temporary Bearer Global Note will not be entitled
to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due
certification, exchange of the Temporary Bearer Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Bearer Global Note
or for definitive Bearer Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be made
through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the
Permanent Bearer Global Note) if the Permanent Bearer Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form)
without any requirement for certification.
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The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons
and talons attached upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that
(1) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 13 (Events of Defaulf) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes)
has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor
clearing system is available or (iii) the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would
not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer
will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global
Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of
an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying Agent
requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first
relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent.

The following legend will appear on all Notes (other than Temporary Global Notes), receipts and interest coupons
relating to such Notes where TEFRA D is specified in the applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement, as the
case may be:

“ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO
LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS
PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165() AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.”

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct
any loss on Bearer Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in respect
of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes, receipts or interest
coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Bearer Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

GENERAL

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”), the Principal Paying
Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with
an existing Tranche of Notes at a point after the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further
Tranche shall be assigned a common code and ISIN and, where applicable, a CUSIP and CINS number which are
different from the common code, ISIN, CUSIP and CINS assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same
Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall not be prior to the
expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) applicable to
the Notes of such Tranche.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in
the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such
Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to
the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all
purposes save in the case of manifest error or as otherwise required by a court of competent jurisdiction or a public
official authority) shall be treated by the Issuer and its agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes
for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such
Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Bearer Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and its agents
as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant
Global Note, and the expressions Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed
accordingly.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be
deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final
Terms.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than
€100,000

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF LESS THAN €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY
OTHER CURRENCY), OTHER THAN (1) NOTES TO BE ADMITTED TO TRADING ONLY ON A
REGULATED MARKET, OR A SPECIFIC SEGMENT OF A REGULATED MARKET, TO WHICH
ONLY QUALIFIED INVESTORS HAVE ACCESS, AND (2) EXEMPT NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes which are not (1)
Notes to be admitted to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a regulated market, to which
only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) have access and (2) Exempt Notes and which
have a denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) issued under the Programme.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more)
of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or
(i1) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the Insurance Distribution
Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1)
of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus
Regulation). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]!

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a
retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the
provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
as amended (the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs
Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]'®

[[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the
[Notes] has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the [Notes] is eligible counterparties and
professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II)][MiFID II]; and (ii)
all channels for distribution of the [Notes] to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate.
[Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the [Notes]
(a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the
[Notes] (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining
appropriate distribution channels.]

[UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the

*Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products or the issuer wishes to prohibit
offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.
Legend to be included on the front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information
document will be prepared in the UK or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case
the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined
in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in
Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act
2018 (UK MiFIR); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance
Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer|’s/s’] target market assessment)
and determining appropriate distribution channels.]"”

OR

[MIFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the [Notes] has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the [Notes] is eligible counterparties,
professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID IT)][MiFID
II]; EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the [Notes] are appropriate[, including investment advice,
portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to
eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of
the [Notes] to retail clients are appropriate — investment advice[,/ and] portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised
sales ][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under
MiFID 11, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the [Notes] (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer|’s/s’] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the [Notes] (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor’s suitability and
appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable].]]

[UK MIFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is retail clients, as defined in point
(8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA), and eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of
Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (UK MiFIR); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the
Notes are appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution
services] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate;
and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/
and] portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised sales ][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s
suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market).
Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into
consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance
Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting
or refining the manufacturer|‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels|,
subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable].]]'®

[Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or
amended from time to time (the SFA) - [To insert notice if classification of the Notes is not “prescribed capital
markets products”, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS
Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-NI16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products)]]"

[The following language applies if the Notes are intended to be Qualifying Debt Securities for the purposes of the
Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore.

17
18
19

Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market approach.
Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 2 market approach.

Relevant Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch
of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the
Notes by any person who (i) is not resident in Singapore and (ii) carries on any operations in Singapore through
a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to
certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the ITA), shall not apply if such person acquires
such Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment in
Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost
derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such
income in a return of income made under the ITA.]

[Date]

FINAL TERMS
UniCredit S.p.A.
[Please include the place of incorporation, registered office, registration number and form of the Issuer|

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes)
under the
€60,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Part A—- CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 7 June 2022 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]]
which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Base
Prospectus). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the
Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with such Base Prospectus in order to obtain all the
relevant information.

A summary of the individual issue is annexed to these Final Terms. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing
during normal business hours at UniCredit S.p.A., Piazza Gae Aulenti, 3 Tower A 20154 Milan, Italy and has
been published on the website of UniCredit www.unicreditgroup.eu, as well as on the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu. Copies may be obtained, free of charge, from the Issuer at the address above.

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued
under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date.)

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes] [Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes] (the Conditions) set forth in the Base
Prospectus dated 7 June 2021 which are incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus dated [7] June 2022.
This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated [current date] [and the supplement][s]
to it dated [date] [and [date]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation (the Base Prospectus), including the Conditions incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus, in
order to obtain all the relevant information. A summary of the individual issue is annexed to these Final Terms.
The Base Prospectus is available for viewing during normal business hours at UniCredit S.p.A., Piazza Gae
Aulenti, 3 Tower A 20154 Milan, Italy and has been published on the website of UniCredit
www.unicreditgroup.eu as well as on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu. Copies
may be obtained, free of charge, from the Issuer at the address above.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs (in
which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote
guidance for completing the Final Terms.]

[When completing any final terms, or adding any other final terms or information, consideration should be given
as to whether such terms or information constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need
for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination may
need to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

1. Series Number:
(a) Tranche Number:
[(b) Date on which the Notes will be
consolidated and form a single
Series:
2. Specified Currency or Currencies:
3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series:
(b) Tranche:
4. Issue Price:
5. Specified Denominations:
(a) Calculation Amount:
6. Issue Date:
(a) Interest Commencement Date:
7. Maturity Date:
8. Interest Basis:

20

to use the second option here.

[]
[]

[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single
Series with [Provide issue amount/ISIN/maturity
date/issue date of earlier Tranches] on [the Issue
Date/ the date that is 40 days after the Issue
Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for
interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to
in paragraph 27 below, which is expected to occur on
or about [date]][Not Applicable]]

(delete this paragraph if Not Applicable)

[]

[]
[]

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus
accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]

[]

[]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the
Specified Denomination

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the
highest common factor. Note: There must be a
common factor in the case of two or more Specified
Denominations)

[]

[specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant
for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)

[Specify date or for Floating rate notes - Interest
Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month

and year]*]

[The Maturity Date may need to be not less than one
year after the Issue Date)]

[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate]

Note that for Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes, where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be necessary
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

9. Redemption/Payment Basis:

10. Change of Interest Basis:

)] Switch Option:

(i1) Switch Option Expiry Date:

(1i1) Switch Option Effective Date:

11. Call Options:

12. Status of the Notes:

[Date of [Board] approval for
issuance of Notes:

(a)

[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate from [
[ 1per cent. Fixed Rate from [

Jto[
Jto[ 1]

], then
([ ] month [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-CDOR/CMS
Reference Rate/SOFR] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating Rate]
[Floating Rate: CMS Rate Linked Interest]

[Inflation Linked Interest]

[Zero Coupon]

(further particulars specified below)

100 per cent.

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete
paragraphs of this paragraph)

the remaining sub-

(To be completed in addition to paragraphs 13 and 15
below (as appropriate) if any fixed to floating or fixed
reset rate change occurs)

[Applicable — [specify details of the change(s) in
Interest Basis and the relevant Interest Periods to
which the change(s) in Interest Basis applies]/[Not
Applicable]

(The Issuer must give notice of the exercise of the
Switch Option to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes on or prior to the relevant Switch Option
Expiry Date)

[ ]

[ ]

[Not Applicable]
[Issuer Call]
[Regulatory Call]

[Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC Disqualification
Event]

[(see paragraph[s] [19][, 20] [and][21]below]
[Senior/Subordinated]

[1]

(Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation
is required for the particular tranche of Notes)
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

(a) Rate(s) of Interest: [[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date] [specify other in case of
different Rates of Interest in respect of different
Interest Periods].

(b) Interest Payment Date(s): [[ ]in each year up to and including the Maturity Date]

(Amend appropriately in the case of irregular
coupons)

(c) Business Day Convention: [Modified Following Business Day Convention/Not
Applicable]

(For certain Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate
Notes, the Interest Payment Dates are subject to
modification, insert Modified Following Business
Day Convention)

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): [[ ] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes
in definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in
global form)] [payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each
Interest Payment Date][, except for the amount of
interest payable on the first Interest Payment Date
falling on [ ]].] [[This]/[These] Fixed Coupon
Amount[s] appl[ies]/[y] if the Notes are represented
by a global Note or are in definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

(e) Broken Amount(s): [[ 1per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes
in definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in
global form)][, payable on the Interest Payment Date
falling [in/on] [ ].][This Broken Amount applies if
the Notes are represented by a global Note or are in
definitive form]/[Not Applicable]

€3} Day Count Fraction: [30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)]?'[Actual/Actual ~ Canadian  Compound
Method]%??

(g) Determination Date[s]: [ ] in each year][Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular

21
22

Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Renminbi.
Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Canadian Dollars.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

14.

Reset Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)
(©)
(d)

(e)

®

(2
(h)
(i)
Q)

(k)

M

(m)
(n)

Initial Rate of Interest:

First Margin:
Subsequent Margin:
Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount up to (but
excluding) the First Reset Date:

Broken Amount(s):

First Reset Date:
Second Reset Date:
Subsequent Reset Date(s):

Mid-Swap Floating Leg Benchmark
Rate:

Relevant Screen Page:

Mid-Swap Rate:
Mid-Swap Maturity:

Reset Reference Rate Conversion:

interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or
maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last
coupon)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

remaining

[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear [on each
Interest Payment Date]

[+/-][®] per cent. per annum
[[*+/-]1[®] per cent. per annum] [Not Applicable]

[e] [and [@]] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date [until and excluding [e]]

[[®] per Calculation Amount] (applicable to the Notes
in definitive form)] [/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in
global form)] [payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each
Interest Payment Date][, except for the amount of
interest payable on the first Interest Payment Date
falling on [ ]].] [[This]/[These] Fixed Coupon
Amount[s] appl[ies]/[y] if the Notes are represented
by a global Note or are in definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

[[®] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes
in definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in
global form)][, payable on the Interest Payment Date
falling [in/on] [ ].] [This Broken Amount applies if

the Notes are represented by a global Note or are in
definitive form]/[Not Applicable]

[e]

[®]/[Not Applicable]

[e] [and [e]]

[e]

[ISDAFIX1]/[ISDAFIX2]/[ISDAFIX3]/
[ISDAFIX4]/[ISDAFIXS]/[ISDAFIX6]/[e]/[Not
Applicable]

[Single Mid-Swap Rate/Mean Mid-Swap Rate]
[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

15.

(0)

)

(@)
(1)
(s)
(t)

Original Reset Reference Rate
Payment Basis:

Day Count Fraction:

Determination Dates:
Additional Business Centre(s):
Calculation Agent:

Reset Reference Rate Replacement:

Floating Rate Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®
€]

(h)
(1)

Interest Period(s):

Interest Accrual Period:
Interest Accrual Period End
Date(s):

Specified Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):
Manner in which the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount are to
be determined:

Calculation Agent:

Screen Rate Determination:

[Annual/Semi-annual/Quarterly/Monthly/Not
Applicable]

[Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360/360/360/Bond Basis]
[30E/360/Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Actual/Actual ICMA]

[®] in each year

[e]

[Principal Paying Agent] [e]
[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[®] [each consisting of [@] Interest Accrual Periods
each of [e]][, subject to adjustment in accordance
with the Business Day Convention]

[®] [Define for Compounded SOFR only, otherwise
delete]

[[®]/Not Applicable]

[ 1, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in subparagraph (e)
below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business
Day Convention subparagraph in (e) below is
specified to be Not Applicable] [ [ ] Business Days
following each Interest Accrual Period End Date/As
per Condition 6.3(b)(iii)(c)]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day

Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Not Applicable]

[]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[Principal Paying Agent] / [@®]
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

Reference Rate(s):

Relevant Financial Centre:

Reference Currency:

Designated Maturity:

Specified Time:

(1) Interest Determination
Date(s)/SOFR Interest

Determination Date(s):

(ii) Relevant Screen Page:

CMS Rate definitions:

[[[ ] month [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-CDOR/CMS
Reference Rate/SOFR]]/[CMS Rate]]

[London/Brussels/specify other Relevant Financial
Centre] (only relevant for CMS Rate)

(If CMS Rate is not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ 1 (only relevant for CMS Rate)
[ 1 (only relevant for CMS Rate)

[ ]in the Relevant Financial Centre (only relevant for
CMS Rate)

[]

(First day of each Interest Period if CAD-BA-CDOR
and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is
open prior to the start of each Interest Period if
EURIBOR or CMS Rate where the reference currency
is euro)

(In the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference
Currency is euro): [Second day on which the
TARGET2 system is open prior to the start of each
interest Period]

(In the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference
Currency is other than euro): [Second (specify type of
day) prior to the start of each Interest Period)

(In the case of Compounded SOFR with Lookback,
Compounded SOFR with Observation Period Shift
and Compounded SOFR Index with Observation
Period Shift, set out the number of U.S. Government
Securities Business Days prior to Interest Payment
Date(s) in respect of the relevant Interest Period(s))

[ISDAFIX2 or any successor screen page| [insert
other screen page]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or
amend the fallback provisions appropriately)

(In the case of a CMS Linked Interest Note, specify
relevant screen page and any applicable headings
and captions)

[Not Applicable][Cap means [ ] per cent. per annum]

[Floor means [ ] per cent. per annum]
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

@

(k)

M

Calculation Method:

Observation Period:

SOFR Indexstrt and SOFR Indexgng
Number of U.S. Government
Securities Business Days:

Lookback Number of U.S.
Government Securities Business
Days:

D:
ISDA Determination:
(1) Floating Rate Option:

(i1) Designated Maturity:

(1ii) Reset Date:

Linear Interpolation:

Difference in Rates:

CMS Rate 1:

Manner in which CMS Rate 1 is to
be determined:

CMS Rate 2:

Manner in which CMS Rate 2 is to
be determined:

[Leverage means [ ] per cent.]

[Compounded SOFR with Lookback/Compounded
SOFR with Observation Period Shift/Compounded
SOFR with Payment Delay/Compounded SOFR
Index with Observation Period Shift] (only relevant
for SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable] [As defined in Conditions]
(only relevant for SOFR)

[SOFR Indexswmr: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]] / Not Applicable] (only relevant
for SOFR)

[SOFR Indexgns: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]] / Not Applicable] (only relevant
for SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable] (only relevant for SOFR)

(Not less than Five U.S. Government Securities
Business Days without consent of Calculation Agent)

[365/360/[ 1] (only relevant for SOFR)

[]
[]
[ ]

(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day
of the Interest Period. In the case of a CMS Linked
Interest Note, if based on euro then the first day of
each Interest Period and if otherwise to be checked.)

[Not Applicable/Applicable — the Rate of interest for
the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be
calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each
short or long interest period)]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

[ ]

[Reference Rate determined in accordance with
Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Rate determined in
accordance with ISDA Determination/ CMS Rate
determined in accordance with ISDA Determination]

[ ]

[Reference Rate determined in accordance with
Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Rate determined in
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

16.

(m) Margin(s):
(n) Minimum Rate of Interest:
(0) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(p) Day Count Fraction:

(@ Reference Rate Replacement:

Inflation Linked Interest Note Provisions:

(a) Inflation Index:
(b) Inflation Index Sponsor:
() Index Factor:

(d) Calculation Agent (which shall not
be the Principal Paying Agent):

(e) Determination Date(s):

® Interest or calculation period(s):

23

accordance with ISDA Determination/ CMS Rate
determined in accordance with ISDA Determination]

[Not Applicable]/[ [+/-] [ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]
[30E/360][Eurobond basis]

30E/360 (ISDA)]*

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[Inflation for Blue Collar Workers and Employees -
Excluding Tobacco Consumer Price Index Unrevised
(CPI)/ Eurozone Harmonised Index of Consumer
Prices excluding Tobacco (HICP)]

(Give or annex details of index/indices)

[Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated
by reference to [CPI/HICP] which is provided by [®].
[As at [®], [®] [appears/does not appear] on the
register of administrators and benchmarks established
and maintained by the European Securities and
Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the
Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the EU Benchmarks
Regulation).] [As far as the Issuer is aware,
[CPI/HICP] [does/do] not fall within the scope of the
EU Benchmarks Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of
that Regulation.]]

[ ]

[ 1 [Specify the relevant Index Factor] [Not
Applicable]

[name]

Actual/365(Fixed) is applicable to Renminbi and Canadian Dollars denominated Notes.
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(2

(h)

(1)
W)
(k)
M

(m)
(n)

(0)
(p)
(@

()
(s)
®

(u)

Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):
Minimum Rate of Interest:
Maximum Rate of Interest:

Margin:

Day Count Fraction:

Commencement Date of

Inflation Index:
Reference Month:
Reference Bond:

Related Bond:

Fallback Bond:
Cut-Off Date:

End Date:

Additional Disruption Events:

Period(s)/Specified

the

[ ]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Not Applicable]

(Note that this item adjusts the end date of each
Interest Period (and, consequently, also adjusts the
length of the Interest Period and the amount of
interest due). In relation to the actual date on which
Noteholders are entitled to receive payment of
interest, see also Condition 9.7 (Payment Day) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes.)

[ ]
[ 1per cent. per annum
[ 1per cent. per annum

[[insert Margin]
Applicable]

per cent. per annum] [Not

[ ]

[ 1/Specify the relevant commencement month of the
retail price index]

[ ]
[ ]
[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
The Related Bond is: [ ] [Fallback Bond]

The issuer of the Related Bond is: [ ]
[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
[As per Conditions]/[specify other]

[ ]

(This is necessary whenever Fallback Bond is
applicable)

[Change of Law]

[Increased Cost of Hedging]
[Hedging Disruption]
[None]
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17.

V)

Trade Date:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

(2)
(b)
(©

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Day Count Fraction in relation to
Early Redemption Amounts:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

18.

19.

Notice periods for Condition 10.3 of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes and
Condition 10.6 of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes:

Issuer Call:

(a)

(b)

(©
(d)
(e)
¢

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption Amount (in
the case of Subordinated Notes
only, subject to the prior approval of
the relevant Competent Authority,
as applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws  and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the then
applicable Relevant Regulations):

Reference Bond:
Quotation Time:
Redemption Margin:
If redeemable in part:

(1) Minimum
Amount:

Redemption

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum
[]
[30/360]

[Actual/360]

[Actual/365]

Minimum period: [ | days

Maximum period: [ | days

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

remaining

remaining

[ ] [each Business Day during the period from (and
including) [date] to (but excluding) [date] [and each

Interest Payment Date following [date]].]

[ ] per Calculation Amount][[Make-whole

Amount]]

[Insert applicable Reference Bond/FA Selected Bond]

[11.00 a.m. [London/specify other] time]

[[ ] per cent./Not Applicable]
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20.

21.

22.

23.

(i) Maximum  Redemption
Amount:
(g) Notice period:
Regulatory Call:

Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event:

Final Redemption Amount:

Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption:

(1)

(i)

for taxation reasons (subject to
[insert in the case of Senior Notes][
Condition 10.16 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] in [insert
in the case of Subordinated
Notes][Condition 10.15 of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes
(including the prior approval of the
relevant Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations,
including Articles 77(b) and 78 of
the CRD IV Regulation or, if
different, the then applicable
Relevant Regulations)]) as
contemplated by Condition 10.3 of
the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes;

[insert in case of Subordinated
Notes][for  regulatory  reasons
(subject to Condition 10.15 of the

[]

Minimum period: [ ] days

Maximum period: [ ] days

(When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of
information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems (which require a minimum of 5
clearing system business days’ notice for a call) and
custodians, as well as any other notice requirements
which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer
and the Principal Paying Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant in the case of Subordinated Notes)
[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(Please consider that not less than the minimum
period nor more than maximum period (each as
specified in paragraph 18 above) of notice has to be
sent to the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance
with Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, the Noteholders)

(Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes)
[ 1/[[100 per cent.] per Calculation Amount]

[ ] [per Calculation Amount/As per Condition [10.7]
(Early Redemption Amounts) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes]

[See also paragraph 20 above)] (Delete this cross-
reference unless the Notes are Subordinated Notes
and the Regulatory Call is applicable)

[See also paragraph 21 (Issuer Call due to MREL or
TLAC Disqualification Event) above] (Delete this
cross-reference unless the Notes are Senior Notes and
the Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event is applicable)

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is 100 per cent.
of the nominal value (i.e. par), the Early Redemption
Amount is likely to be par (but consider). If, however,
the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per
cent. of the nominal value, consideration should be
given as to what the Early Redemption Amount should
be.)
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24.

25.

Terms and Conditions of the Notes
(including the prior approval of the
relevant Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations,
including Articles 77(b) and 78 of
the CRD IV Regulation or, if
different, the then applicable
Relevant Regulations)) as
contemplated by Condition 10.4 of
the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes;]

(ii1) [insert in case of Senior Notes][for
MREL or TLAC Disqualification
Event (subject to Condition 10.16 of
the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes) as  contemplated by
Condition 10.6 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes; or]

(iv) on event of default (subject to[insert
in the case of Senior Notes||
Condition 10.16 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] [insert in
the case of Subordinated Notes]|
Condition 10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes (including
the prior approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as applicable,
and in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations, including
Articles 77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the then
applicable Relevant Regulations)]),

and/or the method of calculating the same (if
required or if different from that set out in
Condition 10.7 of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes (Redemption and Purchase —
Early Redemption Amounts):

Extendible Notes:

(a) Initial Maturity Date:
(b) Final Maturity Date:
(c) Election Date(s):

(d) Notice period:

RMB Currency Event:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

Not less than [ ] nor more than [ ] days prior to the
applicable Election Date]”

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

For any maturity extension at the option of the holder a minimum of 10 business days notice is required.
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(a) Spot Rate:

(b)

Calculation Agent responsible for
calculating the Spot Rate:

26. Relevant Currency:

(If not applicable, delete the

subparagraphs of this paragraph)

remaining

(i) Relevant Spot Rate Screen Page:
CNHFIXO01]/[ J/[Not Applicable]

[Reuters

(i1) Relevant Valuation Time: [ ]/[Not Applicable]

[®][Not Applicable]

[specify] [Not Applicable]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27. Form of Notes
(a) Form of Notes:
(b) New Global Note:
28. Additional Financial Centre(s):
209. RMB Settlement Centre(s):
30. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to

Definitive Notes:

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable
for definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for
definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium,
except to a clearing system, a depository or other
institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in
accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14
December 2005.%4]

[Yes] [No]
[Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of
payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods for
the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to
which subparagraph 16(c) above relates)

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon
payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange
into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments
are still to be made/No]

[Relevant third-party information,] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such
information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from

24

Include for Notes that are to be offered in Belgium.
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information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of UniCredit S.p.A.:

By:
Duly authorised
By:

Duly authorised
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Part B— OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO
TRADING:

2. RATINGS

Ratings:

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its
behalf) for the Notes to be listed on the Official List
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to
trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's
regulated market with effect from [ ].]

[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or
on its behalf) for the Notes to be listed on the Official
List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted
to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's
regulated market with effect from [ ].] [Not
Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate
that original Notes are already admitted to trading on
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market)

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to
be]] rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings
assigned to Notes of this type issued under the
Programme generally]:

[insert details]] by [insert the legal name of the
relevant credit rating agency entity(ies) and
associated defined terms).

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of
the ratings if this has previously been published by the
rating provider.]

[Each of [defined terms] is established in the
European Union and is registered under the
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the
CRA Regulation).] [The rating [Insert legal name of
particular credit rating agency entity providing
rating] has given to the Notes is endorsed by [insert
legal name of credit rating agency], which is
established in the UK and registered under Regulation
(EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act
2018 (the UK CRA Regulation).]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating
allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the
Programme generally or, where the issue has been
specifically rated, that rating.)

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for the fees [of [insert relevant fee disclosure]] payable to the [Dealers/Managers], so far as the
Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The
[Dealers/Managers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment
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banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer
and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business - Amend as appropriate if there are other interests|

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters
described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to
the Base Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)]

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER, ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES

(a) Reasons for the offer: [for its general corporate purposes, which include
making a profit] / [@®]

[Further details on Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds are included in the [UniCredit
Sustainability Bond Framework], made available on
the Issuer’s website in the investor relations sections
at [@]]

See “Use of Proceeds” wording in the Base
Prospectus. (If reasons for offer different from making
profit or general corporate purposes (for example for
a Green Bond, a Social Bond, or an issuance of a
Sustainability Bond, will need to include those
reasons here))

(b) Estimated net proceeds: [ ]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will
need to split out and present in order of priority. If
proceeds are insufficient to fund all proposed uses,
state amount and sources of other funding)

(©) Estimated total expenses: [ 1]
5. YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)
Indication of yield: [ 1 [Not Applicable]
6. PERFORMANCE OF RATES (Floating Rate Notes and Inflation Linked Notes Only)

[Details of performance of [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-CDOR/CMS Reference Rate/SOFR/CPI/HICP]
rates can be obtained, [but not] free of charge, from [Reuters/Bloomberg/give details of electronic
means of obtaining the details of performance].] [Not Applicable]

7. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
(a) ISIN: []
(b) Common Code: [1]
(c) CUSIP: [ 1 [Not Applicable]
(d) CINS: [ 1 [Not Applicable]
(e) CFI: [[include code]®, as updated, as set out on the website

of the Association of National Numbering Agencies

» The actual code should only be included where the Issuer is comfortable that it is correct.

113



Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of less than €100,000

() FISN:

(2) [[specify other codes])

(h) Any clearing system(s) other than
Euroclear Bank and Clearstream
Luxembourg and the relevant
identification number(s):

(1) Delivery:

)] Names and addresses of additional
Paying Agent(s) (if any):

(k) Intended to be held in a manner
which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility:

8. DISTRIBUTION
(1) Method of distribution:
(ii) If syndicated, names and addresses

of Managers (specifying Lead
Manager) and underwriting
commitments:

(ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the
ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[[include code]?, as updated, as set out on the website
of the Association of National Numbering Agencies
(ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the
ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

(1]

[Not Applicable/give name(s),
number(s)]

address(es) and

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does
not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised
as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy
and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem
either upon issue or at any or all times during their life.
Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being
satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been
met.]/

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that
the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may
then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily mean
that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra
day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility
criteria have been met.]]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and

underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to
underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and
names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place
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(iii)

(iv)
V)

(vi)
(vii)

(viii)

Date of [Subscription Agreement/
other agreement]:

Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):

If non-syndicated, name and

address of relevant Dealer:
Total commission and concession:

U.S. Selling Restrictions:

[Non-exempt Offer [where there is
no exemption from the obligation
under the Prospectus Regulation to
publish a prospectus]:

[Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions:

Offer Period:

Financial intermediaries granted
specific consent to use the Base
Prospectus in accordance with the
Conditions in it:

General Consent:

Other Authorised Offeror Terms
conditions to consent:

the issue without a firm commitment or on a “best
efforts” basis if such entities are not the same as the
Managers.)

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/give name and address]

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount

[Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3]; TEFRA
D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

(if not applicable, delete the remaining placeholders
of this paragraph (viii) and also paragraph 9 below)

[Specify relevant Member State(s) where the issuer
intends to make Non-exempt Offers (note that the Base
Prospectus includes a list of States where the issuer
has passported the Base Prospectus and any
supplements and from which the relevant Non-exempt
Offer Jurisdictions should be selected in addition to
Luxembourg: the Republic of Italy, the Federal
Republic of Germany and Austria)]

From [Specify the start date(s)] until [specify end-
date(s)]

[Insert names and addresses
intermediaries receiving
consent)/Not Applicable]

of financial
consent (specific

[Not Applicable][Applicable]

[Not Applicable][Add here any other Authorised
Offeror Terms]

(Authorised Offeror Terms should only be included
here where General Consent is applicable)

(Consider any local regulatory requirements
necessary to be fulfilled so as to be able to make a
non-exempt offer in relevant jurisdictions. No such
offer should be made in any relevant jurisdiction until
those requirements have been met. Non-exempt offers
may only be made into jurisdictions in which the base
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(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors:

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail
Investors:

[EU Benchmark Regulation:

EU Benchmark Regulation: Article
29(2) statement on benchmarks:

prospectus (and any supplement) has been
notified/passported.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If the
Notes may constitute “packaged” products and no key
information document will be prepared in the EEA,
“Applicable” should be specified.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged”
products and a key information document will be
prepared in the UK, “Not Applicable” should be
specified. If the Notes may constitute “packaged”
products and no key information document will be
prepared, “Applicable” should be specified.)

[Applicable: Amounts payable under the Notes are
calculated by reference to [insert name[s] of
benchmark(s)], which [is/are] provided by [insert
namels] of the administrator(s] — if more than one
specify in relation to each relevant benchmark).

[As at the date of these Final Terms, [insert namels]
of the administrator[s]] [is/are] [not] included in the
register of administrators and benchmarks established
and maintained by the European Securities and
Markets Authority [(ESMA)] pursuant to article 36 of
the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU)
2016/1011) [(the BMR)]. [As far as the Issuer is
aware, [[insert name of the benchmark] does not fall
within the scope of the BMR by virtue of Article 2 of
the BMR.]/[the transitional provisions in Article 51 of
the BMR apply, such that the administrator is not
currently required to obtain
authorisation/registration]]. (repeat as necessary)]]

(if Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

9. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

(Whole section not to be completed if subparagraph 8(viii) above is specified to be Not Applicable
because there is no Non-exempt Offer)

(a)
(b)

(c)

Offer Price:

Conditions to which the offer is
subject:

Description of the application
process:

[Issue Price/Not Applicable/specify]

[Not Applicable/give details)

[A prospective investor will subscribe for Notes in
accordance with the arrangements agreed with the
relevant authorized intermediary relating to the
subscription of securities generally/give details/Not
Applicable]
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(d)

(e)

¢

(@

(h)

W)

(k)

M

Details of the minimum and/or
maximum amount of  the
application:

Description of possibility to reduce
subscriptions and manner for
refunding amounts paid in excess
by applicants:

Details of the method and time
limits for paying up and delivering
the Notes:

Manner in and date on which
results of the offer are to be made
public:

Procedure for exercise of any right
of pre-emption, negotiability of
subscription rights and treatment of
subscription rights not exercised:

Whether tranche(s) have been
reserved for certain countries:

Process for notifying applicants of
the amount allotted and an
indication whether dealing may
begin before notification is made:

Amount of any expenses and taxes
charged to the subscriber or
purchaser:

Name(s) and address(es), to the
extent known to the Issuer, of the
placers in the various countries
where the offer takes place:

[Not Applicable/give details)

[Not Applicable/give details)

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details)

[Not Applicable/give details)

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details)

[Not Applicable/give details)

(If the Issuer is subject to MiFID II and/or PRIIPs
such that it is required to disclose information relating
to costs and charges, also include that information)

[insert name] [insert address] [The Authorised
Offerors identified in paragraph [8] above and
identifiable from the Base Prospectus/None/give
details]
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of at least
€100,000

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF AT LEAST €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY
OTHER CURRENCY), OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES, AND NOTES TO BE ADMITTED
TO TRADING ONLY ON A REGULATED MARKET, OR A SPECIFIC SEGMENT OF A
REGULATED MARKET, TO WHICH ONLY QUALIFIED INVESTORS HAVE ACCESS

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued
under the Programme which are not Exempt Notes and which (1) have a denomination of at least
€100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) and/or (2) are to be admitted to trading only on a
regulated market, or a specific segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified investors (as
defined in the Prospectus Regulation and UK Prospectus Regulation) have access.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more)
of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or
(i) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the Insurance Distribution
Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1)
of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus
Regulation). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]?

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a
retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the
provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
as amended (the Insurance Distribution Directive) where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs
Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]?’

[[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the
[Notes] has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the [Notes] is eligible counterparties and
professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID IT)][MiFID II]; and (ii)
all channels for distribution of the [Notes] to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate.
[Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the [Notes]
(a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the
[Notes] (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining
appropriate distribution channels.]

26 Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information

document will be prepared in the EEA or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case
the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.
Legend to be included on the front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information
document will be prepared in the UK or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case
the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.

27
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[UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the
Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined
in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in
Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act
2018 (UK MiFIR); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance
Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer|’s/s’] target market assessment)
and determining appropriate distribution channels.]?®

OR

[MIFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the [Notes] has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the [Notes] is eligible counterparties,
professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II")][MiFID
II]; EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the [Notes] are appropriate[, including investment advice,
portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to
eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of
the [Notes] to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and] portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised
sales ][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under
MiFID 11, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the [Notes] (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer|’s/s’] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the [Notes] (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor’s suitability and
appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable].]]

[UK MIFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is retail clients, as defined in point
(8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA), and eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of
Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (UK MiFIR); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the
Notes are appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution
services] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate;
and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/
and] portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised sales ][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s
suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market).
Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into
consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance
Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting
or refining the manufacturer|‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels|,
subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable].]]%

[Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or
amended from time to time (the SFA) - [To insert notice if classification of the Notes is not “prescribed capital
markets products”, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS
Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-NI16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products)]]*°

28
29
30

Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market approach.
Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if following the ICMA 2 market approach.

Relevant Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch
of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of at least €100,000

[The following language applies if the Notes are intended to be Qualifying Debt Securities for the purposes of the
Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the
Notes by any person who (i) is not resident in Singapore and (ii) carries on any operations in Singapore through
a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to
certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the ITA), shall not apply if such person acquires
such Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment in
Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost
derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such
income in a return of income made under the ITA.]

[Date]
FINAL TERMS

UniCredit S.p.A.
[Please include the place of incorporation, registered office, registration number and form of the Issuer)

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] |Title of Notes)
under the
€60,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

[The Notes will only be admitted to trading on [insert name of relevant Q1 market/segment], which is [an
EEA regulated market/a specific segment of an EEA regulated market] (as defined in MiFID II), to which
only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) can have access and shall not be offered
or sold to non-qualified investors.]?!

Part A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 7 June 2022 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date(s)] [and [date]]
which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Base
Prospectus). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the
Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with such Base Prospectus, in order to obtain all the
relevant information. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing during normal business hours at UniCredit
S.p.A., Piazza Gae Aulenti, 3 Tower A 20154 Milan, Italy and has been published on the website of UniCredit
www.unicreditgroup.eu, as well as on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu. Copies
may be obtained, free of charge, from the Issuer at the address above.

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued
under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date.]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes] [Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes] (the Conditions) set forth in the Base
Prospectus dated 7 June 2021 which are incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus dated 7 June 2022. This
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation
and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated [current date] [and the supplement[s] to it dated
[date] [and [date]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation
(the Base Prospectus), including the Conditions incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus, in order to
obtain all the relevant information. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing during normal business hours at
UniCredit S.p.A., Piazza Gae Aulenti, 3 Tower A 20154 Milan, Italy and has been published on the website of
UniCredit www.unicreditgroup.eu as well as on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.bourse.lu.
Copies may be obtained, free of charge, from the Issuer at the address above.

31 Legend to be included for Notes with a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) which will

only be admitted to trading on a regulated market or a specific segment of a regulated market to which only qualified investors can have
access.
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[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs (in
which case the subparagraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote guidance
for completing the Final Terms.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination may
need to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)

1. Series Number: [1]
(a) Tranche Number: []
(b) [Date on which the Notes will be [The Notes will be consolidated and form a single
consolidated and form a single Series with [Provide issue amount/ISIN/maturity
Series: date/issue date of earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/

the date that is 40 days after the Issue Date/exchange of
the Temporary Global Note for interests in the
Permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph [ ]
below, which is expected to occur on or about
[date]][Not Applicable]]

(delete this paragraph if Not Applicable)

2. Specified Currency or Currencies: []
3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series: []
(b) Tranche: []
4. Issue Price: [ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]
5. Specified Denominations32: []

(Notes must have a minimum denomination of €100,000
(or equivalent) unless they are to be admitted to trading
only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a
regulated market, to which only qualified investors have
access. In the case of Non-Preferred Senior Notes,
Notes must have a minimum denomination of €250,000
(or equivalent))

(Note — where multiple denominations above
[€100,000] or equivalent are being used the following
sample wording should be followed.:

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in

2 The minimum denomination of the Non-Preferred Senior Notes will be Euro 250,000 and the minimum denomination of each
Additional Tier 1 Note will be Euro 100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in
such currency) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent
body).
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of at least €100,000

definitive form will be issued with a denomination above
[€199,000]."))

(a) Calculation Amount: []

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the
highest common factor. Note: There must be a common
factor in the case of two or more Specified

Denominations)
6. Issue Date: []
(a) Interest Commencement Date: [specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant
for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)

7. Maturity Date: [Specify date or for Floating rate - Interest Payment
Date falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]*’]

[(The Maturity Date may need to be not less than one
year after the Issue Date)]

[The Notes are perpetual securities and have no fixed
date for redemption. The Notes may only be redeemed
in the circumstances described in Condition 10 of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes.] (N.B. only
applicable to Additional Tier 1 Notes)

8. Interest Basis: [[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate]

[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate from [ ]to[ ], then [ ]
per cent. Fixed Rate from [ Jto[ 11

(I ] month [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-CDOR/CMS
Reference Rate/SOFR] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating Rate]

[Floating Rate: CMS Rate Linked Interest]
[Inflation Linked Interest]
[Zero Coupon]
(further particulars specified below)
9. Redemption/Payment Basis: 100 per cent.

10. Change of Interest Basis: [Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs
of this paragraph)

33 Note that for Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes, where the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be necessary

to use the second option here.
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of at least €100,000

(1) Switch Option:

(i1) Switch Option Expiry Date:
(1ii) Switch Option Effective Date:

11. Call Options:

12. Status of the Notes:

(a) [Date of [Board] approval for
issuance of Notes

(To be completed in addition to paragraphs 13 and 15
below (as appropriate) if any fixed to floating or fixed
reset rate change occurs)

[Applicable — [specify details of the change(s) in
Interest Basis and the relevant Interest Periods to which
the change(s) in Interest Basis applies]/[Not
Applicable]

(The Issuer must give notice of the exercise of the Switch
Option to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17

(Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes on
or prior to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date)

[ ]

[ ]

[Not Applicable]
[Issuer Call]
[Regulatory Call]

[Tssuer Call due to MREL or TLAC Disqualification
Event]

[(see paragraph[s] [19]/[, 20][and][21 below]

[Senior / Non-Preferred Senior / Subordinated /
Additional Tier 1]

[1]

(Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation
is required for the particular tranche of Notes)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(a) Rate(s) of Interest:

(b) Interest Payment Date(s):

(c) Business Day Convention:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date] [specify other in case of different
Rates of Interest in respect of different Interest Periods]

[[ ] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date

(Amend appropriately in the case of irregular coupons)

[Modified Following Business Day Convention/Not
Applicable]

(For certain Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes,
the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification,
insert Modified Following Business Day Convention)
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14.

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s):

(e) Broken Amount(s):
® Day Count Fraction:
(2) Determination Date[s]:

Reset Note Provisions:

(a) Initial Rate of Interest:

(b) First Margin:
(c) Subsequent Margin:

(d) Interest Payment Date(s):

(e) Fixed Coupon Amount up to (but
excluding) the First Reset Date:

34
35

Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Renminbi.

[[ ] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)|[/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)]
[payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each Interest Payment
Date][, except for the amount of interest payable on the
first Interest Payment Date falling on [ ]].]
[[This]/[These] Fixed Coupon Amount[s] appl[ies]/[y] if
the Notes are represented by a global Note or are in
definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

[[ ]per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)|[/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)][,
payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on]
[ 1] [This Broken Amount applies if the Notes are
represented by a global Note or are in definitive
form]/[Not Applicable]

[30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)]**[Actual/Actual Canadian Compound
Method]*

[ ] in each year][Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular
interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity
date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear [on each
Interest Payment Date]

[+/-][®] per cent. per annum
[[+/-][®] per cent. per annum] [Not Applicable]

[e] [and [®]] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date [until and excluding [e]]

[[®] per Calculation Amount] (applicable to the Notes
in definitive form)] [/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal
Amount of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global
form)] [payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each Interest
Payment Date][, except for the amount of interest
payable on the first Interest Payment Date falling on [
1.1 [[This])/[These] Fixed Coupon Amount[s]

Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Canadian Dollars.
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15.

¢

(2
(h)
(i)
©)

(k)

M

(m)

(n)

(0)

(p)

(@)
(1)
(s)
(t)

Broken Amount(s):

First Reset Date:
Second Reset Date:
Subsequent Reset Date(s):

Mid-Swap Floating Leg
Benchmark Rate:

Relevant Screen Page:

Mid-Swap Rate:
Mid-Swap Maturity:
Reset Reference Rate

Conversion:

Original Reset Reference Rate
Payment Basis:

Day Count Fraction:

Determination Dates:
Additional Business Centre(s):
Calculation Agent:

Reset Reference Rate
Replacement:

Floating Rate Note Provisions:

appl[ies]/[y] if the Notes are represented by a global
Note or are in definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

[[®] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)][,
payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ].]
[This Broken Amount applies if the Notes are
represented by a global Note or are in definitive
form]/[Not Applicable]

[e]

[®]/[Not Applicable]

[] [and [e]]

[e]
[ISDAFIX1]/[ISDAFIX2)/[ISDAFIX3]/[ISDAFIX4]/
[ISDAFIXS]/[ISDAFIX6]/[e]/[Not Applicable]
[Single Mid-Swap Rate/Mean Mid-Swap Rate]

[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Annual/Semi-annual/Quarterly/Monthly/Not
Applicable]

[Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
Actual/365 (Fixed)]

Actual/365 (Sterling)]

Actual/360]

30/360/360/360/Bond Basis]
30E/360/Eurobond Basis]

30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Actual/Actual ICMA]

e

[®] in each year
[e]
[Principal Paying Agent] [e]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®
(@

(h)
(1)

Interest Period(s):

Interest Accrual Period:

Interest
Date(s):

Accrual Period End

Specified ~ Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):

Manner in which the Rate of

Interest and Interest Amount are
to be determined:

Calculation Agent:

Screen Rate Determination:

Reference Rate(s):

Relevant Financial Centre:

Reference Currency:

Designated Maturity:

Specified Time:

(1)

Interest Determination
Date(s)/SOFR Interest
Determination Date(s):

[®] [each consisting of [e] Interest Accrual Periods each
of [e]][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention]

[®] [Define for Compounded SOFR only, otherwise
delete]

[[®]/Not Applicable]

[ ][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in subparagraph (e)
below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business
Day Convention in subparagraph (e) below is specified
to be Not Applicable] [ [ ] Business Days following each
Interest Accrual Period End Date/As per Condition

6.3(b)(iii)(c)]
[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified  Following Business Day

Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention][Not
Applicable]

[]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[Principal Paying Agent] [@®]

[[[ ] month [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-CDOR/CMS
Reference Rate/SOFR]]/[CMS Rate]]

[London/Brussels/specify other Relevant Financial
Centre] (only relevant for CMS Rate)

(If CMS Rate is not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ 1 (only relevant for CMS Rate)

[ 1 (only relevant for CMS Rate)

[ ] in the Relevant Financial Centre (only relevant for
CMS Rate)

[]

(First day of each Interest Period if CAD-BA-CDOR and
the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open
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(i)

Relevant Screen Page:

CMS Rate definitions:

Calculation Method:

Observation Period:

SOFR Indexsw: and SOFR
Indexgna Number of U.S.
Government Securities Business
Days:

Lookback Number of U.S.
Government Securities Business
Days:

prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or
CMS Rate when the reference currency is euro)

(In the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference
Currency is euro): [Second day on which the TARGET?2
system is open prior to the start of each interest Period]

(In the case of a CMS Rate where the Reference
Currency is other than euro): [Second (specify type of
day) prior to the start of each Interest Period)

(In the case of Compounded SOFR with Lookback,
Compounded SOFR with Observation Period Shift and
Compounded SOFR Index with Observation Period
Shift, set out the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days prior to Interest Payment Date(s) in
respect of the relevant Interest Period(s))

[ISDAFIX2 or any successor screen page]| [insert other
screen page]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR0I
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or
amend the fallback provisions appropriately)

(In the case of a CMS Linked Interest Note, specify
relevant screen page and any applicable headings and
captions)

[Cap means [ ] per cent. per annum]|
[Floor means [ ] per cent. per annum]
[Leverage means [ ] per cent.]

[Compounded SOFR with Lookback/Compounded
SOFR with Observation Period Shift/Compounded
SOFR with Payment Delay/Compounded SOFR Index
with Observation Period Shift] (only relevant for SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable] [As defined in Conditions] (only
relevant for SOFR)

[SOFR Indexswr: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]]/ Not Applicable] (only relevant for
SOFR)

[SOFR Indexgna: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]]/ Not Applicable] (only relevant for
SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable]
relevant for SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable] (only

(Not less than Five U.S. Government Securities Business
Days without consent of Calculation Agent)
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Applicable Final Terms for Notes with a Denomination of at least €100,000

D:

) ISDA Determination:
(1) Floating Rate Option:
(i1) Designated Maturity:
(iii) Reset Date:

(k) Linear Interpolation:

)] Difference in Rates:
CMS Rate 1:
Manner in which CMS Rate 1 is
to be determined:
CMS Rate 2:
Manner in which Rate 2 is to be
determined:

(m) Margin(s):

(n) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(o) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(p) Day Count Fraction:

(@ Reference Rate Replacement:

16. Inflation Linked Interest Note Provisions:

36

[365/360/[ 1] (only relevant for SOFR)

[]
[]
[ ]

(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day of
the Interest Period. In the case of a CMS Linked Interest
Note, if based on euro then the first day of each Interest
Period and if otherwise to be checked.)

[Not Applicable/Applicable - the Rate of interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long
interest period)]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

[ ]

[Reference Rate determined in accordance with Screen
Rate Determination/ISDA  Rate determined in
accordance with ISDA Determination/ CMS Rate
determined in accordance with ISDA Determination]

[ ]

[Reference Rate determined in accordance with Screen
Rate Determination/ISDA  Rate determined in
accordance with ISDA Determination/ CMS Rate
determined in accordance with ISDA Determination]

[Not Applicable] [[+/-] [ ] per cent. per annum]
[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]
[30E/360][Eurobond basis]

30E/360 (ISDA)]*

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

Actual 365 (Fixed) is applicable to Renminbi and Canadian Dollars denominated Notes.
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(a)

(b)
(©)

(d)

(e)
®
(@

(h)

(1)
W)
(k)
M

Inflation Index:

Inflation Index Sponsor:

Index Factor:

Calculation Agent (which shall
not be the Principal Paying
Agent):

Determination Date(s):

Interest or calculation period(s):

Specified ~ Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):
Minimum Rate of Interest:
Maximum Rate of Interest:

Margin:

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[Inflation for Blue Collar Workers and Employees -
Excluding Tobacco Consumer Price Index Unrevised
(CPI)/ Eurozone Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices
excluding Tobacco (HICP)]

(Give or annex details of index/indices)

[Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated by
reference to [CPI/HICP] which is provided by [®]. [As
at [@], [®] [appears/does not appear] on the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by the European Securities and Markets
Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the Regulation (EU)
2016/1011 (the EU Benchmarks Regulation).] [As far
as the Issuer is aware, [CPI/HICP] [does/do] not fall
within the scope of the EU Benchmarks Regulation by
virtue of Article 2 of that Regulation.]]

[ ]

[ 1 [Specify the relevant Index Factor] [Not
Applicable]

[name]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified  Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] [Not
Applicable]

(Note that this item adjusts the end date of each Interest
Period (and, consequently, also adjusts the length of the
Interest Period and the amount of interest due). In
relation to the actual date on which Noteholders are
entitled to receive payment of interest, see also
Condition 9.7 (Payment Day) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes.)

[]

[ ]per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum

[[insert Margin] per cent. per annum] [Not Applicable]
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(m) Day Count Fraction: [ ]

(n) Commencement Date of the [ ][Specify the relevant commencement month of the
Inflation Index: retail price index)

(o) Reference Month: [ ]

(p) Reference Bond: [ ]

(@) Related Bond: [Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

The Related Bond is: [ ] [Fallback Bond]

The issuer of the Related Bond is: [ ]

(r) Fallback Bond: [Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(s) Cut-Off Date: [As per Conditions]/[specify other]

(t) End Date: [ ]
(This is necessary whenever Fallback Bond is
applicable)

(u) Additional Disruption Events: [Change of Law]

[Increased Cost of Hedging]

[Hedging Disruption]
[None]
v) Trade Date: [ ]
17. Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs

of this paragraph)
(a) Accrual Yield: [ ] per cent. per annum
(b) Reference Price: [1]
(©) Day Count Fraction in relation to  [30/360]
Early Redemption Amounts:
[Actual/360]
[Actual/365]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

18. Notice periods for Condition 10.3 of the Minimum period: [ | days
Terms and Conditions of the Notes and
Condition 10.6 of the Terms and Maximum period: [ ] days
Conditions of the Notes:
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19.

20.

Issuer Call:

(a)

(b)

(©
(d)
(©
S

(2

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption Amount
(in the case of Subordinated
Notes or Additional Tier 1 Notes
only, subject to the prior
approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations):

Reference Bond:
Quotation Time:
Redemption Margin:
If redeemable in part:

(i) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(i1) Maximum Redemption
Amount:

Notice period:

Regulatory Call:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

[ ] [each Business Day during the period from (and
including) [date] to (but excluding) [date] [and each
Interest Payment Date following [date]].]

Calculation ~ Amount][[Make-whole

Il I per
Amount]]

[Insert applicable Reference Bond/FA Selected Bond]
[11.00 a.m. [London/specify other] time]

[[ ] per cent./Not Applicable]

[]

[]

Minimum period: [ ] days

Maximum period: [ ] days

(When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business
days' notice for a call) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
as between the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant in the case of Subordinated Notes and
Additional Tier 1 Notes)
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21.

22.

23.

Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event:

Final Redemption Amount:

Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption:

(1)

(i)

for taxation reasons (subject to
[insert in the case of Senior Notes
and Non-Preferred Senior Notes|
[Condition 10.16 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes]
[insert in  the case of
Subordinated Notes] [Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] [insert
in the case of Additional Tier 1
Notes] [Condition 10.15 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes (including the prior
approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations)]) as contemplated
by Condition 10.3 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes;

[insert in case of Subordinated
Notes or Additional Tier 1
Notes][for regulatory reasons
([insert in  the case of
Subordinated Notes]| [subject to
Condition 10.15 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes]
[insert in case of Additional Tier
1 Notes] [subject to Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes
(including the prior approval of
the relevant Competent
Authority, as applicable, and in
accordance with applicable laws
and  regulations, including

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(Please consider that not less than the minimum period
nor more than maximum period (each as specified in
paragraph 18 above) of notice has to be sent to the
Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with
Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, the Noteholders)

(Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes)

[ VI[100 per cent.] per Calculation Amount]

[ ] [per Calculation Amount/As per Condition] [10.7]
(Early Redemption Amounts) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes]

[See also paragraph 20 above] (Delete this cross-
reference unless the Notes are Subordinated Notes or
Additional Tier 1 Notes and the Regulatory Call is
applicable)

[See also paragraph 21 above] (Delete this cross-
reference unless the Notes are Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes and the Issuer Call due to MREL
or TLAC Disqualification Event is applicable)

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is 100 per cent. of
the nominal value (i.e. par), the Early Redemption
Amount is likely to be par (but consider). If, however, the
Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of
the nominal value, consideration should be given as to
what the Early Redemption Amount should be.)
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24.

25.

(iii)

(iv)

Articles 77(b) and 78 of the CRD
IV Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations)]) as contemplated
by Condition 10.4 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes;]

[insert in case of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes |[for
MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event (subject
to Condition 10.16 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes) as
contemplated by Condition 10.6
of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes; or]

on event of default (subject
to[insert in the case of Senior
Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes] [Condition 10.16 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes] [insert in the case of
Subordinated Notes] [Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] [insert
in the case of Additional Tier 1
Notes] [Condition 10.15 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes (including the prior
approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations)]),

and/or the method of calculating the same
(if required or if different from that set out
in Condition 10.7 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes):

Extendible Notes:

(a) Initial Maturity Date:
(b) Final Maturity Date:
() Election Date(s):

(d) Notice period:

RMB Currency Event:

For any maturity extension at the option of the holder a minimum of 10 business days notice is required.

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[]
[]
[]

Not less than [ ] nor more than [ | days prior to the

applicable Election Date”

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]
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26.

(a) Spot Rate:

(b) Calculation Agent responsible
for calculating the Spot Rate:

Relevant Currency:

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs
of this paragraph)

>i) Relevant Spot Rate Screen Page: [Reuters
CNHFIXO01]/[ J/[Not Applicable]

(i) Relevant Valuation Time: [ ]/[Not Applicable]

[®][Not Applicable]

[specify] [Not Applicable]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27.

28.

29.

Form of Notes

(a) Form of Notes:

(b) New Global Note:

Additional Financial Centre(s):

RMB Settlement Centre(s):

37

Include for Notes that are to be offered in Belgium.

[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable
for definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for
definitive Notes upon an Exchange Event]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium,
except to a clearing system, a depository or other
institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in
accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14
December 2005.%7]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Base Prospectus and
the Notes themselves. The option for an issue of Notes to
be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note
exchangeable for Definitive Notes should not be
expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination
of the Notes in paragraph 5 above includes language
substantially to the following effect: "[€100,000] and
integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof up to and
including [€199,000].".)]

[Yes] [No]

[Not Applicable/give details]
(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of payment
and not the end dates of Periods for the purpose of
calculating the amount of interest, to which
subparagraph 15(f) above relates)

[Not Applicable/give details]
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30. Talons for future Coupons to be attached [Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments,
Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive
form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to be
made/No]

to Definitive Notes:

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION
[Relevant third-party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such

information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced

information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of UniCredit S.p.A.:

By:
Duly authorised
By:

Duly authorised
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Part B— OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO
TRADING
(a) Estimate of total expenses

related to admission to trading:
2. RATINGS

Ratings:

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf)
for the Notes to be listed on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market with
effect from [ ].]

[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on
its behalf) for the Notes to be listed on the Official List of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market
with effect from [ ].] [Not Applicable.]

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that
original Notes are already admitted to trading on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market)

[]

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to be]]
rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to
Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally]:

[insert details]] by [insert the legal name of the relevant
credit rating agency entity(ies) and associated defined
terms].

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the
ratings if this has previously been published by the rating
provider]

[Each of [defined terms] is established in the European
Union and is registered under the Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation).] [The
rating [Insert legal name of particular credit rating
agency entity providing rating] has given to the Notes is
endorsed by [insert legal name of credit rating agency],
which is established in the UK and registered under
Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the UK CRA Regulation).]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated
to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme
generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated,
that rating.)

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for the fees [of [insert relevant fee disclosure]] payable to the [Dealers/Managers], so far as the
Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The
[Dealers/Managers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment
banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer
and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business — Amend as appropriate if there are other interests]
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[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters
described constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to
the Base Prospectus under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)]

USE AND ESTIMATED NET AMOUNT OF THE PROCEEDS

(a)

(b)

Use of the proceeds:

Estimated net amount of the
proceeds:

YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

Indication of yield:

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

(a)
(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

¢

€]

ISIN Code:
Common Code:
CUSIP:

CINS:

CFIL:

FISN:

[[specify other codes)

38

[for its general corporate purposes, which include making
a profit] / [®]

[Further details on Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds are included in the [UniCredit
Sustainability Bond Framework], made available on the
Issuer’s website in the investor relations sections at [®]]

See “Use of Proceeds” wording in the Base Prospectus.
(If reasons for offer different from making profit or
general corporate purposes (for example for a Green
Bond, a Social Bond, or an issuance of a Sustainability
Bond, will need to include those reasons here)))

[ ]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need
to split out and present in order of priority. If proceeds
are insufficient to fund all proposed uses, state amount
and sources of other funding)

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[]
[]

[ ] [Not Applicable]
[ ] [Not Applicable]

[[include code]®®, as updated, as set out on the website of
the Association of National Numbering Agencies
(ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not
Applicable/Not Available]

[[include code]**, as updated, as set out on the website of
the Association of National Numbering Agencies
(ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not
Applicable/Not Available]

[1]

The actual code should only be included where the Issuer is comfortable that it is correct.
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(h) Any clearing system(s) other
than Euroclear and Clearstream
Luxembourg and the relevant
identification number(s):

6) Delivery:

3) Names and addresses of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

(k) Intended to be held in a manner
which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility:

7. DISTRIBUTION

(1) Method of distribution:

(i1) If syndicated, names and
addresses of Managers
(specifying Lead Manager) and
underwriting commitments:

(1ii) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if
any):

(iv) If non-syndicated, name and
address of relevant Dealer:

v) U.S. Selling Restrictions:

[Not Applicable/give
number(s)]

name(s), address(es) and

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means that
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with
one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon
issue or at any or all times during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that
Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.] /

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date
of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility
criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are
capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited
with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper. Note that
this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary
policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem
at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend
upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility
criteria have been met.]]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to
underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and
names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the
issue without a firm commitment or on a “best efforts”
basis if such entities are not the same as the Managers.)

[Not Applicable/give name)

[Not Applicable/give name and address]

[Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3]; TEFRA D/TEFRA
C/TEFRA not applicable]]
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Prohibition of Sales to EEA

Retail Investors:

Prohibition of Sales to UK

Retail Investors:

[EU Benchmark Regulation:

EU Benchmark Regulation:

Article 29(2)
benchmarks:

statement

on

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If the
Notes may constitute “packaged” products and no key
information document will be prepared, “Applicable”
should be specified.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged” products
and a key information document will be prepared in the
UK, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If the Notes
may constitute “packaged” products and no key
information document will be prepared, “Applicable”
should be specified.)

[Applicable: Amounts payable under the Notes are
calculated by reference to [insert name[s] of
benchmark(s)], which [is/are] provided by [insert namels]
of the administrator[s] — if more than one specify in
relation to each relevant benchmark).

[As at the date of these Final Terms, [insert name[s] of the
administrator[s]] [is/are] [not] included in the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by the European Securities and Markets
Authority [(ESMA)] pursuant to article 36 of the
Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011)
[(the BMR)]. [As far as the Issuer is aware, [[insert name
of the benchmark] does not fall within the scope of the
BMR by virtue of Article 2 of the BMR.]/[the transitional
provisions in Article 51 of the BMR apply, such that the
administrator is not currently required to obtain
authorisation/registration]]. (repeat as necessary)]]

(if Not Applicable, delete this subparagraph)
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Applicable Pricing Supplement

APPLICABLE PRICING SUPPLEMENT
EXEMPT NOTES OF ANY DENOMINATIONS

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Exempt Notes,
whatever the denomination of those Notes, issued under the Programme.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more)
of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or
(i1) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the Insurance Distribution
Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1)
of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus
Regulation). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]*

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a
retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the
provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
as amended (the Insurance Distribution Directive) where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs
Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]*’

[MIFID II/UK MIFIR product governance / target market - [appropriate target market legend to be
included])

[Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or
amended from time to time (the SFA) - [To insert notice if classification of the Notes is not “prescribed capital
markets products”, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS
Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-NI16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products)]]*

[The following language applies if the Notes are intended to be Qualifying Debt Securities for the purposes of the
Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore.

Where interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost is derived from any of the
Notes by any person who (i) is not resident in Singapore and (ii) carries on any operations in Singapore through
a permanent establishment in Singapore, the tax exemption available for qualifying debt securities (subject to

3 Legend to be included on front of the Pricing Supplement if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information

document will be prepared in the EEA or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case
the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.

Legend to be included on the front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information
document will be prepared in the UK or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case
the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable”.

Relevant Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch
of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.

40
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certain conditions) under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore (the ITA), shall not apply if such person acquires
such Notes using the funds and profits of such person’s operations through a permanent establishment in
Singapore. Any person whose interest, discount income, prepayment fee, redemption premium or break cost
derived from the Notes is not exempt from tax (including for the reasons described above) shall include such
income in a return of income made under the ITA.]

[Date]

PRICING SUPPLEMENT
UniCredit S.p.A.
[Please include the place of incorporation, registered office, registration number and form of the Issuer)
Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
under the
€60,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Part A—- CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no
obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to either of Article 3 of the
Prospectus Regulation or section 85 of the FSMA or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to either of Article 23
of the Prospectus Regulation or Article 23 of the UK Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer.

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Notes described herein. This document must be read in
conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 7 June 2022 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] dated [date[s]]]
(the Base Prospectus). Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of
the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Base Prospectus. Copies of the Base Prospectus may be
obtained from [address]. Stamp duty is paid virtually, if due, to Auth. Agenzia delle Entrate, Ufficio di Roma 1,
No. 143106/07 of 21 December 2007.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes] [Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes] (the Conditions) set forth in the Base
Prospectus [dated [original date] [and the supplement dated [dafe]] which are incorporated by reference in the
Base Prospectus].*?

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable”. Note that the numbering should remain
as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote
directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination
[must/may need to] be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.]

1. Issuer: UniCredit S.p.A.
2. Series Number: []
(a) Tranche Number: [1]
(b) [Date on which the Notes will be  [The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series
consolidated and form a single with [Provide issue amount/ISIN/maturity date/issue
Series: date of earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the date that

is 40 days after the Issue Date/exchange of the
Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent
Global Note, as referred to in paragraph [ ] below, which
is expected to occur on or about [date]][Not Applicable]]

A Only include this language where it is a fungible issue and the original Tranche was issued under a Base Prospectus with a different

date.
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3. Specified Currency or Currencies: []
4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series: []
(b) Tranche: []
5. Issue Price: [ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus

accrued interest from [insert date] (if applicable)]

6. Specified Denominations*: [ ]
(a) Calculation Amount: []

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the
highest common factor. Note: There must be a common
factor in the case of two or more Specified

Denominations)
7. Issue Date: []
(a) Interest Commencement Date: [specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for
certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)

8. Maturity Date: []

[The Notes are perpetual securities and have no fixed
date for redemption. The Issuer may only redeem the
Notes at its discretion in the circumstances described in
the Conditions.] (N.B. only applicable to Additional Tier
1 Notes)

9. Interest Basis: [[ ]per cent. Fixed Rate]
[[specify Reference Rate] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating Rate]
[Zero Coupon]
[Index Linked Interest]
[Dual Currency Interest]
[Inflation Linked Interest]
[specify other]
(further particulars specified below)

10. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par]
[Index Linked Redemption]
[Dual Currency Redemption]
[Partly Paid]
[Instalment]
[specify other]

s The minimum denomination of the Non-Preferred Senior Notes will be Euro 250,000 and the minimum denomination of each

Additional Tier 1 Note will be Euro 100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in
such currency) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent
body).
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11. Change of Interest Basis: [Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs
of this paragraph)

(To be completed in addition to paragraphs 14 and 16
below (as appropriate) if any fixed to floating or fixed
reset rate change occurs)

(iv) Switch Option: [Applicable — [specify details of the change(s) in Interest
Basis and the relevant Interest Periods to which the
change(s) in Interest Basis applies]/[Not Applicable]

(The Issuer must give notice of the exercise of the Switch
Option to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 17
(Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes on or
prior to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date)

v) Switch Option Expiry Date: [ ]
(vi) Switch Option Effective Date: [ ]
12. Call Options: [Not Applicable]
[Issuer Call]

[Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC Disqualification
Event]

[(further particulars specified below)]

13. Status of the Notes: [Senior / Non-Preferred Senior / Subordinated /
Additional Tier 1]

(a) [Date of [Board] approval for []]
issuance of Notes:

(Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is
required for the particular tranche of Notes)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14. Fixed Rate Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

(a) Rate(s) of Interest: [ 1per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest
Payment Date

(b) Interest Payment Date(s): [[ ] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date
(Amend appropriately in the case of irregular coupons)

(c) Business Day Convention: [Modified Following Business Day Convention/Not
Applicable]
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15.

(d) Fixed Coupon Amount(s):

(e) Broken Amount(s):

€3} Day Count Fraction:

(2) Determination Date[s]:

Reset Note Provisions:

(a) Initial Rate of Interest:

(b) First Margin:

(c) Subsequent Margin:

(d) Interest Payment Date(s):

(e) Fixed Coupon Amount up to
(but excluding) the First Reset
Date:

44
45

Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Renminbi.

(For certain Renminbi denominated Fixed Rate Notes,
the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification,
insert Modified Following Business Day Convention)

[[ ] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount of
the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)]
[payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each Interest Payment
Date][, except for the amount of interest payable on the
first Interest Payment Date falling on [ ]].]
[[This]/[These] Fixed Coupon Amount[s] appl[ies]/[y] if
the Notes are represented by a global Note or are in
definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

[[ ]per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)][,
payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ].]
[This Broken Amount applies if the Notes are
represented by a global Note or are in definitive
form]/[Not Applicable]

[30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA)/specify other][Actual
365 (Fixed)]**[Actual/Actual Canadian Compound
Method]*

[ ] in each year][Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular
interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity
date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[®] per cent. per annum payable in arrear [on each
Interest Payment Date]

[+/-][®] per cent. per annum
[[+/-][®] per cent. per annum] [Not Applicable]

[e] [and [e]] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date [until and excluding [e]]

[[®] per Calculation Amount] (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)] [/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)]
[payable [[ ] in arrear] on [ ]/[each Interest Payment

Applicable for Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Canadian Dollars.
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) Broken Amount(s):

(2) First Reset Date:

(h) Second Reset Date:

(1) Subsequent Reset Date(s):

)] Mid-Swap Floating Leg
Benchmark Rate:

(k) Relevant Screen Page:

)] Mid-Swap Rate:

(m) Mid-Swap Maturity:

(n) Reset Reference Rate
Conversion:

(o) Original Reset Reference Rate
Payment Basis:

(p) Day Count Fraction:

) Determination Dates:

(r) Additional Business Centre(s):

(s) Calculation Agent:

(t) Reset Reference Rate
Replacement:

16. Floating Rate Note Provisions:

Date][, except for the amount of interest payable on the
first Interest Payment Date falling on [ ]].]
[[This]/[These] Fixed Coupon Amount[s] appl[ies]/[y] if
the Notes are represented by a global Note or are in
definitive form.]

(Specify different Fixed Coupon Amounts if different
Rates of Interest are specified as being applicable in
respect of different Interest Periods)

[[®] per Calculation Amount (applicable to the Notes in
definitive form)][/][[ ] per Aggregate Nominal Amount
of the Notes (applicable to the Notes in global form)][,
payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ].]
[This Broken Amount applies if the Notes are
represented by a global Note or are in definitive
form]/[Not Applicable]

[e]

[®]/[Not Applicable]

[¢] [and [e]]

[e]
[ISDAFIX1]/[ISDAFIX2]/[ISDAFIX3]/[ISDAFIX4]/
[ISDAFIXS5]/[ISDAFIX6]/[e]/[Not Applicable]
[Single Mid-Swap Rate/Mean Mid-Swap Rate]
[e]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Annual/Semi-annual/Quarterly/Monthly/Not
Applicable]

[Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360/360/360/Bond Basis]
[30E/360/Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Actual/Actual ICMA]

[®] in each year

[e]

[Principal Paying Agent] [e]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

€]
(2

(h)
(1)

Interest Period(s):

Interest Accrual Period:

Interest
Date(s):

Accrual Period End

Specified  Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):

Manner in which the Rate of

Interest and Interest Amount are
to be determined:

Calculation Agent:

Screen Rate Determination:

(1)

(i)

Reference Rate:

Interest Determination
Date(s)/SOFR Interest
Determination Date(s):

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[®] [each consisting of [e] Interest Accrual Periods each
of [®]][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention]

[®] [Define for Compounded SOFR only, otherwise
delete]

[[®]/Not Applicable]

[ 1 [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in subparagraph (e)
below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business
Day Convention in subparagraph (e) below is specified
to be Not Applicable] [ [ ] Business Days following each
Interest Accrual Period End Date/As per Condition

6.3(b)(iii)(c)]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified  Following  Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention][Not
Applicable]

[]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA
Determination/specify other]

[Principal Paying Agent] / [®]

Reference Rate: [ ] month [EURIBOR/CAD-BA-
CDOR/CMS Reference Rate/SOFR]. (Either EURIBOR
or other, although additional information is required if
other, including fallback provisions in the Agency
Agreement)

[ ]

(First day of each Interest Period if CAD-BA-CDOR and
the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open
prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR)

(In the case of Compounded SOFR with Lookback,
Compounded SOFR with Observation Period Shift and
Compounded SOFR Index with Observation Period Shif,
set out the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days prior to Interest Payment Date(s) in
respect of the relevant Interest Period(s))
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W)

(k)

M

(m)
(n)
(0)

(iif)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Relevant Screen Page:

Calculation Method:

Observation Period:

SOFR Indexswt and
SOFR Indexgng
Number of U.S.
Government Securities
Business Days:

Lookback Number of

U.S. Government
Securities Business
Days:

D:

ISDA Determination:

@)
(i)
(iif)

Floating Rate Option:
Designated Maturity:

Reset Date:

Linear Interpolation:

Margin(s):

Minimum Rate of Interest:

Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

[ISDAFIX2 or any successor screen page| [insert other
screen pagel

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO0I
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or
amend the fallback provisions appropriately)

[Compounded SOFR with Lookback/Compounded
SOFR with Observation Period Shift/Compounded
SOFR with Payment Delay/Compounded SOFR Index
with Observation Period Shift] (only relevant for SOFR)

[[®#]/Not Applicable] [As defined in Conditions] (only
relevant for SOFR)

[SOFR Indexswr: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]]/ Not Applicable] (only relevant for
SOFR)

[SOFR Indexgna: [2 U.S. Government Securities
Business Days /[ ]] / Not Applicable] (only relevant for
SOFR)

[[®]/Not Applicable] (only relevant for SOFR)

(Not less than Five U.S. Government Securities Business
Days without consent of Calculation Agent)

[365/360/[ 1] (only relevant for SOFR)

[]
[]
[ ]

(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first day of
the Interest Period)

[Not Applicable/Applicable - the Rate of interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long
interest period)]

[+/-] [ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum

[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]
[30E/360][Eurobond Basis]
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17.

18.

(p)

(@

Fallback provisions, rounding
provisions and any other terms
relating to the method of
calculating interest on Floating
Rate Notes which are Exempt
Notes, if different from those set
out in the Conditions:

Reference Rate Replacement:

Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

(a)
(b)
(©)

(d)

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Any other formula/basis of
determining amount payable for
Zero Coupon Notes which are

Exempt Notes:

Day Count Fraction in relation
to Early Redemption Amounts:

Index Linked Interest Note:

(a)

(b)
(©)

(d)

Index/Formula:

Calculation Agent:

Provisions for  determining
Coupon where calculation by
reference to Index and/or
Formula is impossible or

impracticable:

Specified  Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

46

30E/360 (ISDA)
Other]*

[ ]

[Applicable][Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ]

[30/360]
[Actual/360]
[Actual/365]

[specify other codes]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[give or annex details)

[If physical settlement of Index Linked Notes is
contemplated, details to be set out in an annex)

[Principal Paying Agent] / [@®]

[need to include a description of market disruption or
settlement disruption events and adjustment provisions|

[ 11, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in [(b) below/, not
subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day
Convention in (f) below] is specified to be Not
Applicable]

Actual 365 (Fixed) is applicable to Renminbi and Canadian Dollars denominated Notes.
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19.

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

20.

21.

(e)

®
(2
(h)
(i)

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):
Minimum Rate of Interest:
Maximum Rate of Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Dual Currency Interest Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Rate of Exchange/method of
[give  or details]
calculating Rate of Exchange:

annex

Party, if any, responsible for
calculating the principal and/or
interest due (if not the Principal
Paying Agent):

Provisions applicable where
calculation by reference to Rate
of Exchange impossible or
impracticable:

Person at whose option
Specified Currency(ies) is/are
payable:

Notice periods for Condition 10.3 of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes and

Condition

10.6 of the Terms and

Conditions of the Notes:

Issuer Call:

(a)

(b)

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption Amount
(in the case of Subordinated
Notes and Additional Tier 1

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified  Following  Business Day
Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/specify
other] [Not Applicable]

[ ]

[ ]per cent. per annum

[ ]per cent. per annum

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ]

[need to include a description of market disruption or
settlement disruption events and adjustment provisions]

[]

Minimum period: [ ] days

Maximum period: [ ] days

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[ ] [each Business Day during the period from (and
including) [date] to (but excluding) [date] [and each
Interest Payment Date following [date]].]

[ ] per Calculation Amount
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22.

23.

24.

25.

Notes only, subject to the prior
approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the

then applicable Relevant
Regulations):

(©) Notice periods:

Regulatory Call:

Issuer Call due to MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event:

Final Redemption Amount:

Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption:

(1)

for taxation reasons (subject to
[insert in the case of Senior
Notes and Non-Preferred Senior
Notes] [Condition 10.16 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes] [insert in the case of
Subordinated Notes] [Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] [insert
in the case of Additional Tier 1
Notes] [Condition 10.15 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes (including the prior

Minimum period: [ ] days

Maximum period: [ ] days

(When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business
days' notice for a call) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
as between the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent).

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(Only relevant in the case of Subordinated Note and
Additional Tier 1 Notes)

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(Please consider that not less than the minimum period
nor more than maximum period (each as specified in
paragraph 19 above) of notice has to be sent to the
Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with
Condition 17 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes, the Noteholders)

(Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes)

[ J/[[100 per cent.] per Calculation Amount]

[ ] [per Calculation Amount/As per Condition] [10.7]
(Early Redemption Amounts) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes]

[See also paragraph 22 (Regulatory Call) above] (Delete
this cross-reference unless the Notes are Subordinated
Notes or Additional Tier 1 Notes and the Regulatory Call
is applicable)

[See also paragraph 23 above] (Delete this cross-
reference unless the Notes are Senior Notes or Non-
Preferred Senior Notes and the Issuer Call due to MREL
or TLAC Disqualification Event is applicable)

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is 100 per cent. of
the nominal value (i.e. par), the Early Redemption
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(i)

(iif)

(iv)

approval of the relevant
Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations)]) as contemplated
by Condition 10.3 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes;

[insert in case of Subordinated
Notes or Additional Tier 1
Notes] [for regulatory reasons
([insert in the case of
Subordinated Notes] [subject to
Condition 10.15 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes]
[insert in case of Additional Tier
1 Notes] [subject to Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes
(including the prior approval of
the relevant Competent
Authority, as applicable, and in
accordance with applicable laws
and regulations, including
Articles 77(b) and 78 of the
CRD IV Regulation or, if
different, the then applicable
Relevant  Regulations)]) as
contemplated by Condition 10.4
of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes;]

[insert in case of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes]
[for ~ MREL or TLAC
Disqualification Event (subject
to Condition 10.16 of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes) as
contemplated by Condition 10.6
of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes; or]

on event of default (subject
to[insert in the case of Senior
Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes] [Condition 10.16 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes] [insert in the case of
Subordinated Notes] [Condition
10.15 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes] [insert
in the case of Additional Tier 1
Notes] [Condition 10.15 of the
Terms and Conditions of the
Notes (including the prior
approval of the relevant

Amount is likely to be par (but consider). If, however, the
Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of
the nominal value, consideration should be given as to

what the Early Redemption Amount should be.)
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26.

27.

28.

Competent Authority, as
applicable, and in accordance
with  applicable laws and
regulations, including Articles
77(b) and 78 of the CRD IV
Regulation or, if different, the
then applicable Relevant
Regulations)]),

and/or the 